
Consolidated Overview

Terrorist attack, reserve charges lead to
record loss in 2001; insurance operations
restructured to focus on core strengths

The St. Paul suffered the largest loss in its 149-year 

history in 2001, driven by unprecedented losses from

one event—the Sept. 11 terrorist attack—and provisions

to strengthen loss reserves in certain segments of its

business. At the end of the year, senior management

announced sweeping initiatives aimed at positioning the

company for 2002 and beyond.

The following table summarizes our results for each of the last 
three years.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions, except per share data)

Pretax income (loss):

Property-liability insurance $ (1,400) $ 1,467 $ 971

Asset management 142 135 123

Parent company and other operations (173) (201) (143)

Pretax income (loss) from 

continuing operations (1,431) 1,401 951

Income tax expense (benefit) (422) 431 219

Income (loss) from continuing 

operations before cumulative 

effect of accounting change (1,009) 970 732

Cumulative effect of accounting 

change, net of taxes — — (27)

Income (loss) from continuing operations (1,009) 970 705

Discontinued operations, net of taxes (79) 23 129

Net income (loss) $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834

Per share (diluted) $ (5.22) $ 4.24 $ 3.41

Our consolidated $1.4 billion pretax loss from continuing operations
in 2001 was driven by $941 million of losses resulting from the ter-
rorist attack, provisions to strengthen prior-year loss reserves in our
Health Care segment totaling $735 million, realized investment
losses of $94 million, goodwill write-downs totaling $73 million and
restructuring charges of $62 million. All of these factors are dis-
cussed in detail in the following pages. On the strength of record-high
product sales and a strategic acquisition, The John Nuveen Company,
our majority-owned asset management subsidiary, posted its

seventh consecutive year of record earnings in 2001. The decline in
the “parent company and other operations” pretax loss in 2001
resulted from a reduction in executive management stock compen-
sation expense related to our variable stock option grants.

In 2000, the $450 million growth in pretax income from continuing
operations was driven by a significant increase in realized invest-
ment gains and an improvement in property-liability underwriting
results. Our property-liability results in 2000 and 1999, and, to a
lesser extent 2001, included benefits from aggregate excess-of-loss
reinsurance treaties, as described on pages 18 and 19 of this report.
The increase in the “parent company and other operations” pretax
loss in 2000 was largely due to an increase in advertising and
interest expenses and expenses associated with our variable stock
option grants. 

consolidated revenues

The following table summarizes the sources of our consolidated
revenues from continuing operations for the last three years.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Revenues:

Insurance premiums earned $ 7,296 $ 5,592 $ 5,103

Net investment income 1,217 1,262 1,259

Realized investment gains (losses) (94) 632 286

Asset management 359 356 340

Other 165 130 161

Total revenues $ 8,943 $ 7,972 $ 7,149

Change from prior year 12% 12%

The 12% growth in revenues in both 2001 and 2000 was centered
in our property-liability operations, where price increases, strong
business retention rates and new business in several segments
were the primary factors driving the increase in insurance premiums
earned. Net investment income in 2001 declined from prior-year
levels due to a decline in assets invested and reduced yields on new
investments in recent years. Our fixed maturities and venture cap-
ital portfolios accounted for the majority of realized investment
losses in 2001. In 2000, realized gains were unusually high due to
strong returns generated by our venture capital holdings. 

forward-looking statement disclosure

This discussion contains certain forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements are statements other than historical
information or statements of current condition. Words such as
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“expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks” or
“estimates,” or variations of such words, and similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Examples of
these forward-looking statements include statements concerning:
market and other conditions and their effect on future premiums,
revenues, earnings, cash flow and investment income; price
increases, improved loss experience, and expense savings result-
ing from the restructuring and other actions and initiatives
announced in recent years. 

In light of the risks and uncertainties inherent in future projections,
many of which are beyond our control, actual results could differ
materially from those in forward-looking statements. These state-
ments should not be regarded as a representation that anticipated
events will occur or that expected objectives will be achieved. Risks
and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following: com-
petitive considerations, including the ability to implement price
increases and possible actions by competitors; general economic
conditions, including changes in interest rates and the performance
of financial markets; changes in domestic and foreign laws, regu-
lations and taxes; changes in the demand for, pricing of, or supply
of insurance or reinsurance; catastrophic events of unanticipated
frequency or severity; loss of significant customers; the possibility
of worse-than-anticipated loss development from business written
in prior years; changes in our estimate of insurance industry losses
resulting from the Sept. 11, 2001 terrorist attack; the potential
impact of the global war on terrorism and Federal solutions to make
available insurance coverage for acts of terrorism; judicial decisions
and rulings; anticipated increases in premiums; and various other
matters. We undertake no obligation to release publicly the results
of any future revisions we may make to forward-looking statements
to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect
the occurrence of unanticipated events. 

september 11, 2001 terrorist attack

On Sept. 11, 2001, terrorists hijacked four commercial passenger
jets in the United States. Two of the jets were flown into the World
Trade Center towers in New York, N.Y., causing their collapse. 
The third jet was flown into the Pentagon building in Washington,
D.C., causing severe damage, and the fourth jet crashed in rural
Pennsylvania. This terrorist attack caused significant loss of life and
resulted in unprecedented losses for the property-liability insur-
ance industry. Our estimated net pretax loss incurred as a result 
of the terrorist attack totaled $941 million, consisting of the
following components.

Year ended December 31 2001

(In millions)

Gross loss and loss adjustment expenses $ 2,299

Provision for uncollectible reinsurance 47

Reinsurance recoverables (1,231)

Additional and reinstatement premiums (83)

Reduction in reinsurance contingent commission expense (91)

Total estimated pretax operating loss $ 941

Our estimated losses were based on a variety of actuarial tech-
niques, coverage interpretations and claims estimation methods.
They included an estimate of losses incurred but not reported to
us, and an estimate of costs related to the settlement of claims. 

Our estimate of losses is also based on our belief that property-lia-
bility insurance losses from the terrorist attack will total between
$30 billion and $35 billion for the insurance industry. Our estimate
of industry losses is subject to significant uncertainties and may
change over time as additional information becomes available. 
A material increase in our estimate of industry losses would likely
cause us to make a corresponding material increase to our provi-
sion for losses related to the attack. 

As of Dec. 31, 2001, the majority of our total reinsurance recover-
ables are from companies with ratings of A- or better, or from
state-sponsored reinsurance programs or collateralized reinsur-
ance programs. 

The estimated net pretax loss of $941 million related to the terrorist
attack was distributed among our property-liability business
segments as follows.

Year ended December 31 2001

(In millions)

Specialty Commercial $ 89

Commercial Lines Group 108

Surety and Construction 2

Health Care 5

Lloyd’s and Other 181

Total Primary Insurance 385

Reinsurance 556

Total $ 941

In the Specialty Commercial and Commercial Lines Group segments,
property damage and business interruption coverages were the pri-
mary sources for losses incurred. Estimated losses in our Lloyd’s
and Other segment were centered in our operations at Lloyd’s,
where we were a participant in an aviation syndicate that provided
property coverage on the four planes involved in the terrorist attack.
This segment also included $50 million of estimated losses result-
ing from our participation in the insuring of the Lloyd’s Central Fund,
which is utilized if an individual member of Lloyd’s is unable to pay
its share of a syndicate’s losses. At Dec. 31, 2001, we had not
received notice of claims against the Central Fund. 

withdrawal from certain lines of business and

related goodwill write-down 

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we announced our intention to with-
draw from several businesses in our property-liability operations in
a strategic effort to focus on those lines of business and market sec-
tors that we believe offer the greatest potential for 2002 and
thereafter. Beginning in January 2002, the operations listed below
were placed in “runoff,” which means that we have ceased or plan to
cease underwriting new business in these operations as soon as pos-
sible. We are pursuing the sale of certain operations placed in runoff.
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We will continue to maintain appropriate levels of staff to adminis-
ter the settlement of claims incurred in these runoff operations.

• All coverages in our Health Care segment. 

• All underwriting operations in Germany, France, the Netherlands,
Argentina, Mexico (excluding surety business, which will con-
tinue), Spain, Australia, New Zealand, Botswana and South Africa.

• In the United Kingdom, all coverages offered to the construction
industry. (Unionamerica, a United Kingdom medical liability
underwriting entity that we acquired in 2000, was placed in
runoff in late 2000, except for business we are contractually
committed to underwrite through Lloyd’s through 2004.) 

• At Lloyd’s, casualty insurance and reinsurance, U.S. surplus lines
business, non-marine reinsurance and, when our contractual
commitment expires at the end of 2003, our participation in the
insuring of the Lloyd’s Central Fund. 

• In our reinsurance operations, most North American reinsurance
business underwritten in the United Kingdom, all but traditional
finite reinsurance business underwritten by St. Paul Re’s
Financial Solutions business center, bond and credit reinsur-
ance, and aviation reinsurance. 

These operations collectively accounted for $1.61 billion, or 22%,
of our net earned premiums, and generated negative underwriting
results totaling $1.5 billion, in 2001 (an amount that does not
include investment income from the assets maintained to support
these operations). They do not qualify as “discontinued operations”
for accounting purposes; therefore, results from these operations
are included in their respective property-liability segment results
discussed on pages 21 to 28 of this report, and will continue to be
reported in those segments during the runoff periods. 

In connection with these strategic actions, we wrote off $73 million
of goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2001 related to businesses to be
exited. Approximately $56 million of the write-off related to MMI
Companies, Inc. (“MMI”), $10 million related to operations at Lloyd’s
and the remainder related to our operations in Spain and Australia. 

2001 restructuring charge

In December 2001, in connection with our withdrawal from the fore-
going businesses and as part of our overall plan to reduce
company-wide expenses, we announced plans to terminate approx-
imately 1,200 employee positions and reduce the amount of office
space we lease. Of the total positions to be eliminated, approxi-
mately 650 are located in offices outside of the U.S. (most of which
will be closed), approximately 300 are in our Health Care segment
(which has been placed in runoff ), and the remaining 250 positions
are spread throughout our domestic operations. In connection with
these actions, we recorded a pretax restructuring charge of 
$62 million in the fourth quarter of 2001. The charge included the
following components. 

• $46 million of employee-related costs, representing severance
and related benefits to be paid to, or incurred on behalf of, the
estimated total of 800 employees expected to be terminated by
the end of 2002. (Costs associated with the remaining 400
employees were not included in the restructuring charge
because those employees will either be terminated after 2002,
or are employed by one of the operations that may be sold.) 

• $9 million of occupancy-related costs, representing excess office
space estimated to be created by the employee terminations. 

• $4 million of equipment costs, representing the net carrying
value of computer and other equipment no longer necessary
after terminating employees and vacating office space. 

• $3 million of legal costs, representing our estimated fees
payable to outside counsel to obtain regulatory approval to exit
certain states and countries. 

No payments were made related to these restructuring actions in
2001. These charges were recorded in our 2001 results as follows:
$42 million in property-liability insurance operations and $20 mil-
lion in “parent company and other operations.” 

During 2002, we expect to incur additional employee-related
expenses of approximately $9 million related to the 800 employee
positions to be terminated in 2002 when we meet the requirements
to accrue these expenses. 

discontinued operations

In September 2001, we completed the sale of Fidelity and Guaranty
Life Insurance Company (“F&G Life”) to Old Mutual plc (“Old
Mutual”), a London-based international financial services company.
Also in September, we sold American Continental Life Insurance
Company (“ACLIC”), a small life insurance company we had
acquired in 2000 as part of our purchase of MMI, to CNA Financial
Corporation (“CNA”). In May 2000, we completed the sale of our
nonstandard auto insurance operations to Prudential Insurance
Company of America (“Prudential”). In 1999, we sold our standard
personal insurance operations to Metropolitan Property and
Casualty Insurance Company (“Metropolitan”). Prior to 1999, we
sold our insurance brokerage operation, Minet Holdings plc
(“Minet”). The results of the operations sold are reflected as dis-
continued operations for all periods presented in this report. 

The following table presents the components of discontinued oper-
ations reported in our consolidated statement of operations for
each of the last three years. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

life insurance:

Operating income, net of taxes $ 19 $ 43 $ 44

Loss on disposal, net of taxes (74) – –

Total life insurance (55) 43 44

nonstandard auto insurance:

Operating income, net of taxes – – 13

Loss on disposal, net of taxes (5) (9) (83)

Total nonstandard auto insurance (5) (9) (70)

standard personal insurance:

Operating loss, net of taxes – – (22)

Gain (loss) on disposal, net of taxes (13) (11) 177

Total standard personal insurance (13) (11) 155

minet:

Loss on disposal, net of taxes (6) – –

Total Minet (6) – –

Total Discontinued Operations $ (79) $ 23 $ 129



Life Insurance – Under terms of the F&G Life sale agreement, we
received $335 million in cash and 190,356,631 ordinary shares of
Old Mutual valued at $300 million based on the average closing
price of Old Mutual shares on the London Stock Exchange for the
ten consecutive trading days prior to Sept. 27, 2001. In accordance
with the sale agreement, pretax sales proceeds were reduced by
approximately $12 million, due to a decrease in the market value of
certain securities in F&G Life’s investment portfolio between March
31, 2001 and the closing date of Sept. 28, 2001. 

Pursuant to the sale agreement, we must hold the Old Mutual
shares for one year from the closing date. The consideration is sub-
ject to possible adjustment, by means of a collar embedded in the
sale agreement, based on the market value of our Old Mutual
shares at the end of that one-year period. If the market value
exceeds $330 million at that time, we will be required to remit to
Old Mutual either cash or Old Mutual shares in the amount repre-
senting the excess over $330 million. If the market value is less than
$300 million, we will receive cash or Old Mutual shares in the
amount representing the deficit below $300 million, up to a maxi-
mum of $40 million. At Dec. 31, 2001, the market value of the Old
Mutual shares was $242 million. The $58 million decline in market
value was recorded as a component of unrealized appreciation of
investments, net of tax, in shareholders’ equity. The impact of this
unrealized loss was mitigated by the collar, which was estimated to
have a fair value of $17 million at Dec. 31, 2001. That amount was
recorded in our statement of operations in discontinued operations.

We realized a net after-tax loss of $73 million on the sale proceeds.
When the sale agreement with Old Mutual was announced in April
2001, we expected to realize a modest pretax gain on the sale when
proceeds were combined with F&G Life’s operating results through
the disposal date. However, a decline in the market value of certain
F&G Life investments between the April announcement date and
the September closing date, coupled with a change in the antici-
pated tax treatment of the sale, resulted in the net after-tax loss on
the sale proceeds. That loss is combined with F&G Life’s results of
operations prior to sale for an after-tax loss of $54 million and is
included in the reported loss from discontinued operations for the
year ended Dec. 31, 2001.

For the sale of ACLIC, we received cash proceeds of $21 million from
CNA, and we recorded a net after-tax loss on the sale of $1 million.

Nonstandard Auto Insurance – Prudential purchased our nonstan-
dard auto insurance business marketed under the Victoria Financial
and Titan Auto brands for $175 million in cash (net of a $25 million
dividend paid by these operations to our property-liability insur-
ance operations prior to closing). We recorded an estimated
after-tax loss of $83 million on the sale in 1999, representing the
estimated excess of carrying value of these entities at closing date
over proceeds to be received from the sale, plus estimated income
through the disposal date. This excess primarily consisted of good-
will. We recorded an after-tax loss on disposal of $9 million in 2000,
primarily representing additional losses incurred through the dis-
posal date in May, and an additional after-tax loss on disposal of
$5 million in 2001, primarily representing tax adjustments made to
the sale transaction. 

Standard Personal Insurance – Metropolitan purchased our stan-
dard personal insurance business operated out of Economy Fire &
Casualty Company and subsidiaries (“Economy”), and the rights
and interests in those non-Economy policies constituting the
remainder of our standard personal insurance operations. Those
rights and interests were transferred to Metropolitan by way of a
reinsurance and facility agreement. We guaranteed the adequacy
of Economy’s loss and loss expense reserves, and we remain liable
for claims on non-Economy policies that result from losses occur-
ring prior to the Sept. 30, 1999 closing date. Under the reserve
guarantee, we will pay for any deficiencies in those reserves and
will share in any redundancies that develop by Sept. 30, 2002. Any
losses incurred by us under these agreements are reflected in dis-
continued operations in the period during which they are incurred.
As of Dec. 31, 2001, our analysis indicated that we will owe
Metropolitan approximately $7 million on these guarantees, and
we recorded a pretax expense equal to that amount in 2001 dis-
continued operations. We also recorded a pretax loss of $14 million
in 2001 related to pre-sale claims. We have no other contingent
liabilities related to this sale. 

Minet – In 1997, we sold Minet to Aon Corporation. We recorded a
$9 million pretax expense in discontinued operations in 2001
related to the Minet sale, representing additional funds due Aon
pursuant to provisions of the 1997 sale agreement. 

elimination of one-quarter reporting lags 

In 2001, we eliminated the one-quarter reporting lag for our primary
underwriting operations in foreign countries (not including our
operations at Lloyd’s), and now report the results of those opera-
tions on a current basis. As a result, our consolidated results for
2001 include their results for the fourth quarter of 2000 and all
quarters of 2001. The incremental impact on our property-liability
operations of eliminating the reporting lag, which consists of the
results of these operations for the three months ended Dec. 31,
2001, was as follows.

Year ended December 31 2001

(In millions)

Net written premiums $ 71

Net earned premiums 86

GAAP underwriting loss (45)

Net investment income 14

Total pretax loss (31)

The St. Paul Companies 2001 Annual Report 15



In 2000, we eliminated the one-quarter reporting lag for our rein-
surance operations based in the United Kingdom (“St. Paul Re –
UK”). As a result, our consolidated results for 2000 include St. Paul
Re – UK’s results for the fourth quarter of 1999 and all of 2000. The
incremental impact on our operations of eliminating the reporting
lag, which consists of St. Paul Re – UK’s results for the three months
ended Dec. 31, 2000, was as follows. 

Year ended December 31 2000

(In millions)

Net written premiums $ 7

Net earned premiums 51

GAAP underwriting loss (10)

Net investment income 11

Total pretax income 1

acquisitions 

In December 2001, we purchased the right to seek to renew surety
bond business previously underwritten by Fireman’s Fund Insurance
Company (“Fireman’s Fund”), without assuming past liabilities. We
paid Fireman’s Fund $10 million in consideration, which we recorded
as an intangible asset and which we expect to amortize over ten
years. We may be obligated to make additional payments to
Fireman’s Fund in early 2003 based on the volume of business 
we ultimately renew in 2002, which would increase the intangible
asset recorded. 

In January 2001, we acquired the right to seek to renew a book of
municipality insurance business from Willis North America Inc. for
a total consideration of $3.5 million. The cost was recorded as an
intangible asset and is expected to be amortized over five years. 

In April 2000, we acquired MMI, an international health care risk
services company that provides integrated products and services
in operational consulting, clinical risk management, and insurance
in the U.S. and London markets. The acquisition was accounted for
as a purchase for a total cost of approximately $206 million in cash
and the assumption of $165 million of MMI debt and preferred
securities. Final purchase price adjustments resulted in an excess
of purchase price over net tangible assets acquired of approxi-
mately $85 million. (Approximately $56 million of the $64 million
remaining unamortized balance of that asset was written off in the
fourth quarter of 2001 after our decision to exit the medical liabil-
ity insurance market.) We recorded a pretax charge of $28 million
related to the purchase, consisting of $24 million of occupancy-
related costs for leased space to be vacated and $4 million of
employee-related costs for the anticipated elimination of approxi-
mately 130 positions. 

The results of MMI’s domestic U.S. operations are reported in our
Health Care segment and the results of MMI’s U.K.-based operation,
Unionamerica Acquisition Company Limited (“Unionamerica”), are
included in our Lloyd’s and Other segment. 

In February 2000, we acquired Pacific Select Insurance Holdings,
Inc. (“Pacific Select”), a California company that sells earthquake
insurance coverages to homeowners in that state. We accounted
for the acquisition as a purchase at a cost of approximately $37 mil-
lion, of which approximately $11 million represented the excess of
purchase price over net tangible assets acquired that we are amor-
tizing over ten years. Pacific Select’s results of operations from the
date of acquisition are included in the Catastrophe Risk business
center of our Specialty Commercial segment. 

revisions to business segment structure

In December 2001, following a strategic review of our businesses,
we implemented a new segment reporting structure for our prop-
erty-liability insurance business. 

The new structure is more closely aligned with the internal manage-
ment of these businesses and is based on our definition of
a “specialty commercial” business center as one that possesses ded-
icated underwriting, claims and risk control services requiring
specialized expertise and focusing exclusively on the customers it
serves. As a result, we have combined 11 business centers sharing
those characteristics to form our Specialty Commercial reportable
segment. None of these business centers alone meets the quantita-
tive threshold to qualify as a separate reportable segment; therefore
they are combined based on the applicable aggregation criteria. The
following summarizes the changes made to our reporting structure.

• The Catastrophe Risk, Transportation and National Programs
business centers, formerly components of our Commercial Lines
Group segment, were designated specialty operations and are
reported as components of the Specialty Commercial segment. 

• The Construction business center, formerly a component of the
prior Other Specialty segment, was combined with our existing
Surety segment to form a new Surety and Construction segment.
The shared customer base and executive management of these
operations, along with the similarity in expertise required, pro-
vided the basis for this combination. 

• The International Specialty business center, previously reported
in our International segment, is now reported in our Specialty
Commercial segment. The majority of these operations were
placed in runoff at the end of 2001. 

• We no longer report a separate International segment, but
rather report a Lloyd’s and Other segment, which is comprised
of our operations at Lloyd’s, MMI’s U.K.-based subsidiary,
Unionamerica (placed in runoff in 2000 except for certain Lloyd’s
business that Unionamerica is contractually obligated to con-
tinue writing through 2004), and our involvement in the insuring
of the Lloyd’s Central Fund (to cease at the end of 2003 upon the
expiration of current contractual commitments). 

• Discover Re, previously reported in our Reinsurance segment,
is included in the Specialty Commercial segment. This business
center serves the alternative risk transfer market, which consists
primarily of sophisticated insureds who are financially able to
assume a substantial portion of their own losses. 
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The Health Care segment, placed in runoff at the end of 2001,
remains a separate reportable segment. All data for 2000 and 1999
included in this report was restated to be consistent with the new
reporting structure in 2001. 

enron corporation bankruptcy

In December 2001, we announced that our aggregate limits of net
insurance exposure related to Enron Corporation’s bankruptcy was
approximately $83 million on an after-tax basis ($128 million on a
pretax basis). Our net exposure is spread throughout our property-
liability underwriting segments, but is concentrated in coverages
for gas supply bonds in our Surety and Construction segment. We
believe that our actual losses will be substantially less than our
total exposure. Our underwriting results in 2001 included pretax
incurred losses of $22 million related to the Enron bankruptcy. That
amount included no provision for losses on the gas supply bonds. 

In addition, we hold in our investment portfolio Enron Corporate
Senior Unsecured Debt with a par value of $23 million. Subsequent
to Enron’s declaration of bankruptcy, we recorded a $19 million
write-down in the carrying value of these investments, which was
recorded as a realized investment loss.

adoption of sfas no. 133

On Jan. 1, 2001, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS Nos. 137
and 138. Provisions of SFAS No. 133 require the recognition of
derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and
the measurement of those instruments at fair value. We have
limited involvement with derivative instruments, primarily for pur-
poses of hedging against fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates. We also have entered into a variety of other
financial instruments considered to be derivatives, but which are
not designated as hedges, that we utilize to minimize the potential
impact of market movements in certain investment portfolios. Our
adoption of SFAS No. 133, as amended, did not have a material
impact on our financial position or results of continuing operations.

cumulative effect of accounting change 

Our net income in 1999 included a pretax expense in continuing
operations of $41 million ($27 million after-tax), representing the
cumulative effect of adopting the AICPA’s Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 97-3, “Accounting by Insurance and Other Enterprises for
Insurance-Related Assessments.” The SOP provides guidance for
recognizing and measuring liabilities for guaranty and other insur-
ance-related assessments. In the third quarter of 1999, the State of
New York enacted a law that changed its assessment method from
a loss-based method to a written premium-based method. As a
result, we reduced our previously recorded pretax accrual by
$12 million, which was recorded in income from continuing opera-
tions in 1999. The accrual is expected to be disbursed as assessed
during a period of up to 30 years. 

critical accounting policies

Overview – The St. Paul Companies, Inc. is a holding company with
subsidiaries operating in the property-liability insurance industry
and the asset management industry. We combine our financial
statements with those of our subsidiaries and present them on a
consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant
effect on the amounts that we report in our financial statements.
The most significant estimates relate to our reserves for property-
liability insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses. We
continually review and analyze our estimates, but actual results
may turn out to be significantly different than we expected when
the estimates were made. 

In our investment portfolio, we monitor the difference between our
cost and the estimated fair value of investments. If any of these
investments experience a decline in value that we believe is other
than temporary, we write down the investment for the decline and
record a realized loss on our statement of operations. 

Property-Liability Operations – Premiums on insurance policies we
sell are our largest source of revenue, and we recognize the premi-
ums as revenue evenly over the term of the policy. Our insurance
reserves are our largest liability, and reflect our estimate of claims
reported but not yet paid, and claims incurred but not yet reported
to us. The costs related to writing a policy are amortized over the
same period the related premiums are recognized as revenue. 

Reinsurance accounting is followed when risk transfer requirements
have been met. These requirements involve significant assumptions
being made related to the amount and timing of expected cash
flows, as well as the interpretation of the underlying contract terms.

Asset Management Operations – We are the 77% owner of The John
Nuveen Company, which comprises our asset management seg-
ment. We consolidate 100% of Nuveen’s revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, with reductions on the statement of operations and
balance sheet for minority shareholders’ proportionate interest in
Nuveen’s earnings and equity.

In the following pages we provide a detailed discussion of 2001
results produced by our six business segments that underwrite
property-liability insurance and provide related services for partic-
ular market sectors. We also review the performance of our
property-liability underwriting operations’ investment segment.
After the property-liability discussion, we discuss the results of our
asset management segment. 

In the property-liability underwriting discussions, we sometimes
use the term “prior-year loss development,” (or similar terms) which
refers to an increase or decrease in losses recorded in the current
calendar year which relate to business underwritten in prior years.
Similarly, we sometimes refer to “current-year loss development”
or “current accident year loss activity,” which refer to losses
recorded on business written in the current year.
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Property-liability Insurance Overview

Terrorist attack and reserve provisions
lead to underwriting losses in excess 
of $2 billion; decision made to exit
several businesses 

Losses incurred from the terrorist attack on Sept. 11 

and provisions to strengthen prior-year loss reserves,

particularly in our Health Care segment, dominated 

our underwriting results in 2001. In addition, several 

businesses throughout our primary and reinsurance

underwriting operations continued to underperform in

2001, prompting our decision to exit those businesses.

Price increases in our U.S. underwriting operations

averaged over 16% in 2001, and those increases accel-

erated in the fourth quarter in the aftermath of the

terrorist attack.

written premiums

The following table summarizes our reported written premiums for
the last three years.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

Net written premiums $ 7,763 $ 5,884 $ 5,112

Percentage increase over prior year 32% 15%

Our reported totals for these years included reductions of $128 mil-
lion, $474 million and $273 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, for premiums ceded under specific reinsurance treaties
described in more detail below. In addition, the 2001 and 2000
totals included $71 million and $7 million, respectively, of incre-
mental premiums from the elimination of the one-quarter lag in
reporting certain international business discussed on pages 15 and
16 of this report. Excluding these factors, our adjusted premium
total of $7.82 billion in 2001 was 23% higher than the 2000
adjusted total of $6.35 billion, and the adjusted 2000 total was 18%
higher than the adjusted 1999 total of $5.38 billion. The increases in
both 2001 and 2000 were driven by price increases and new busi-
ness opportunities throughout most of our business segments. In
addition, our acquisition of MMI in 2000 accounted for $197 million
of the premium growth over 1999. 

gaap underwriting result

The GAAP underwriting result is a common measurement of a prop-
erty-liability insurer’s performance, representing premiums earned
less losses incurred and underwriting expenses. The statutory com-
bined ratio, representing the sum of the loss ratio and expense
ratio, is also a common measure of underwriting performance. The
lower the ratio, the better the result. The following table summa-
rizes our reported underwriting results and combined ratios for the
last three years. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

GAAP underwriting result $(2,294) $ (309) $ (425)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 102.5 70.0 72.9

Underwriting expense ratio 28.1 34.8 35.0

Statutory combined ratio 130.6 104.8 107.9

Our reported underwriting result in 2001 was dominated by the
$941 million in net pretax losses from the terrorist attack and a
cumulative provision of $735 million to strengthen prior-year loss
reserves in our Health Care segment. Underwriting results in all
three years were affected by our participation in separate aggre-
gate excess-of-loss reinsurance treaties that we entered into
effective on Jan. 1 of each year (hereinafter referred to as the “cor-
porate program”). Coverage under the corporate program treaties
is triggered when our incurred insurance losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses spanning all segments of our business exceed
accident year attachment loss ratios specified in the treaty. In addi-
tion, our Reinsurance segment results benefited from a separate
aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance treaty in each year, unrelated
to the corporate program. All of these treaties are collectively
referred to hereafter as the “reinsurance treaties.” 

Under the terms of the reinsurance treaties, we transfer, or “cede,”
insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses to our reinsurers,
along with the related written and earned premiums. For the cor-
porate program, we paid the ceded earned premiums shortly after
coverage under the treaties was invoked, which negatively impacts
our investment income in future periods because we will not recover
the ceded losses and loss adjustment expenses from our reinsurer
until we settle the related claims, a process that may occur over sev-
eral years. For the separate Reinsurance segment treaties, we remit
the premiums ceded (plus accrued interest) to our counterparty
when the related losses and loss adjustment expenses are settled. 

The following table describes the combined impact of these
cessions under the reinsurance treaties on our property-liability
underwriting operations in each of the last three years. 
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Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

corporate program:

Ceded written premiums $ 9 $ 419 $ 211

Ceded losses and loss 
adjustment expenses (25) 709 384

Ceded earned premiums 9 419 211

Net pretax benefit (detriment) (34) 290 173

reinsurance segment treaty:

Ceded written premiums 119 55 62

Ceded losses and loss 
adjustment expenses 278 122 150

Ceded earned premiums 119 55 62

Net pretax benefit 159 67 88

combined total:

Ceded written premiums 128 474 273

Ceded losses and loss 
adjustment expenses 253 831 534

Ceded earned premiums 128 474 273

Net pretax benefit $ 125 $ 357 $ 261

We did not cede any losses to the corporate program in 2001. The
$9 million written and earned premiums ceded in 2001 represent
the initial premium paid to our reinsurer. Our primary purpose in
entering into the corporate reinsurance treaty was to reduce the
volatility in our reported earnings over time. Because of the mag-
nitude of losses associated with the Sept. 11 terrorist attack, that
purpose could not be fulfilled had the treaty been invoked to its full
capacity in 2001. In addition, our actuarial analysis concluded that
there would be little, if any, economic value to The St. Paul in ceding
any losses under the treaty. As a result, in early 2002, we mutually
agreed with our reinsurer to commute the 2001 corporate treaty 
for consideration to the reinsurer equaling the $9 million initial
premium paid. 

The $25 million of negative ceded losses and loss adjustment
expenses in 2001 in the above table represented the results of a
change in estimate for losses ceded under our 2000 corporate
treaty. Deterioration in our 2000 accident year loss experience in
2001 caused our expectations of the payout patterns of our
reinsurer to change and led us to conclude that losses originally
ceded in 2000 would exceed an economic limit prescribed in the
2000 treaty. 

The combined pretax benefit (detriment) of the reinsurance treaties
was allocated to our business segments as follows. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999 

(In millions)

Specialty Commercial $ (11) $ 107 $ 32

Commercial Lines Group 40 (24) 45

Surety and Construction 15 45 21

Health Care (1) 43 –

Lloyd’s and Other (18) 59 –

Total Primary Insurance 25 230 98

Reinsurance 100 127 163

Total Property-Liability Insurance $ 125 $ 357 $ 261

Amounts shown for 2001 include not only the allocation of the
$34 million detriment from the corporate treaty described above,
but also the reallocation among segments of benefits originally
recorded in 2000 and 1999 related to the corporate treaties in those
years. The reallocation of benefits had no net impact on reported
underwriting results in 2001, but was necessary to reflect the impact
of differences between actual 2001 experience on losses ceded in
2000 and 1999, by segment, and the anticipated experience on
those losses in 2000 and 1999 when the initial segment allocation
was made. All allocations shown for 2000 and 1999 have been
reclassified among segments to be consistent with our new
segment reporting structure implemented in 2001. 

The terrorist attack, reinsurance treaties and several other factors
had a significant impact on our reported loss and expense ratios,
as detailed in the following discussion. 

Loss Ratio – The loss ratio measures insurance losses and loss
adjustment expenses incurred as a percentage of earned premiums.
The following table summarizes major factors impacting our
reported loss ratio in each of the last three years. The adjusted loss
ratio excludes the impact of those factors and is shown to provide a
clearer understanding of our underlying performance. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

Reported loss ratio 102.5 70.0 72.9

Adjustments: 

Terrorist attack (13.9) – –

Other catastrophe losses (2.2) (3.0) (5.0)

Health Care prior-year reserve provisions (10.0) (4.0) –

Excess-of-loss reinsurance treaties 1.6 8.2 6.2

Adjusted loss ratio 78.0 71.2 74.1
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Catastrophe losses totaled $1.27 billion in 2001, of which $1.11 billion
was due to the Sept. 11 terrorist attack. Most of the other $160 mil-
lion of catastrophe losses were the result of a variety of storms
throughout the year in the U.S. and the explosion of a chemical
manufacturing plant in Toulouse, France. In 2000 and 1999, catas-
trophe losses totaled $165 million and $257 million, respectively.
Additional loss development arising from severe windstorms that
struck portions of Europe in late 1999 and severe flooding in the
United Kingdom drove the 2000 total. Major events contributing to
the 1999 total included Hurricane Floyd, earthquakes in Taiwan and
Turkey, and European windstorms. 

The prior-year reserve provisions in the Health Care segment of
$735 million in 2001 and $225 million in 2000 were prompted by
the continuing escalation of jury awards in professional liability law-
suits against our policyholders. The decline in the impact of the
reinsurance treaties in 2001 compared with the preceding two years
was due to our decision not to cede losses under the 2001 corpo-
rate treaty, as discussed on page 19 of this report. 

The 6.8-point deterioration in the 2001 adjusted loss ratio compared
with 2000 primarily resulted from prior-year reserve strengthening
in our Surety and Construction segment in response to current eco-
nomic conditions, and a reduction in favorable prior-year loss
development in our Commercial Lines Group segment. In 2000, the
2.9-point improvement in the adjusted loss ratio over 1999 was pri-
marily due to the impact of price increases and corrective
underwriting initiatives in our Commercial Lines Group segment. 

Expense Ratio – The expense ratio measures underwriting expenses
as a percentage of premiums written. The following table summarizes
major factors impacting our reported expense ratio in each of the
last three years. The adjusted expense ratio excludes the effect of
those factors and is shown to provide a clearer understanding of our
underlying performance.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

Reported expense ratio 28.1 34.8 35.0

Adjustments: 

Terrorist attack 1.5 – –

Excess-of-loss reinsurance treaties (0.5) (2.6) (1.7)

Adjusted expense ratio 29.1 32.2 33.3

The 1.5-point adjustment related to the terrorist attack in our
reported expense ratio represented the impact of reducing contin-
gent commission expense by $91 million in our Reinsurance
segment. The commissions, which were payable contingent on the
loss experience on the reinsurance treaties to which they related,
had been accrued prior to Sept. 11; however, the magnitude of our
reinsurance losses from the terrorist attack resulted in the reversal
of that expense accrual. 

No underwriting expenses were ceded under the reinsurance
treaties; however, our reported expense ratios in all three years
included effects of written premiums ceded under the reinsurance
treaties. The improvement in our adjusted expense ratios in both
2001 and 2000 reflected the combined effect of significant premium
growth in both years, as well as efficiencies realized throughout our
underwriting operations as a result of our expense reduction ini-
tiatives over the last three years. 

Expense reduction efforts included those related to the integration
of USF&G Corporation and The St. Paul subsequent to the merger
of the two organizations in 1998; the restructuring of our
Commercial Lines Group and Specialty Commercial segments later
in 1998; and our 1999 cost reduction program. These efforts
involved the consolidation of field office locations, the streamlin-
ing of our claim organization, and the combined elimination of
approximately 3,300 employee positions in total, the majority of
which were in our underwriting operations. 

underwriting operations’ outlook for 2002

We expect significant improvement in our underwriting results in
2002, due to continuing price increases and our renewed focus on
opportunities emerging in the U.S. commercial insurance market-
place. We are making progress on the profit improvement strategies
we announced at the end of 2001, and the business centers that
form the foundation of our future are performing well. We are
increasing our investment in our small commercial insurance line of
business and other standard commercial lines of business that offer
superior opportunities for profit. We believe our broad underwrit-
ing expertise, strong financial ratings and solid agent relationships
will enable us to reap the benefits of a hardening commercial insur-
ance market. Further, an increase in customer appreciation for risk
management products and services is expanding opportunities for
us to capitalize on our strengths in the marketplace. 

underwriting results by segment

The following table summarizes written premiums, underwriting
results, combined ratios and adjusted combined ratios (as
described in footnote to table) for each of our property-liability
underwriting business segments for the last three years. All data
for 2000 and 1999 were reclassified to conform to our new segment
reporting format implemented in 2001. Following the table are
detailed analyses of our 2001 results and a look ahead to 2002 for
each segment. 
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% of 2001
Year ended Written
December 31 Premiums 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

primary insurance 

operations:

Specialty Commercial 
Written premiums 27% $ 2,109 $ 1,563 $ 1,322
Underwriting result $ (181) $ (10) $ (191)
Combined ratio 108.6 97.9 113.6
Adjusted combined ratio* 103.4 105.7 115.7

Commercial Lines Group 
Written premiums 20% $ 1,604 $ 1,436 $ 1,303
Underwriting result $ 4 $ 74 $ (189)
Combined ratio 98.2 94.7 113.3
Adjusted combined ratio* 94.2 92.9 115.9

Surety and Construction
Written premiums 13% $ 991 $ 859 $ 826
Underwriting result $ (33) $ 68 $ (27)
Combined ratio 102.7 88.8 100.1
Adjusted combined ratio* 104.0 95.1 102.8

Health Care
Written premiums 10% $ 770 $ 599 $ 545
Underwriting result $ (985) $ (241) $ (70)
Combined ratio 222.9 139.5 114.8
Adjusted combined ratio* 221.2 142.2 –

Lloyd’s and Other
Written premiums 8% $ 608 $ 351 $ 201
Underwriting result $ (374) $ (86) $ (23)
Combined ratio 164.2 123.1 112.2
Adjusted combined ratio* 129.9 132.7 –

total primary insurance

Written premiums 78% $ 6,082 $ 4,808 $ 4,197
Underwriting result $ (1,569) $ (195) $ (500)
Combined ratio 126.5 103.1 111.2
Adjusted combined ratio* 119.7 107.7 113.2

Reinsurance
Written premiums 22% $ 1,681 $ 1,076 $ 915
Underwriting result $ (725) $ (114) $ 75
Combined ratio 145.6 112.0 92.2
Adjusted combined ratio* 117.5 120.7 109.1

total property-liability 

insurance

Written premiums 100% $ 7,763 $ 5,884 $ 5,112
Underwriting result $(2,294) $ (309) $ (425)
Statutory combined ratio:

Loss and loss expense ratio 102.5 70.0 72.9
Underwriting expense ratio 28.1 34.8 35.0
Combined ratio 130.6 104.8 107.9
Adjusted combined ratio* 119.3 110.4 112.4

* For purposes of meaningful comparison, adjusted combined ratios in all 

three years exclude the impact of the reinsurance treaties described on 

pages 18 and 19 of this report, and in 2001, the impact of the Sept. 11, 2001

terrorist attack. 

property-liability insurance

Primary Insurance Operations
Our primary insurance underwriting operations consist of five busi-
ness segments that underwrite property-liability insurance and
provide insurance-related products and services to commercial and
professional customers. We utilize a network of more than 5,000
independent insurance agents and brokers to distribute the major-
ity of our insurance products. 

To provide a more meaningful analysis of the underlying perform-
ance of our property-liability business segments, the following
discussion of segment results excludes the impact of the terrorist
attack in 2001 and the reinsurance treaties in all three years. The
impact of the terrorist attack on individual segment results was dis-
cussed on page 13 of this report, and the impact of the reinsurance
treaties was discussed on pages 18 and 19 of this report.

primary insurance operations

Specialty Commercial

The business centers comprising this segment are 

designated specialty commercial operations because

each provides dedicated underwriting, claim and risk

control services that require specialized expertise, and

each focuses exclusively on the respective customer

group each serves.Those business centers are as follows.

Technology offers a comprehensive portfolio of specialty

products and services to companies involved in tele-

communications, information technology, medical

technology, biotechnology and electronics manufactur-

ing. Financial and Professional Services (“FPS”)

provides coverages for financial institutions, including

property, liability, professional liability and manage-

ment liability coverages; financial products coverages

for corporations and nonprofit organizations; and errors’

and omissions’ coverages for a variety of professionals

such as lawyers, insurance agents and real estate

agents. Public Sector Services markets insurance prod-

ucts and services to cities, counties, townships and

special governmental districts. Discover Re serves retail

brokers and insureds who are committed to the alter-

native risk transfer market, which is typically utilized by

sophisticated insureds that are financially able to

assume a substantial portion of their own losses. 



Catastrophe Risk underwrites commercial property

coverages for major U.S. corporations and personal prop-

erty coverages in certain states exposed to earthquakes

and hurricanes. Ocean Marine provides insurance cover-

age internationally for ocean and inland waterways

traffic. Umbrella/Excess & Surplus Lines underwrites lia-

bility insurance, umbrella and excess liability coverages,

and coverages for unique risks. Oil & Gas provides spe-

cialized property and casualty products for customers

involved in the exploration and production of oil and gas.

Transportation offers a broad range of coverage options

for the trucking industry. National Programs underwrites

comprehensive insurance programs that are national in

scope. The International Specialty business center is

comprised of specialty insurance business in several for-

eign countries that is managed on a regional basis.

The following table summarizes results for this segment for the last
three years. Data for all three years exclude the impact of the cor-
porate reinsurance program, and data for 2001 also exclude losses
from the terrorist attack. Data including these factors is presented
on page 21 of this report. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999 

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 2,131 $ 1,715 $ 1,361

Percentage increase over prior year 24% 26%

GAAP underwriting result $ (81) $ (117) $ (223)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 78.1 78.6 83.4

Underwriting expense ratio 25.3 27.1 32.3

Combined ratio 103.4 105.7 115.7

2001 vs. 2000 – The following discussion analyzes the results of 
the respective business centers comprising the Specialty
Commercial segment.

• Financial & Professional Services – Premium volume of $446 mil-
lion in 2001 was 14% higher than 2000 written premiums of
$390 million. The increase was driven by price increases that
averaged 13% for the year, new business in both domestic and
international markets and an incremental $12 million impact
related to our elimination of the one-quarter reporting lag. The
GAAP underwriting loss of $18 million in 2001 improved over the
comparable 2000 loss of $34 million, primarily due to a reduc-
tion in prior-year loss reserves that was partially offset by an
incremental $5 million loss related to our elimination of the one-
quarter reporting lag.

• Technology – Written premiums of $427 million in 2001 grew
24% over comparable 2000 volume of $346 million. The
increase was primarily the result of new business, price
increases averaging 13% for the year and strong renewal reten-
tion rates. The 2001 GAAP underwriting profit of $37 million was
nearly twice the comparable 2000 profit of $19 million, due to
an improvement in current-year loss experience. 

• International Specialty – In 2001, written premiums of $319 mil-
lion grew 40% over 2000 premiums of $228 million. The
elimination of the one-quarter reporting lag for a portion of this
business center contributed $38 million of incremental written
premiums in 2001. The remaining growth was centered in
Europe and Canada and was primarily due to price increases.
The GAAP underwriting loss of $97 million in 2001 included $23
million of additional losses resulting from the quarter-lag report-
ing change. Underwriting losses were $94 million in 2000. At the
end of 2001, we announced our intention to withdraw from the
majority of foreign operations that comprise this business center
based on our conclusion that we were unlikely to achieve com-
petitive scale in those geographic locations. We intend to
continue underwriting business in the United Kingdom, Canada
and Ireland. 

• Public Sector Services – Written premiums totaled $227 million
in 2001, 29% higher than 2000 premiums of $176 million. In
early 2001, we acquired the right to seek to renew a book of
municipality insurance business from Willis North America Inc.,
which was the primary contributor to premium growth in 2001.
In addition, price increases averaged 11% in this business center
in 2001. The GAAP underwriting profit of $10 million in 2001 was
much improved over the comparable 2000 loss of $10 million,
primarily due to favorable prior-year loss development. 

• Umbrella/ Excess & Surplus Lines – Written premiums of
$144 million in 2001 grew 47% over comparable 2000 premium
volume of $98 million. The launch of a new umbrella facility for
retail agents and brokers was the primary contributor to pre-
mium growth in 2001. The GAAP underwriting loss of $36 million
was worse than the 2000 loss of $25 million, primarily due to
adverse prior-year loss development. 

• Discover Re – Gross written premiums increased 64% to
$712 million in 2001, and net written premiums of $127 million
grew 33% over 2000 net premium volume of $96 million. Price
increases averaged approximately 25% in 2001, while client
retention ratios exceeded 80%. The GAAP underwriting profit of
$9 million in 2001 was slightly improved over the comparable
2000 profit of $8 million. 

• National Programs – Premium volume of $106 million in 2001
was 15% higher than 2000 written premiums of $92 million.
Price increases averaged 19% in 2001, accounting for the major-
ity of premium growth for the year. The 2001 GAAP underwriting
loss of $25 million deteriorated slightly from the comparable
2000 loss of $22 million, primarily due to adverse prior-year loss
development on selected accounts. Current-year loss experience
improved significantly over comparable 2000 results. 
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• Oil & Gas – Written premiums of $105 million in 2001 grew 82%
over 2000 written premiums of $58 million. The increase was
due to price increases, averaging 24% for the year, and new
business. The GAAP underwriting profit of $1 million in 2001 was
much improved over the 2000 loss of $4 million, primarily due
to an improvement in prior-year loss experience. 

• Ocean Marine – Written premiums grew 8% in 2001 to $104 mil-
lion, driven by price increases averaging 11% during the year.
We continued to improve our book of marine business in 2001
through the non-renewal of poorly performing and inadequately
priced accounts. The GAAP underwriting profit of $19 million in
2001 was a marked improvement over the 2000 profit of $1 mil-
lion and resulted from favorable loss experience on both current
and prior-year business. 

• Catastrophe Risk – Gross written premiums increased 24% to
$192 million in 2001 while net written premiums of $72 million
were 26% below total 2000 net premiums of $96 million due to a
significant increase in reinsurance purchases. The GAAP under-
writing profit declined to $44 million in 2001 from the profit of
$74 million recorded in 2000, due to the decline in earned premi-
ums associated with the increased reinsurance cessions in 2001. 

• Transportation – Written premiums of $54 million in 2001 grew
33% over the 2000 premium total of $41 million, driven primarily
by price increases that averaged 24% during the year. The GAAP
underwriting loss of $25 million in 2001 was slightly better than
the 2000 loss of $30 million, primarily the result of an improve-
ment in prior-year loss experience. 

The decline in segment expense ratios in both 2001 and 2000
reflected the strong increase in premium volume in both years and
the success of our aggressive expense control efforts in recent years
that have enhanced the efficiency of our underwriting, risk control
and claim operations throughout all business centers comprising
the Specialty Commercial segment. 

2000 vs. 1999 – Virtually every business center in the Specialty
Commercial segment contributed to the 26% growth in written pre-
miums over 1999, but the most significant increases occurred in our
Technology and FPS business centers. Technology written premi-
ums of $346 million were 52% ahead of the comparable 1999 total,
driven by substantial new business volume, price increases aver-
aging 9.5% and a strong renewal retention rate. 

In FPS, a significant increase in non-U.S. business pushed 2000
written premiums to $390 million, 41% higher than 1999’s total of
$277 million. Early in 2000, our underwriting subsidiary in the
United Kingdom was appointed by the Law Society of England and
Wales to be one of its professional indemnity insurance providers.
By year-end 2000, we had generated $65 million of FPS written
premiums from this business. 

The Ocean Marine business center was the most significant con-
tributor to the improvement in results over 1999, recording an
underwriting loss that was $59 million less than 1999. The improve-
ment was largely the result of our late-1999 withdrawal from
unprofitable river transportation business in the Midwest. The
Technology business center posted an underwriting profit of
$19 million, $23 million better than the comparable 1999 result.
Favorable current and prior-year loss experience accounted for
2000’s profitable performance. The FPS underwriting loss was $43
million worse than 1999, primarily due to adverse prior-year loss
development in our U.S. operations and an increase in losses in our
international operations. 

2002 Outlook – Profitable growth and prudent risk selection will be
our priorities in 2002 in the Specialty Commercial segment. With
our withdrawal from most international markets announced at the
end of 2001, we enter 2002 with a renewed focus on the U.S.
domestic commercial marketplace. Our specialty focus in recent
years has built a platform from which we can respond quickly to
emerging customer needs in that marketplace. We intend to under-
write only that business priced at levels commensurate with our
return on equity targets. 

primary insurance operations

Commercial Lines Group

The Commercial Lines Group segment includes the Small

Commercial business center, which serves small busi-

nesses, such as retailers, wholesalers, service companies,

professional offices, manufacturers and contractors; the

Middle Market Commercial business center, which pro-

vides comprehensive property and liability insurance for

a wide variety of commercial manufacturing, distribut-

ing, retailing and property ownership enterprises where

annual insurance costs range from $75,000 to $1 million;

and our Large Accounts business center, which offers

insurance programs to larger commercial businesses

who are willing to share in their insurance risk through

significant deductibles and self-insured retentions. The

Commercial Lines Group segment also includes the

results of our limited involvement in insurance pools.
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The following table summarizes key financial data for each of the
last three years in the Commercial Lines Group segment excluding
losses resulting from the terrorist attack in 2001 and excluding the
impact of the corporate reinsurance program in all three years. Data
including these factors is presented on page 21 of this report.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999 

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 1,687 $ 1,418 $ 1,358

Percentage increase over prior year 19% 4%

GAAP underwriting result $ 71 $ 98 $ (234)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 64.0 58.7 80.2

Underwriting expense ratio 30.2 34.2 35.7

Combined ratio 94.2 92.9 115.9

2001 vs. 2000 – Premium growth in 2001 was driven by price
increases, strong renewal retention rates and new business
throughout the segment. Price increases averaged 14% in 2001, and
the pace of those increases accelerated as the year progressed.
Middle Market Commercial premiums totaled $971 million in 2001,
16% higher than 2000 premiums of $836 million. In the Small
Commercial business center, premium volume of $579 million grew
19% over the comparable 2000 total of $485 million. In July 2001,
we established a new service center in Atlanta, which contributed
to premium growth in our Small Commercial operation by provid-
ing agents and brokers in the southeastern U.S. with a more
efficient and cost-effective platform for placing small commercial
business with us. 

Each of the three business centers in this segment experienced an
improvement in current accident year results, despite a $38 million
increase in catastrophe losses in 2001. However, the magnitude of
favorable prior-year development declined compared with 2000
levels, accounting for the deterioration in reported underwriting
results. Results in 2001 benefited from a $128 million reduction in
prior-year loss reserves, of which $93 million related to business
written prior to 1988. In 2000, prior-year reserve reductions of
approximately $260 million included $80 million for various gen-
eral liability reserves, $69 million for workers’ compensation
reserves and $50 million for business written prior to 1988.
Underwriting results in the Large Accounts business center were
$31 million better than comparable 2000 results, driven by improve-
ment in both current and prior-year loss experience. 

The improvement in the expense ratio in 2001 reflected the com-
bined impact of significant premium growth and a reduction in fixed
expenses. Over the last three years, we have successfully imple-
mented aggressive initiatives to reduce expenses and improve
efficiency in this segment. 

2000 vs. 1999 — The 4% increase in premium volume in 2000 was
driven by significant price increases throughout the segment, the
impact of which was partially offset by a targeted reduction in busi-
ness volume in our Large Accounts business center, and a decline
in premiums generated through our participation in insurance
pools. Total written premiums in our Small Commercial and Middle
Market Commercial business centers increased a combined 7% over
1999, largely due to price increases that averaged 9% for the year.
The $332 million improvement in underwriting results in 2000 was
centered in our Small Commercial and Middle Market Commercial
operations, and reflected the impact of significant prior-year reserve
reductions, as well as price increases and tightened underwriting
standards aimed at eliminating underperforming accounts from our
book of business. 

2002 Outlook – We believe the aggressive initiatives undertaken in
recent years to reduce expenses, solidify our agency relationships
and streamline our claim organization have positioned us well to
capitalize on new opportunities emerging in the standard commer-
cial marketplace. We will focus on further strengthening our pricing
structure, while managing our renewal retentions, new business
growth and portfolio mix. We will continue to build our small com-
mercial platform to better serve our agents, brokers and insureds.
Quality risk selection and aggressive expense management will
remain our highest priorities in 2002, as we pursue profitable
growth in our Commercial Lines Group segment. 

primary insurance operations

Surety and Construction 

The Surety business center underwrites predominantly

contract surety bonds, which guarantee that third par-

ties will be indemnified against the nonperformance of

contractual obligations. The Surety business center

includes our subsidiary Afianzadora Insurgentes, the

largest surety bond underwriter in Mexico. Based on

2000 premium volume, our surety operations are the

largest in North America, and the largest in the world.

The Construction business center delivers value-added

products and services, including traditional insurance

and financial and risk management solutions, to a broad

range of contractors and owners of construction projects.



The following table summarizes results for this segment for the last
three years. Results presented for all three years exclude the impact
of the corporate reinsurance program, and results for 2001 also
exclude losses resulting from the terrorist attack. Data including
these factors is presented on page 21 of this report.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 1,024 $ 925 $ 852

Percentage increase over prior year 11% 9%

GAAP underwriting result $ (47) $ 23 $ (49)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 68.2 55.1 62.6

Underwriting expense ratio 35.8 40.0 40.2

Combined ratio 104.0 95.1 102.8

2001 vs. 2000 – The 11% increase in premium volume in 2001 was
primarily due to price increases in the Construction business center,
which averaged 18% for the year. Construction premiums totaled
$609 million in 2001, compared with $472 million in 2000. Surety
premiums of $415 million declined 8% compared with 2000, reflect-
ing the impact of tightened underwriting standards we began to
implement near the end of 1999 in anticipation of an economic
slowdown in both the United States and Mexico. As that slowdown
materialized in 2001, our tightened standards had produced a more
conservative risk profile of our commercial surety exposures. An
increase in reinsurance costs was also a factor in the decline in
Surety’s net written premiums in 2001. 

Both business centers contributed to the deterioration in under-
writing results compared with 2000. The Surety underwriting profit
of $11 million declined from the comparable 2000 profit of
$34 million, reflecting an increase in losses amid the economic
downturn in the U.S. Also included in the 2001 Surety result was a
$10 million provision for losses associated with Enron Corporation’s
bankruptcy filing late in the year. 

The Construction underwriting loss of $58 million in 2001 deterio-
rated from 2000’s comparable loss of $11 million, driven by adverse
loss development on prior-year business that prompted a
$24 million provision to strengthen reserves. Current accident year
loss experience in 2001 was much improved over 2000, reflecting
the impact of aggressive underwriting initiatives implemented over
the last three years. Construction’s 2000 underwriting result
included the benefit of prior-year reserve reductions totaling
$57 million, including $33 million of workers’ compensation loss
reserves. The strong improvement in the segment expense ratio
over 2000 reflected the combined effect of Construction’s written
premium growth and active management of expenses in both
business centers. 

2000 vs. 1999 – Both business centers achieved written premium
growth in 2000. Surety premiums of $453 million grew 8% over
1999, and Construction premiums of $472 million were 9% higher
than the 1999 total. The increases reflected strong economic con-
ditions in both the U.S. and Mexico, which fueled growth in the
construction industry and, in turn, the demand for contract surety
products. Price increases averaging 15% in the Construction busi-
ness center were also a significant factor contributing to premium
growth in 2000. Construction’s underwriting result improved by
$78 million over 1999, due to favorable prior-year loss develop-
ment, which included the $33 million reduction in workers’
compensation reserves. Surety’s underwriting profit of $34 million
was $6 million less than the comparable 1999 profit, due to
increased claim activity on two large accounts in Mexico. 

2002 Outlook – In early 2002, we expect to close on our purchase
of London Guarantee Insurance Company, a specialty property-lia-
bility insurance company focused on providing surety products, and
management liability, bond, and professional indemnity products.
London Guarantee, headquartered in Toronto, generated approxi-
mately $53 million (Canadian) in surety net written premiums in
2001. In addition, late in 2001, our Surety operation acquired the
right to seek to renew surety bond business underwritten by
Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company, without assuming any past lia-
bilities. This transaction is expected to enhance our position in 2002
as the largest surety underwriter in the U.S. by increasing our
market penetration in western states. In the current economic envi-
ronment, we will maintain a conservative underwriting profile in our
Surety and Construction operations while continuing to aggressively
seek additional price increases. The anticipated higher cost and lim-
ited availability of surety reinsurance in 2002 is expected to further
tighten underwriting standards for certain types of surety bonds and
will likely result in significant price increases for the surety customer.

The St. Paul Companies 2001 Annual Report 25



primary insurance operations

Health Care 

The Health Care segment historically has provided a

wide range of insurance products and services through-

out the entire health care delivery system, including

individual physicians and other health care providers,

physician groups, hospitals, managed care organiza-

tions and long-term care facilities. In the fourth quarter

of 2001, we announced our intention to exit the medical

liability insurance market subject to applicable regula-

tory requirements.

The following table summarizes key financial data for each of the
last three years in this segment. Data for all years exclude the
impact of the corporate reinsurance program, and data for 2001
exclude losses resulting from the terrorist attack. Data including
these factors is presented on page 21 of this report.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 776 $ 659 $ 545

Percentage increase over prior year 18% 21%

GAAP underwriting result $ (979) $ (284) $ (70)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 197.9 116.5 87.8

Underwriting expense ratio 23.3 25.7 27.0

Combined ratio 221.2 142.2 114.8

2001 vs. 2000 – Price increases averaging 27% in 2001 were the
primary factor in the 18% growth in written premiums over 2000. In
addition, a full year of business volume generated by MMI, acquired
in April 2000, contributed to premium growth in 2001. However, we
significantly curtailed the amount of new Health Care business in
2001, due to an unfavorable pricing environment and unacceptable
loss experience in most of the lines of business and geographic
locations where we offered our products. 

The nearly $1 billion underwriting loss in 2001 was driven by provi-
sions to strengthen loss reserves for prior accident years, particularly
the years 1997 through 1999. The prior-year reserve increases, which
totaled $735 million for the year, culminated in a $540 million pro-
vision in December that coincided with our announcement that we
would exit the medical liability market. The 2001 reserve increases
followed $225 million of increases recorded in 2000 that primarily
related to our long-term care and major accounts lines of business.
The reserve increases in 2000 were prompted by an increase in the
severity of losses driven by the rapidly escalating amounts that were
awarded by juries in professional liability lawsuits.

Through the first nine months of 2001, our actuarial analyses indi-
cated that prior-year reserve actions were necessary, as we
determined that claim severity on the specific lines of business
identified in 2000 was continuing to increase at a very high rate. We
also determined that the worsening severity was not limited solely
to those lines. As a result, we recorded additional prior-year reserve
provisions totaling $195 million in the first nine months of the year.
In the fourth quarter, as loss severity continued to escalate, we
performed a comprehensive re-evaluation of the underlying
assumptions and projections supporting our reserve positions. We
concluded that a significant additional provision to prior-year med-
ical liability loss reserves was necessary, and announced our intent
to fully withdraw from this market segment due to minimal
prospects for future profitability. 

As part of the strategic review that led to our decision to exit the
medical liability business, our analysis of the unamortized goodwill
asset of $64 million related to the MMI acquisition indicated that
approximately $56 million of that goodwill was not recoverable, and
that amount was written off in the fourth quarter of 2001. The
remaining goodwill deemed recoverable was related to that portion
of MMI’s ongoing consulting business that was not placed in runoff. 

2000 vs. 1999 – Health Care premium volume in 2000 included $98
million of premiums from MMI’s domestic operations. In 1999, the
written premium total included a one-time premium of $37 million
recorded on one three-year policy. Excluding that premium and
MMI’s incremental contribution in 2000, premium volume in 2000
was 11% higher than 1999. The increase was driven by price
increases, new business in selected coverages and higher renewal
retention ratios on accounts targeted for renewal. The significant
deterioration in underwriting results compared with 1999 was
driven by losses incurred in our long-term care and major accounts
books of business, including but not limited to business acquired
in the MMI transaction. Sharp increases in the amounts awarded in
jury verdicts against the large entities served by the major accounts
business center caused us to strengthen previously established loss
reserves for these coverages. MMI accounted for $256 million of
the Health Care underwriting loss in 2000, a substantial portion of
which resulted from losses in its major accounts business.

2002 Outlook – Our focus in 2002 will be on the efficient runoff 
of our Health Care business. As of Jan. 23, 2002, we had not
renewed or had given notice of our intention not to renew business
that accounted for approximately 80% of the Health Care segment’s
premium volume in 2001. The remaining 20% represented business
in states where we are awaiting regulatory approval to withdraw
from the market. We anticipate approximately $400 million of
domestic Health Care written premium volume in 2002, 50% of
which is expected to result from reporting endorsements on busi-
ness being exited. We expect underwriting losses to decline
significantly in 2002.
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primary insurance operations

Lloyd’s and Other

This business segment consists of the following 

components: our operations at Lloyd’s, where we 

provide capital to five underwriting syndicates and 

own a managing agency; our participation in the

insuring of the Lloyd’s Central Fund, which would be

utilized if an individual member of Lloyd’s were to be

unable to pay its share of a syndicate’s losses; and

results from MMI’s London-based insurance operation,

Unionamerica, placed in runoff in 2000 except for cer-

tain business it is contractually obligated to continue

writing through 2004. As discussed on pages 13 and 14

of this report, we announced in late 2001 that we would

cease underwriting certain business through Lloyd’s

beginning in 2002, and would, when current contractual

commitments expire in 2003, end our involvement in the

insuring of the Lloyd’s Central Fund. 

The following table summarizes results for this segment for the last
three years. Data for 2001 exclude losses from the terrorist attack,
and data for all three years exclude the impact of the corporate rein-
surance program. Data including these factors is presented on page
21 of this report.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 599 $ 430 $ 201

Percentage increase over prior year 39% 114%

GAAP underwriting result $ (173) $ (144) $ (23)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 101.7 102.5 84.2

Underwriting expense ratio 28.2 30.2 28.0

Combined ratio 129.9 132.7 112.2

2001 vs. 2000 – Premium growth in 2001 was primarily due to new
business resulting from our increased capacity in several syndicates
at Lloyd’s. Our Lloyd’s premium volume totaled $500 million in
2001, compared with $331 million in 2000. In addition, price
increases in our operations at Lloyd’s averaged nearly 20% for the
year, and began to accelerate further after the Sept. 11 terrorist
attack. Unionamerica generated $99 million of written premiums in
each of 2001 and 2000. Although we ceased new business activity
at Unionamerica late in 2000, we are contractually obligated to
continue underwriting business in certain Unionamerica syndicates
at Lloyd’s through 2004.

The deterioration in underwriting results compared with 2000 was
the result of adverse prior-year loss development in several Lloyd’s
syndicates, particularly those associated with North American lia-
bility coverages. In addition, poor prior-year loss experience and
the write-off of uncollectible reinsurance receivables in our finan-
cial and professional services syndicate contributed to the increase
in underwriting losses in 2001. Unionamerica generated an under-
writing loss of $61 million in 2001, compared with $63 million in
2000. The majority of Unionamerica’s losses in both years were the
result of adverse development on business written in prior years. 

2000 vs. 1999 – The addition of Unionamerica accounted for
$99 million of written premium volume in 2000. Excluding
Unionamerica, the 65% increase in premiums over 1999 was driven
by growth in our Lloyd’s operations, where we expanded our invest-
ment in several specialty underwriting syndicates. Premiums
generated at Lloyd’s in 2000 totaled $331 million, compared with
$201 million in 1999. Underwriting results in 2000 suffered from sig-
nificant adverse prior-year loss development at Unionamerica and
deterioration in several syndicates’ results at Lloyd’s. Subsequent
to our acquisition of MMI, we strengthened Unionamerica’s loss
reserves and ceased writing new business in that entity, except
where contractually required. At Lloyd’s, underwriting losses were
centered in a syndicate specializing in financial and professional
liability coverage and in an aviation syndicate, which incurred
significant losses from a number of airline accidents. 

2002 Outlook – In 2002, we will limit our operations at Lloyd’s to
the following types of coverage which we believe offer the greatest
potential for profitable growth: aviation, marine, financial and pro-
fessional services, property, kidnap and ransom, accident and
health, creditor, specialist London market reinsurance, and other
personal specialty products. We anticipate additional significant
price increases on business written through Lloyd’s, as worldwide
insurance markets continue to harden in the aftermath of the
Sept. 11 terrorist attack. 
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reinsurance

St. Paul Re

Our Reinsurance segment, St. Paul Re, underwrites 

traditional treaty and facultative reinsurance for prop-

erty, liability, ocean marine, surety and certain specialty

classes of coverage for leading property-liability 

insurance companies worldwide. St. Paul Re also under-

writes certain types of “non-traditional” reinsurance,

which provides limited traditional underwriting risk

combined with financial risk protection. As discussed 

on page 14 of this report, we announced in late 2001 that

we would cease underwriting certain types of reinsur-

ance coverages in 2002. 

The following table summarizes results for this segment for the last
three years. Data for all three years exclude the impact of the rein-
surance treaties, and data for 2001 exclude the impact of the
terrorist attack. Data including these factors is presented on page
21 of this report.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in millions)

Written premiums $ 1,593 $ 1,211 $ 1,068

Percentage increase over prior year 32% 13%

GAAP underwriting result $ (268) $ (242) $ (87)

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 85.3 85.4 79.1

Underwriting expense ratio 32.2 35.3 30.0

Combined ratio 117.5 120.7 109.1

2001 vs. 2000 – The increase in written premiums in 2001 was
driven by new business growth in St. Paul Re’s North American
casualty and property lines and strong price increases across vir-
tually all lines of business. The pace of price increases continued
to grow in 2001, and those increases accelerated in the fourth quar-
ter in the aftermath of the terrorist attack. The deterioration in
underwriting results in 2001 occurred throughout our reinsurance
operations. In our North American casualty business, losses were
concentrated in large commercial program reinsurance. For North
American property business, an increase in the frequency and
severity of losses was the primary factor driving the deterioration
from 2000. We also experienced deterioration in satellite and avia-
tion loss experience in 2001. Catastrophe losses (excluding the
terrorist attack) totaled $66 million in the Reinsurance segment in
2001, driven by losses from the explosion of a chemical plant in
Toulouse, France and Tropical Storm Allison in the U.S. Reinsurance
catastrophe losses in 2000 totaled $135 million. 

2000 vs. 1999 – Premium growth in 2000 was driven by new busi-
ness opportunities in the non-traditional reinsurance market and
significant price increases across virtually all lines of traditional 
reinsurance coverages. Non-traditional business accounted for $142
million of St. Paul Re’s premium growth over 1999. In addition, price
increases and new business fueled an $84 million increase in North
American casualty premium volume in 2000. 

The deterioration in underwriting results was due to significant
adverse loss development from years prior to 2000. Catastrophe
losses incurred in 2000 totaled $135 million, of which $115 million
represented additional losses on events occurring in 1999 and prior
years. Flooding in the United Kingdom, which accounted for $20
million in losses, was the only major event in 2000 contributing to
the 2000 catastrophe total. Adverse prior-year loss development
on retrocessional business written in St. Paul Re’s London opera-
tions also played a significant role in 2000’s underwriting loss. In
addition, our North American casualty business accounted for
$130 million of underwriting losses in 2000. 

During 2000, St. Paul Re reduced its estimate of ultimate losses on
certain non-traditional reinsurance business by $56 million, and
made a corresponding increase in its estimate of reserves for con-
tingent commissions by $66 million. Although these changes in
estimate did not have a significant impact on underwriting results
for the year, they did distort the components of the combined ratio
in the table above. Excluding these changes, the loss ratio would
have been 89.8, and the expense ratio would have been 29.8 (both
excluding the benefits of the reinsurance treaties). 

2002 Outlook – In December 2001, we announced plans to restruc-
ture our reinsurance segment. We intend to reduce the scale of our
business to lessen the volatility in our reported results, and focus
on established lines of business in which we have a consistently
successful track record. We will close branch offices in several for-
eign locations. We will continue to write the following lines of
business: property catastrophe; excess-of-loss casualty; marine;
and certain non-traditional reinsurance. In addition, we will write
selected other classes of business on an opportunistic basis when
we believe pricing and terms to be acceptable. Price increases on
reinsurance coverages continue to accelerate. Most of the reinsur-
ance business we underwrite renews on Jan. 1, and the business we
recorded on Jan. 1, 2002 renewals reflected average price increases
of 35%. We believe improving market conditions in 2002 provide
the opportunity for profitable growth in those lines of business
where we are focusing our efforts.
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property-liability insurance

Investment Operations

Our investment operations’ primary objective is to maximize invest-
ment returns and generate sufficient liquidity to fund our cash
requirements, primarily consisting of insurance claim payments. The
funds we invest are generated by underwriting cash flows, consisting
of premiums collected less losses and expenses paid, and by invest-
ment cash flows, consisting of income received on existing
investments and proceeds from sales and maturities of investments.

The majority of funds available for investment are deployed in a
widely diversified portfolio of predominantly investment-grade fixed
maturities, consisting primarily of government-issued securities and
corporate bonds. We also invest lesser amounts in equity securities,
venture capital and real estate with the goal of producing long-term
growth in the value of our invested asset base and ultimately
enhancing shareholder value. The latter three investment classes
have the potential for higher returns but also involve a greater
degree of risk, including less stable rates of return and less liquidity.

The following table summarizes the composition and carrying value
of our property-liability investment segment’s portfolio at the end
of 2001 and 2000. More information on each investment class fol-
lows the table. 

December 31 2001 2000

(In millions)

carrying value

Fixed maturities $ 15,756 $14,584

Equities 1,110 1,396

Real estate and mortgage loans 972 1,025

Venture capital 859 1,064

Securities on loan 775 1,207

Short-term investments 2,043 2,223

Other investments 67 183

Total investments $21,582 $21,682

Fixed Maturities – Our fixed maturities portfolio is primarily com-
posed of high-quality, intermediate-term taxable U.S. government,
corporate and mortgage-backed bonds, and tax-exempt U.S. munic-
ipal bonds. We manage our bond portfolio conservatively, investing
almost exclusively in investment-grade (BBB- or better) securities.
At Dec. 31, 2001, approximately 95% of our portfolio was rated
investment grade, with the remaining 5% split between high-yield
and nonrated securities, most of which we believe would be con-
sidered investment-grade if rated.

We participate in a securities lending program whereby certain fixed
maturities from our portfolio are loaned to other institutions for
short periods of time. We receive a fee from the borrower in return.
We require collateral equal to 102% of the fair value of the loaned
securities, and we record the cash collateral received as a liability.
The collateral is invested in short-term investments and reported
as such on our balance sheet. The market value of the securities on
loan is reclassified out of fixed maturities and shown as a separate
investment asset on our balance sheet. We continue to earn interest
on the securities on loan, and earn a portion of the interest related
to the short-term investments.

The amortized cost of our fixed maturities portfolio at the end of
2001 was $15.2 billion, $1 billion higher than the comparable total
of $14.2 billion at the end of 2000. The increase was partially due
to the $432 million decline in securities on loan. Our level of fixed
maturity invested assets benefited near the end of the year from
the investment of $335 million in cash proceeds from the sale of
F&G Life in September, and the investment of proceeds from our
issuance of preferred securities in November. We ultimately con-
tributed $500 million of the net proceeds of the issue to the
policyholders’ surplus of our primary domestic insurance under-
writing subsidiary, St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company,
which subsequently invested the funds in taxable fixed maturities.
These investments more than offset the decline in our fixed matu-
rity portfolio through the first nine months of 2001 which had
resulted from net sales of investments to fund operational cash
requirements (primarily insurance claim payments).

We carry bonds on our balance sheet at market value, with the cor-
responding appreciation or depreciation recorded in shareholders’
equity, net of taxes. The market values of our bonds fluctuate with
changes in market interest rates and changes in yield differentials
between fixed-maturity asset classes. If we believe a decline in
value of any of our bonds is other than temporary, we write down
the asset for the decline and record a realized loss on our statement
of operations.

At the end of 2001, the pretax unrealized appreciation of our bond
portfolio was $563 million, compared with unrealized appreciation
of $380 million at the end of 2000. The significant decline in inter-
est rates during 2001 was the primary factor in the increase in
unrealized appreciation. The Federal Reserve reduced short-term
rates 11 times in 2001 for a cumulative total of 4.75% in response
to the economic slowdown in the United States. The increase in
unrealized appreciation was not as large as might have been
expected given the magnitude of interest rate declines in 2001, as
the market value of our holdings began to increase significantly
prior to the end of 2000 in anticipation of the Federal Reserve
actions to reduce rates. 

Our decision whether to purchase taxable or tax-exempt securities
is driven by corporate tax considerations, and the relationship
between taxable and tax-exempt yields at the time of purchase. 
In each of the last three years, a significant majority of our new 
fixed maturity purchases consisted of taxable bonds. The average
yield on taxable bonds purchased in 2001 was 6.5%, compared with
7.7% in 2000 and 7.2% in 1999. The decline in 2001 reflected the
impact of the Federal Reserve rate actions. Taxable bonds
accounted for 70% of our fixed maturity portfolio at year-end 2001.
The bond portfolio in total carried a weighted average pretax yield
of 6.6% at Dec. 31, 2001, compared with 6.8% at the end of 2000. 

Reported pretax investment income generated from our fixed matu-
rities portfolio in 2001 totaled $1.11 billion, down 5% from
comparable 2000 investment income of $1.16 billion. Investment
income in 2001 and 2000 included $14 million and $11 million,
respectively, from the elimination of one-quarter reporting lags in
each year for portions of our foreign operations. The decline in
investment income in 2001 reflected the lower level of fixed matu-
rity invested assets during much of 2001 and the decline in yields
on new investments. In 2000, excluding the incremental impact of
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the MMI acquisition and the elimination of the one-quarter report-
ing lag, fixed maturities investment income was approximately 5%
below comparable 1999 investment income, due to net sales of
investments to fund operational cash needs. Funds available for
investment in the last three years were also reduced by cumulative
premium payments of $639 million related to our corporate rein-
surance program.

Equities – Our equity holdings consist of a diversified portfolio of
common stocks, which accounted for 5% of total investments (at
cost) at Dec. 31, 2001. Equity markets in the United States in 2001
suffered from the economic slowdown and the Sept. 11 terrorist
attack. The total return on our equity portfolio in 2001 (encom-
passing dividend income, realized gains and losses, and the change
in unrealized appreciation) was (20.7%), and our five-year return
through 2001 was approximately 10.5%. Despite the negative return
in 2001, the $1.10 billion market value of our portfolio at Dec. 31,
2001 still exceeded its cost by $52 million. At the end of 2000, the
pretax unrealized appreciation included in the $1.40 billion carrying
value totaled $326 million.

Real Estate and Mortgage Loans – Real estate ($838 million carrying
value) and mortgage loans ($134 million carrying value) comprised
5% of our total property-liability investments at the end of 2001.
Our real estate holdings primarily consist of commercial office and
warehouse properties that we own directly or in which we have a
partial interest through joint ventures. Our properties are geo-
graphically distributed throughout the United States and had an
occupancy rate of 95% at year-end 2001. These investments pro-
duced pretax income of $97 million in 2001 and $63 million in 2000,
and generated cash flows totaling $138 million in 2001 and $90 mil-
lion in 2000. The increase in investment income and cash flows in
2001 was primarily due to earnings from a Southern California res-
idential land development. We did not make any significant real
estate purchases in 2001 or 2000.

We acquired the portfolio of mortgage loans in the 1998 merger
with USF&G. The loans, which are collateralized by income-pro-
ducing real estate, produced investment income of $18 million in
2001 and $27 million in 2000. Net pay downs and repayments of
the loans totaled $51 million in 2001 and $204 million in 2000. We
did not originate any new loans in either of the last two years. 

Venture Capital – Venture capital comprised 4% of our invested
assets (at cost) at the end of 2001. These private investments span
a variety of industries but are concentrated in information tech-
nology, health care and consumer products. In 2001, we invested
$289 million in this asset class, compared with $296 million in
2000. Our total return on average net venture capital investments
(encompassing dividend income, realized gains and losses, and 
the change in unrealized appreciation) was (41.5%) in 2001. The
negative return in 2001 was driven by a significant decline in the
unrealized appreciation of our investments in the difficult market
environment that characterized the year. Much of this appreciation
had accumulated during favorable market conditions in recent
years. In 2000, our portfolio produced a total pretax return on

average net assets of 52%, primarily the result of pretax realized
gains totaling $554 million for the year. The carrying value of the
venture capital portfolio at year-end 2001 and 2000 included unre-
alized appreciation of $93 million and $406 million, respectively. 

Realized Investment Gains and Losses – The following table sum-
marizes our property-liability operations’ pretax realized gains and
losses by investment class for each of the last three years. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

pretax realized investment 

gains (losses)

Fixed maturities $ (77) $ (29) $ (19)

Equities (4) 87 118

Real estate and mortgage loans 4 4 18

Venture capital (43) 554 158

Other investments (6) 8 (1)

Total $ (126) $ 624 $ 274

Pretax realized losses in the fixed maturities category in 2001 were
driven by write-downs in the carrying value of certain of our bond
holdings. These write-downs included a $20 million write-down of
various Argentina government and corporate bonds following eco-
nomic upheaval in that country, and a $19 million write-down in
Enron Corporation bonds following that company’s bankruptcy
filing. The remaining carrying values of our Argentina and Enron
investments at Dec. 31, 2001 totaled $21 million and $5 million,
respectively. Venture capital realized losses in 2001 primarily
resulted from the sale of several of our direct investments.

Venture capital realized gains in 2000 and 1999 were primarily
driven by sales of and distributions from investments in technology-
related companies. The single largest gain in 2000, $117 million,
resulted from the sale of our direct investment in Flycast Com-
munications Corp., a leading provider of Internet direct response
solutions.

2002 Investment Outlook – We do not anticipate investment income
growth in 2002. Although underwriting cash flow in 2002 is
expected to improve due to price increases realized in our continu-
ing operations, that improvement will be diminished by the
anticipated cash payments associated with the runoff of reserves
in businesses that we are exiting and other cash payments, includ-
ing claim payments resulting from the terrorist attack. In addition,
yields on new fixed maturities investments in 2002 are expected to
be lower than those on maturing securities.

With funds provided from maturing investments in 2002, new
investment purchases will be concentrated in taxable, investment-
grade bonds, with additional capital allocated to our other asset
classes as market conditions warrant. We anticipate improving eco-
nomic conditions will improve equity valuations in 2002, but we
expect to realize only modest gains in our venture capital portfolio.
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Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves 

Our loss reserves reflect estimates of total losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses we will ultimately have to pay under insurance and
reinsurance policies. These include losses that have been reported
but not settled, and losses that have been incurred but not reported
to us (“IBNR”). Loss reserves for certain workers’ compensation
business and certain assumed reinsurance contracts are discounted
to present value. We reduce our loss reserves for estimates of
salvage and subrogation. 

For reported losses, we establish reserves on a “case” basis within
the parameters of coverage provided in the insurance policy or rein-
surance agreement. For IBNR losses, we estimate reserves using
established actuarial methods. Our case and IBNR reserve esti-
mates consider such variables as past loss experience, changes in
legislative conditions, changes in judicial interpretation of legal lia-
bility and policy coverages, and inflation. We consider not only
monetary increases in the cost of what we insure, but also changes
in societal factors that influence jury verdicts and case law and, in
turn, claim costs. 

Because many of the coverages we offer involve claims that may
not ultimately be settled for many years after they are incurred, sub-
jective judgments as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an
integral and necessary component of our loss reserving process.
We record our reserves by considering a range of estimates
bounded by a high and low point. Within that range, we record our
best estimate. We continually review our reserves, using a variety
of statistical and actuarial techniques to analyze current claim costs,
frequency and severity data, and prevailing economic, social and
legal factors. We adjust reserves established in prior years as loss
experience develops and new information becomes available.
Adjustments to previously estimated reserves are reflected in our
financial results in the periods in which they are made. 

While our reported reserves make a reasonable provision for all of
our unpaid loss and loss adjustment expense obligations, it should
be noted that the process of estimating required reserves does, by
its very nature, involve uncertainty. The level of uncertainty can be
influenced by such things as the existence of coverages with long
duration payment patterns and changes in claim handling practices.
Many of the insurance subsidiaries within The St. Paul’s group have
written coverages with long duration payment patterns such as
medical professional liability, large deductible workers’ compensa-
tion and assumed reinsurance. In addition, claim handling practices
change and evolve over the years. For example, new initiatives are
commenced, claim offices are reorganized and relocated, claim
handling responsibilities of individual adjusters are changed, use
of a call center is increased, use of technology is increased, caseload
issues and case reserving practices are monitored more frequently,
etc. However, these are sources of uncertainty that we have
recognized in establishing our reserves.

Note 9 to the financial statements includes a reconciliation of our
beginning and ending loss and loss adjustment expense reserves
for each of the years 2001, 2000 and 1999. That reconciliation
shows that we recorded an increase in the loss provision from
continuing operations for claims incurred in prior years totaling
$577 million in 2001, compared with reductions in prior-year
incurred losses of $265 million and $208 million in 2000 and 
1999, respectively. 

The increase in prior-year loss provisions in 2001 was driven by
additional losses emerging in our Health Care segment. In 2000,
loss trends in this segment had indicated an increase in the sever-
ity of claims incurred in the 1995 through 1997 accident years;
accordingly, we recorded a provision for prior-year losses. In 2001,
loss activity continued to increase not only for the years 1995
through 1997, but also 1998, and early activity on claims incurred
in the years 1999 through 2001 indicated an increase in severity for
those years. Those developments led us to a much different view
of loss development in this segment, which in turn caused us to
record provisions for prior-year losses totaling $735 million in this
segment in 2001. At the end of the year, we announced our inten-
tion to withdraw fully from the medical liability insurance market.

A reduction in prior-year losses was recorded in 2000 and 1999. In
2000, the favorable prior-year loss development was widespread
across lines of business with the exception of the Health Care seg-
ment. In 1999, favorable prior-year loss development in several lines
of business, including workers’ compensation and assumed rein-
surance, was partially offset by adverse development in our Ocean
Marine operation and certain commercial business centers.

property-liability underwriting

Environmental and Asbestos Claims 

We continue to receive claims alleging injury or damage from envi-
ronmental pollution or seeking payment for the cost to clean up
polluted sites. We also receive asbestos injury claims tendered
under general liability policies. The vast majority of these claims
arise from policies written many years ago. Significant legal issues,
primarily pertaining to the scope of coverage, complicate our
alleged liability for both environmental and asbestos claims. In our
opinion, court decisions in certain jurisdictions have tended to
broaden insurance coverage beyond the intent of original insurance
policies.

Our ultimate liability for environmental claims is difficult to estimate
because of these legal issues. Insured parties have submitted
claims for losses that in our view are not covered in their respective
insurance policies, and the final resolution of these claims may be
subject to lengthy litigation, making it difficult to estimate our
potential liability. In addition, variables such as the length of time
necessary to clean up a polluted site, and controversies surround-
ing the identity of the responsible party and the degree of
remediation deemed necessary, make it difficult to estimate the
total cost of an environmental claim.

Estimating our ultimate liability for asbestos claims is also very dif-
ficult. The primary factors influencing our estimate of the total cost
of these claims are case law and a history of prior claim develop-
ment, both of which are still developing.

The following table represents a reconciliation of total gross and
net environmental reserve development for each of the years in the
three-year period ended Dec. 31, 2001. Amounts in the “net” column
are reduced by reinsurance recoverables. 



2001 2000 1999
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

(In millions)

environmental

Beginning reserves $ 665 $ 563 $ 698 $ 599 $ 783 $ 645

Incurred losses 1 18 25 14 (33) 1

Paid losses (84) (74) (58) (50) (52) (47)

Ending reserves $ 582 $ 507 $ 665 $ 563 $ 698 $ 599

The following table represents a reconciliation of total gross and
net reserve development for asbestos claims for each of the years in
the three-year period ended Dec. 31, 2001. Amounts in the “net”
column are reduced by reinsurance recoverables.

2001 2000 1999
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

(In millions)

asbestos

Beginning reserves $ 397 $ 299 $ 398 $ 298 $ 402 $ 277

Incurred losses 133 110 41 33 28 51

Paid losses (52) (42) (42) (32) (32) (30)

Ending reserves $ 478 $ 367 $ 397 $ 299 $ 398 $ 298

Our reserves for environmental and asbestos losses at Dec. 31, 2001
represent our estimate of our ultimate liability for such losses,
based on all information currently available to us. Because of the
inherent difficulty in estimating such losses, however, we cannot
give assurances that our ultimate liability for environmental and
asbestos losses will, in fact, match our current reserves. We con-
tinue to evaluate new information and developing loss patterns. We
believe any future additional loss provisions for, or settlement of,
environmental and asbestos claims will not materially impact our
financial position, but may materially impact our results of opera-
tions or liquidity in the period in which such provisions or
settlements occur. 

In 2001, we completed a periodic analysis of environmental and
asbestos reserves at one of our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom.
The analysis was based on a policy-by-policy review of our known
and unknown exposure to damages arising from environmental pol-
lution and asbestos litigation. The analysis concluded that loss
experience for environmental exposures was developing more
favorably than anticipated, while loss experience for asbestos expo-
sures was developing less favorably than anticipated. The
divergence in loss experience had an offsetting impact on respec-
tive reserves for environmental and asbestos exposures; as a result,
we recorded a $48 million reduction in net incurred environmental
losses in 2001, and an increase in net incurred asbestos losses for
the same amount.

Total gross environmental and asbestos reserves at Dec. 31, 2001
of $1.06 billion represented approximately 5% of gross consolidated
reserves of $22.1 billion.

Record sales and strong asset growth
lead to Nuveen’s seventh consecutive
year of record earnings 

ASSET MANAGEMENT

The John Nuveen Company

We hold a 77% interest in The John Nuveen Company

(“Nuveen”), which constitutes our asset management

segment. Nuveen’s core businesses are asset manage-

ment, and the development, marketing and distribution

of investment products and services for the affluent,

high net worth and institutional market segments.

Nuveen distributes its investment products and services,

including mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, defined

portfolios and individually managed accounts, to the

affluent and high net worth market segments through

unaffiliated intermediary firms including broker-deal-

ers, commercial banks, affiliates of insurance providers,

financial planners, accountants, consultants and invest-

ment advisors. Nuveen provides investment products

and services directly to the institutional market. The

Company markets its capabilities under three distinct

brands: Nuveen, a leader in tax-free investments;

Rittenhouse, a retail managed account service platform;

and Symphony, a leading institutional manager of

market-neutral and other investment portfolios. Nuveen

is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, trading under

the symbol “JNC.” 

The following table summarizes Nuveen’s key financial data for the
last three years.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Revenues $ 378 $ 376 $ 353

Expenses 190 201 193

Pretax income 188 175 160

Minority interest (46) (40) (37)

The St. Paul’s share of pretax income $ 142 $ 135 $ 123

Assets under management $68,485 $ 62,011 $59,784

The St. Paul Companies 2001 Annual Report32



Nuveen provides consultative services to financial advisors on man-
aged assets for fee-based customers, and structured investment
services for transaction-based advisors. These activities generate
three principal sources of revenue: (1) ongoing advisory fees earned
on assets under management, including individually managed
accounts, mutual funds and exchange-traded funds; (2) distribu-
tion revenues earned upon the sale of defined portfolio and mutual
fund products and (3) fees earned on certain institutional accounts
based on the performance of such accounts. 

In July 2001, Nuveen acquired Symphony Asset Management LLC
(“Symphony”), an institutional investment manager based in 
San Francisco with approximately $4 billion in assets under 
management. As a result of the acquisition, Nuveen’s product offer-
ings were expanded to include managed accounts and funds
designed to reduce risk through market-neutral and other strate-
gies in several equity and fixed-income asset classes for
institutional investors.

In 2001, gross sales of investment products increased 32% to $14.2
billion, driven by continuing success with exchange-traded funds.
Nuveen launched 20 new municipal funds, as well as a REIT-based
fund, issuing approximately $2.8 billion of new municipal exchange-
traded fund common shares and $1.2 billion in MuniPreferred™

shares. Reflecting the strength of Nuveen’s consultative platform,
managed account sales were very strong, growing 39% for the year.
Mutual fund sales grew 22% mainly as a result of an increase in
municipal fund sales. Nuveen’s strong sales in exchange-traded
funds, managed accounts and mutual funds were partially offset by
lower equity defined portfolio sales as a result of equity market
volatility, particularly in the technology sector. Nuveen’s net flows
(equal to the sum of sales, reinvestments and exchanges, less
redemptions) totaled $7.7 billion in 2001, a 64% increase over net
flows of $4.7 billion in 2000. 

Total assets under management grew 10% to $68.5 billion at the
end of 2001, compared with $62.0 billion a year earlier. The increase
was due to the addition of Symphony and Nuveen’s strong net flows
for the year. At the end of 2001, managed assets consisted of
$32.0 billion of exchange-traded funds, $24.7 billion of managed
accounts, and $11.8 billion of mutual funds. Municipal securities
accounted for 70% of assets under management at Dec. 31, 2001.
Including defined portfolios, Nuveen managed or oversaw approx-
imately $76 billion in assets at Dec. 31, 2001. 

Operating revenues totaled $371 million in 2001, an increase of 4%
over 2000. Growth in advisory fees of 6%, which occurred as a result 
of an increase in average assets under management, was offset
slightly by a decline in distribution revenue related to lower defined
portfolio sales. 

Operating expenses for the year declined 4%. Excluding the impact
of the Symphony acquisition, operating expenses declined 9%. The
decline from 2000 was largely due to a reduction in advertising and
promotional spending, which had been higher in 2000 due to
Nuveen’s brand awareness campaign. 

During 2001, Nuveen utilized a portion of its $250 million revolving
line of credit for general corporate purposes, including day-to-day
cash requirements, share repurchases and funding a portion of the
$208 million acquisition of Symphony. At the end of 2001, $183 mil-
lion was outstanding under the line of credit, and that entire
amount is included in The St. Paul’s reported consolidated debt out-
standing at Dec. 31, 2001. 

Nuveen repurchased common shares from minority shareholders
in 2001, 2000 and 1999 for total costs of $172 million, $51 million
and $36 million, respectively. No shares were repurchased from
The St. Paul in those years; however, our percentage ownership fell
from 78% in 2000 to 77% at the end of 2001 due to Nuveen’s
issuance of additional shares under various stock option and
incentive plans and the issuance of common shares upon the con-
version of a portion of its preferred stock. As part of an ongoing
repurchase program, Nuveen had authority from its board of direc-
tors at Dec. 31, 2001 to repurchase up to approximately 2.4 million
additional common shares. 

On August 9, 2001, Nuveen announced a 3-for-2 split of its common
stock. The stock split was effected as a dividend to shareholders of
record as of Sept. 20, 2001. Shareholders received one additional
share of Nuveen common stock for every two shares they owned as
of the record date. 

2000 vs. 1999 – In 2000, Nuveen’s 7% revenue growth over 1999
was driven by a significant increase in distribution revenues result-
ing from strong sales of defined investment portfolios. In addition,
advisory fees increased over 1999 due to the 4% growth in assets
under management. Gross sales of investment products of
$10.8 billion in 2000 were 23% below the comparable 1999 total of
$14.1 billion, primarily due to a decline in managed account sales
in a volatile market environment. That decline was partially offset,
however, by strong growth in defined portfolio sales. The 4%
increase in expenses over 1999 was primarily due to advertising
expenses associated with Nuveen’s brand awareness campaign.
Nuveen’s consolidated net flows totaled $4.7 billion in 2000, com-
pared with $9.6 billion in 1999. 

2002 Outlook – Nuveen’s positioning as a premier investment man-
agement firm with a specialty focus on risk management and
tax-sensitivity in equity and fixed-income holdings is expected to
serve its advisor customers and institutional investors well in 2002.
Nuveen will continue to strengthen its customer relationships, 
build on and extend its premium brands, and leverage its proven
distribution and service platforms. 
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Capital structure remains solid,
conservative despite record net loss 
in 2001 

the st. paul companies

Capital Resources

Capital resources consist of funds deployed or available to be
deployed to support our business operations. The following table
summarizes the components of our capital resources at the end of
each of the last three years.

December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Shareholders’ equity:

Common equity:

Common stock and retained 

earnings $ 4,692 $ 6,481 $ 5,906

Unrealized appreciation 

of investments and other 364 697 542

Total common 

shareholders’ equity 5,056 7,178 6,448

Preferred shareholders’ equity 58 49 24

Total shareholders’ equity 5,114 7,227 6,472

Debt 2,130 1,647 1,466

Company-obligated mandatorily

redeemable preferred securities

of trusts holding solely subordinated 

debentures of the company 893 337 425

Total capitalization $ 8,137 $ 9,211 $ 8,363

Ratio of debt to total capitalization 26% 18% 18%

Common Equity – Our net loss of $1.09 billion in 2001 was the pri-
mary factor in the 30% decline in common shareholders’ equity
since the end of 2000. In 2000, the 11% increase in common equity
was driven by net income of nearly $1 billion for the year. The fol-
lowing summarizes other major factors impacting our common
shareholders’ equity in the last three years. 

• Common share repurchases. In 2001, we repurchased and retired
13.0 million of our common shares for a total cost of $589 million,
or approximately $45 per share. The share repurchases in 2001
occurred prior to Sept. 11 and represented 6% of our total shares
outstanding at the beginning of the year. In 2000, we repurchased
and retired 17.9 million of our common shares for a total cost of
$536 million (approximately $30 per share), and in 1999, we
repurchased 11.1 million shares for a total cost of $356 million
(approximately $32 per share). The share repurchases in each
year were financed through a combination of internally-generated
funds and new debt issuances. Since our issuance of 66.5 million
shares in April 1998 to consummate our merger with USF&G
Corporation, we had repurchased and retired 45.8 million shares
for a total cost of $1.62 billion through Dec. 31, 2001. 

• Common dividends. We declared common dividends totaling
$235 million in 2001, $232 million in 2000 and $235 million in
1999. In February 2002, The St. Paul’s board of directors declared
a quarterly dividend of $0.29 per share, a 3.6% increase over the
2001 quarterly dividend of $0.28 per share. We have paid divi-
dends in every year since 1872. During those 130 years of
uninterrupted dividend payments, our dividend rate has increased
in 70 of those years, including the last 16 consecutive years. 

• Conversion of preferred securities. In 2000, our wholly-owned sub-
sidiary, St. Paul Capital LLC, exercised its right to cause the
conversion rights of the owners of its $207 million, 6%
Convertible Monthly Income Preferred Securities (“MIPS”) to
expire. Each of the 4,140,000 MIPS outstanding was convertible
into 1.695 shares of our common stock. The MIPS were classified
on our balance sheet as “Company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities of trusts holding solely subordi-
nated debentures of the Company,” as a separate line between
liabilities and shareholders’ equity. Prior to the expiration date,
almost all of the MIPS holders exercised their conversion rights,
resulting in the issuance of 7.0 million of our common shares, and
an increase to our common equity of $207 million. The remaining
MIPS were redeemed for cash at $50 per security, plus accumu-
lated dividends. 

Preferred Equity – Preferred shareholders’ equity consisted of the
par value of the Series B preferred shares we issued to our Stock
Ownership Plan (SOP) Trust, less the remaining principal balance of
the SOP Trust debt. During 2001 and 2000, we made principal pay-
ments of $14 million and $37 million, respectively, on the Trust debt. 

Debt – Consolidated debt outstanding at the end of the last three
years consisted of the following components. 

December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions) 

Commercial paper $ 606 $ 138 $ 400

Medium-term notes 571 617 617

7.875% senior notes 249 249 –

8.125% senior notes 249 249 –

Nuveen line of credit borrowings 183 – –

Zero coupon convertible notes 103 98 94

7.125% senior notes 80 80 80

Variable rate borrowings 64 64 64

Real estate mortgages 2 2 15

8.375% senior notes – 150 150

Floating rate notes – – 46

Total debt obligations 2,107 1,647 1,466

Fair value of interest rate 

swap agreements 23 – –

Total reported debt $ 2,130 $ 1,647 $ 1,466

Debt as a percentage of 

total capitalization 26% 18% 18%

2001 vs. 2000 – Proceeds from the net issuance of $468 million of
additional commercial paper in 2001 were used to fund a portion of
operational cash requirements, common stock repurchases, and
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debt maturing during the year, including our $150 million, 8.375%
senior notes that matured in June and $46 million of medium-term
notes that matured throughout the year. During 2001, Nuveen uti-
lized a portion of its $250 million revolving line of credit for general 
corporate purposes, including funding a portion of its acquisition
of Symphony Asset Management LLC, and the repurchase of its
common shares. At year-end 2001, $183 million, bearing a weighted
average interest rate of approximately 3.1%, was outstanding under
Nuveen’s line of credit agreement. 

At the end of 2001, we were party to a number of interest rate swap
agreements related to several of our debt securities outstanding.
The notional amount of these swaps totaled $230 million, and their
aggregate fair value at Dec. 31, 2001 was $23 million. Upon our
adoption of SFAS No. 133, as amended, on Jan. 1, 2001, we began
recording the fair value of the swap agreements as an asset, with a
corresponding increase to reported debt. 

2000 vs. 1999 – During 2000, we issued $500 million of senior
notes, the proceeds of which were used to repay commercial paper
and for other general corporate purposes. Of the $500 million
issued, $250 million bears an interest rate of 7.875% and is due in
April 2005, and $250 million bears an interest rate of 8.125% and
is due in April 2010. Commercial paper borrowings declined from
$400 million at the end of 1999 to $138 million at Dec. 31, 2000. In
addition, we repaid $46 million of floating rate notes in 2000 that
had been issued by a fully-consolidated special purpose offshore
reinsurance entity we created in 1999. We also repaid $13 million
of mortgage debt associated with two of our real estate invest-
ments in 2000. 

Our total net interest expense related to debt was $110 million in
2001, $115 million in 2000 and $96 million in 1999. 

Company-obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities
of Trusts Holding Solely Subordinated Debentures of the Company–
These securities were issued by five business trusts wholly-owned
by The St. Paul. Each trust was formed for the sole purpose of issu-
ing the preferred securities. St. Paul Capital Trust I was established
in November 2001 and issued $575 million of preferred securities
that make preferred distributions at a rate of 7.6%. These securi-
ties have a mandatory redemption date of Oct.15, 2050, but we can
redeem them on or after Nov. 13, 2006. The proceeds received from
the sale of these securities were used by the issuer to purchase our
subordinated debentures, and $500 million of the net proceeds
were ultimately contributed to the policyholders’ surplus of one of
our insurance subsidiaries. 

MMI Capital Trust I was acquired in our purchase of MMI in 2000.
In 1997, the trust issued $125 million of 30-year redeemable
preferred securities. The securities make preferred distributions 
at a rate of 7.625% and have a mandatory redemption date of
Dec. 15, 2027. 

The remaining three trusts, acquired in the USF&G merger, each
issued $100 million of preferred securities making preferred distri-
butions at rates of 8.5%, 8.47% and 8.312%, respectively. In 2001,
we repurchased and retired $20 million of securities of the 8.5%
trust. In 1999, we repurchased and retired securities of these three
trusts with an aggregate liquidation value of $79 million, comprised
of the following components: $27 million of the 8.5% securities;

$22 million of the 8.47% securities; and $30 million of the 8.312%
securities. The repurchases were made in open market transactions
and were primarily funded through commercial paper borrowings. 

Our total preferred distribution expense related to the preferred
securities was $33 million in 2001, $31 million in 2000, and $36 mil-
lion in 1999. 

Independent Financial Ratings – In the aftermath of the Sept. 11
terrorist attack, certain of the major independent rating organiza-
tions placed our financial ratings under review. The scope of their
respective reviews was subsequently broadened to encompass the
rating implications of the strategic decisions that we announced in
December 2001 regarding our planned exit from certain businesses
and our intent to record significant provisions to strengthen loss
reserves. The rating agencies concluded their reviews in mid-
December concurrent with our strategic announcements and
announced updates to certain ratings. As of Jan. 23, 2002, none 
of the major rating agencies has any of our financial ratings
under review.

We continue to have ready access to liquidity through the capital
markets, including the largest and most liquid sector of the
commercial paper market.

Acquisitions and Divestitures – In September 2001, we sold our life
insurance subsidiary, F&G Life, to Old Mutual plc, for $335 million
in cash and 190.4 million Old Mutual ordinary shares (valued at
$300 million at closing). The cash proceeds received were used for
general corporate purposes. We are required to hold the Old Mutual
common shares for one year after the closing date of the sale. These
shares had a market value of $242 million on Dec. 31, 2001. The sale
proceeds may be adjusted based on the market value of the shares
one year after the closing date of the sale as described on page 15
of this report. We also sold ACLIC, MMI’s life insurance subsidiary,
to CNA for $21 million in cash.

We purchased MMI in April 2000 for approximately $206 million in
cash, and the assumption of $165 million of short-term debt and
preferred securities. The short-term debt of $45 million was retired
subsequent to the acquisition. The cash portion of this transaction
and the repayment of debt was financed with internally-generated
funds. In addition, our purchase of Pacific Select in February 2000
for approximately $37 million in cash was financed with internally-
generated funds. 
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In May 2000, we completed the sale of our nonstandard auto 
operations for a total cash consideration of approximately $175 
million (net of a $25 million dividend paid by these operations to
our property-liability operations prior to closing). In September
1999, we completed the sale of our standard personal insurance
operations to Metropolitan for net proceeds of approximately $272
million. Proceeds from both transactions were used for general 
corporate purposes. 

Capital Commitments – Capital expenditures that we might consider
in 2002 include acquisitions of existing businesses consistent with
our commercial insurance focus, and repurchases of our common
stock. As of year-end 2001 and through Jan. 23, 2002, we had the
authorization to make up to $89 million of common share repur-
chases under a repurchase program approved by our board of
directors in February 2001. We repurchase our shares on the open
market and through private transactions when we deem such repur-
chases to be a prudent use of capital. We made no major capital
improvements during any of the last three years. 

the st. paul companies

Liquidity

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficient cash flows
to meet the short- and long-term cash requirements of our business
operations. Our underwriting operations’ short-term cash needs pri-
marily consist of paying insurance loss and loss adjustment
expenses and day-to-day operating expenses. Those needs are met
through cash receipts from operations, which consist primarily of
insurance premiums collected and investment income. Our invest-
ment portfolio is also a source of additional liquidity, through the
sale of readily marketable fixed maturities, equity securities and
short-term investments, as well as longer-term investments such
as real estate and venture capital holdings. After satisfying our cash
requirements, excess cash flows from these underwriting and
investment activities are used to build the investment portfolio and
thereby increase future investment income. 

Cash flows from continuing operations totaled $884 million in 2001,
compared with cash outflows of $588 million in 2000 and cash
flows of $147 million in 1999. The strong improvement in 2001 was
the result of several factors. In our property-liability operations,
written premiums of $7.76 billion were 32% higher than in 2000,
significantly outpacing the 9% increase in insurance losses and loss
adjustment expenses paid. Our net paid losses and loss adjustment
expenses totaled $5.57 billion in 2001. Premium payments we made
related to our corporate reinsurance program in 2001 totaled $165
million, down significantly from payments of $345 million in 2000.
In addition, we received net federal tax refunds of $54 million in
2001, compared with net federal tax payments of $161 million in
2000. Our asset management segment also contributed approxi-
mately $82 million to the improvement in consolidated operational
cash flows in 2001. 

The deterioration in 2000 operational cash flows compared with
1999 was primarily due to significant loss payments in our
Reinsurance, Health Care and Lloyd’s and Other business segments,
and premium payments totaling $345 million related to our corpo-
rate reinsurance program. Our underwriting cash flows in 1999 were
negatively impacted by the reductions in written premium volume

and investment receipts in our property-liability operations. Also in
1999, we made premium payments totaling $129 million related to
our corporate reinsurance program. The sale of fixed-maturity
investments to fund operational cash flow requirements resulted in
lower levels of investment cash flows in each of the last three years. 

We expect our operational cash flows will be negatively impacted
in 2002 by the magnitude of insurance losses and loss adjustment
expenses payable as a result of the Sept. 11 terrorist attack, as well
as losses payable related to businesses we are exiting, particularly
the medical liability business. Excluding those factors, however, we
expect further improvement in operational cash flows in 2002,
reflecting the benefit of corrective pricing and underwriting actions
in our property-liability operations and expense reduction initia-
tives implemented throughout our operations in recent years. We
believe our financial position is strong and debt level conservative,
which provide us with the flexibility and capacity to obtain funds
externally through debt or equity financings on both a short-term
and long-term basis.

We do not anticipate receiving any cash dividends from our insur-
ance underwriting subsidiaries in 2002. We have sufficient
resources available at the parent company to fund common and
preferred shareholder dividends, interest payments and distribu-
tions on debt and preferred securities, respectively, and other
administrative expenses.

We are not aware of any current recommendations by regulatory
authorities that, if implemented, might have a material impact on
our liquidity, capital resources or operations.

the st. paul companies

Exposures to Market Risk 

Market risk can be described as the risk of change in fair value of a
financial instrument due to changes in interest rates, equity prices,
creditworthiness, foreign exchange rates or other factors.  We seek
to mitigate that risk by a number of actions, as described below.
Our exposure to these risks, and our policies to address these risks,
were unchanged from the previous year.

Interest Rate Risk – Our exposure to market risk for changes in inter-
est rates is concentrated in our investment portfolio, and to a lesser
extent, our debt obligations. However, changes in investment values
attributable to interest rate changes are mitigated by correspon-
ding and partially offsetting changes in the economic value of our
insurance reserves and debt obligations. We monitor this exposure
through periodic reviews of our asset and liability positions. Our
estimates of cash flows, as well as the impact of interest rate fluc-
tuations relating to our investment portfolio and insurance reserves,
are modeled and reviewed quarterly. 

The following table provides principal cash flow estimates by year
for our Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000 inventories of interest-sensitive
investment assets considered to be other than trading. Also pro-
vided are the weighted average interest rates associated with each
year’s cash flows. Principal cash flow projections for collateralized
mortgage obligations were prepared using third-party prepayment
analyses. Cash flow estimates for mortgage passthroughs were pre-
pared using average prepayment rates for the prior three months.
Principal cash flow estimates for callable bonds are either to
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maturity or to the next call date depending on whether the call was
projected to be “in-the-money” assuming no change in interest
rates. No projection of the impact of reinvesting the estimated cash
flows is included in the table, regardless of whether the cash flow
source is a short-term or long-term fixed maturity security. Principal
cash flow projections include securities on loan.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000

Period from Weighted Weighted
balance sheet Principal Average Principal Average
date Cash Flows Interest Rate Cash Flows Interest Rate

(In millions)

fixed maturities, 

short-term 

investments and 

mortgage loans

One year $ 4,416 4.4% $ 4,002 5.6%
Two year 2,017 6.6% 1,698 7.1%
Three years 1,616 7.5% 1,710 7.3%
Four years 1,454 6.5% 1,538 7.8%
Five years 1,562 6.4% 1,428 6.3%
Thereafter 7,547 6.2% 7,428 6.4%

Total $ 18,612 $17,804

Fair Value $ 18,198 $17,222

The following table provides principal runoff estimates by year for
our Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000 inventories of interest-sensitive debt
obligations and related weighted average interest rates by stated
maturity dates. 

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000

Period from Weighted Weighted
balance sheet Principal Average Principal Average
date Cash Flows Interest Rate Cash Flows Interest Rate

(In millions)

medium-term notes, 

zero coupon notes and 

senior notes

One year $ 49 7.5% $ 195 8.1%
Two year 67 6.5% 49 7.5%
Three years 54 7.1% 67 6.5%
Four years 429 7.5% 55 7.1%
Five years 59 7.0% 428 7.5%
Thereafter 635 6.8% 694 6.8%

Total $ 1,293 $ 1,488

Fair Value $ 1,330 $ 1,475

To mitigate a portion of the interest rate risk related to $230 million
notional amount of certain of our fixed rate medium-term and senior
notes, we have entered into a number of pay-floating, receive-fixed
interest rate swap agreements. Of the total notional amount of the
swaps, $80 million matures in 2005 and $150 million matures in
2008, with a weighted average pay rate of 1.26% and a weighted
average receive rate of 6.64%. These swaps had a fair value of
$23 million at Dec. 31, 2001.

The company also has liability for payment under “company-
obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of trusts
holding solely subordinated debentures of the company” that
mature at various times, the earliest of which is 2027. The princi-
pal amounts due under these obligations were $901 million and
$346 million at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, with weighted

average preferred distribution rates of 7.8 % and 8.1 %, respectively.
The fair value of these securities was $893 million and $327 million
as of Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Approximately $575 mil-
lion of the securities are callable at the company’s option after
Nov. 13, 2006. An additional $78 million are callable at the com-
pany’s option between 2007 and their maturity.

Credit Risk – Our portfolios of fixed maturities, mortgage loans and
to a lesser extent short-term investments are subject to credit risk.
This risk is defined as the potential loss in market value resulting
from adverse changes in the borrower’s ability to repay the debt.
Our objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diver-
sified portfolio of securities. We manage this risk by up-front,
stringent underwriting analysis, reviews by a credit committee and
regular meetings to review credit developments. Watchlists are
maintained for exposures requiring additional review, and all credit
exposures are reviewed at least annually. At Dec. 31, 2001, approx-
imately 95% of our property-liability fixed maturity portfolio was
rated investment grade.

We also have other receivable amounts subject to credit risk. The
most significant of these are reinsurance recoverables. To mitigate
credit risk related to these counterparties, we establish business
and financial standards for reinsurer approval, incorporating rat-
ings by major rating agencies and considering current market
information, and obtain letters of credit where deemed necessary.

Foreign Currency Exposure – Our exposure to market risk for
changes in foreign exchange rates is concentrated in our invested
assets, and insurance reserves, denominated in foreign currencies.
Cash flows from our foreign operations are the primary source of
funds for our purchase of investments denominated in foreign cur-
rencies. We purchase these investments primarily to hedge
insurance reserves and other liabilities denominated in the same
currency, effectively reducing our foreign currency exchange rate
exposure. For those foreign insurance operations that were identi-
fied at the end of 2001 as business to be exited, we intend to
continue to closely match the foreign currency-denominated liabil-
ities with assets in the same currency. At Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, approximately 11% and 9% of our invested assets were
denominated in foreign currencies. Invested assets denominated
in the British Pound Sterling comprised approximately 5% of our
total invested assets at Dec. 31, 2001. We have determined that a
hypothetical 10% reduction in the value of the Pound Sterling would
have an approximate $100 million reduction in the value of our
assets, although there would be a similar hypothetical change in
the value of the related insurance reserves. No other individual for-
eign currency accounts for more than 3% of our invested assets.

We have also entered into foreign currency forwards with a U.S.
dollar equivalent notional amount of $128 million as of Dec. 31,
2001 to hedge our foreign currency exposure on certain contracts.
Of this total, 76% are denominated in British Pound Sterling, 14%
are denominated in the Australian dollar, and 10% are denominated
in the Canadian dollar.

Equity Price Risk – Our portfolio of marketable equity securities,
which we carry on our balance sheet at market value, has exposure
to price risk. This risk is defined as the potential loss in market value
resulting from an adverse change in prices. Our objective is to earn
competitive returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of high-qual-
ity, liquid securities. Portfolio characteristics are analyzed regularly
and market risk is actively managed through a variety of modeling
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techniques. Our holdings are diversified across industries, and con-
centrations in any one company or industry are limited by
parameters established by senior management as well as by statu-
tory requirements. 

Included in our equity portfolio at Dec. 31, 2001 was our investment
in Old Mutual plc, received as partial consideration in our sale of F&G
Life. We are prohibited from selling this for one year from the
Sept. 28, 2001 sale date. To mitigate our exposure to price risk on
this investment, we entered into a collar (embedded in the sale
agreement), as discussed in more detail on page 15 of this report.
During the one-year holding period, changes in the fair value of the
Old Mutual stock will be reflected in unrealized appreciation of
investments, net of tax, in shareholders’ equity. Changes in the fair
value of the collar will be reflected in discontinued operations, 
net of tax. 

Our portfolio of venture capital investments also has exposure to
market risks, primarily relating to the viability of the various enti-
ties in which we have invested. These investments, primarily in
early-stage companies, involve more risk than other investments
related to downturns in the economy and equity markets, and we
actively manage our market risk in a variety of ways. First, we allo-
cate a comparatively small amount of funds to venture capital. At
the end of 2001, the cost of these investments accounted for only
4% of total invested assets. Second, the investments are diversi-
fied to avoid concentration of risk in a particular industry. Third, we
perform extensive research prior to investing in a new venture to
gauge prospects for success. Fourth, we regularly monitor the oper-
ational results of the entities in which we have invested. Finally, we
generally sell our holdings in these firms soon after they become
publicly traded and when we are legally able to do so, thereby
reducing exposure to further market risk. 

At Dec. 31, 2001, our marketable equity securities were recorded at
their fair value of $1.41 billion. A hypothetical 10% decline in each
stock’s price would have resulted in a $141 million impact on
fair value.

At Dec. 31, 2001, our venture capital investments were recorded at
their fair value of $859 million. A hypothetical 10% decline in each
investment’s fair value would have resulted in an $86 million impact
on fair value.

Catastrophe Risk – We manage and monitor our aggregate property
catastrophe exposure through various methods, including pur-
chasing catastrophe reinsurance, establishing underwriting
restrictions and applying a dedicated catastrophe-pricing model.

the st. paul companies

Impact of Accounting Pronouncements to Be Adopted
in the Future 

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
establishes financial accounting and reporting for acquired good-
will and other intangible assets. It addresses how intangible assets
that are acquired individually or with a group of other assets (but
not those acquired in a business combination) should be accounted
for in financial statements upon their acquisition. It also addresses
how goodwill and other intangible assets should be accounted for
after they have been initially recognized in the financial statements.
The statement changes current accounting in the way intangible
items with indefinite useful lives, including goodwill, are tested for
impairment on an annual basis. Generally, it also requires that those
assets meeting the criteria for classification as intangible with
estimable useful lives will be amortized, while intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and goodwill will not be amortized.
Previously, all goodwill was required to be amortized over the esti-
mated useful life, not to exceed 40 years. The statement is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. We intend to
implement SFAS No. 142 in the period during which its provisions
become effective. We expect our adoption of this statement to result
in a reduction of approximately $30 million in the amount of our
goodwill amortization in 2002, compared with 2001 amortization.
We have not yet determined if we will be required to recognize an
impairment loss on implementation, as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle.

Also in June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations,” which establishes financial account-
ing and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets and the associated retirement costs. It
requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obli-
gation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset
retirement costs are to be capitalized as part of the carrying amount
of the long-lived asset. This statement is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of
SFAS No. 143 to have a material impact on our financial statements. 

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which addresses
financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal
of long-lived assets. This statement supersedes SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and the accounting and reporting
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30,
“Reporting the Results of Operations – Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual or
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the disposal of
a segment of a business. SFAS No. 144 establishes a single account-
ing model, based on the framework established in SFAS No. 121, for
long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. It also resolves signifi-
cant implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121. This statement
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. We
have not yet determined the impact of adopting this statement. 
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Six-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data
the st. paul companies

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
(In millions, except ratios and per share data)

consolidated

Revenues from continuing operations $ 8,943 $ 7,972 $ 7,149 $ 7,315 $ 7,904 $ 7,536
After-tax income (loss) from continuing operations (1,009) 970 705 187 1,011 1,054

investment activity

Net investment income 1,217 1,262 1,259 1,295 1,320 1,240
Pretax realized investment gains (losses) (94) 632 286 203 409 205

other selected financial data (as of December 31)

Total assets 38,321 35,502 33,418 33,211 32,735 30,971
Debt 2,130 1,647 1,466 1,260 1,304 1,171
Redeemable preferred securities 893 337 425 503 503 307
Common shareholders’ equity 5,056 7,178 6,448 6,621 6,591 5,631
Common shares outstanding 207.6 218.3 224.8 233.7 233.1 230.9

per common share data

Income (loss) from continuing operations (4.84) 4.14 2.89 0.73 4.02 4.09
Year-end book value 24.35 32.88 28.68 28.32 28.27 24.39
Year-end market price 43.97 54.31 33.69 34.81 41.03 29.31
Cash dividends declared 1.12 1.08 1.04 1.00 0.94 0.88

property-liability insurance

Written premiums 7,763 5,884 5,112 5,276 5,682 5,683
Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations (1,400) 1,467 971 298 1,488 1,257
GAAP underwriting result (2,294) (309) (425) (881) (139) (35)
Statutory combined ratio:

Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio 102.5 70.0 72.9 82.2 69.8 68.9
Underwriting expense ratio 28.1 34.8 35.0 35.2 33.5 31.9
Combined ratio 130.6 104.8 107.9 117.4 103.3 100.8
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Independent Auditors’ Report

the board of directors and shareholders 

the st. paul companies, inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of The St. Paul Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of opera-
tions, shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibil-
ity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-
rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prin-
ciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of The St. Paul Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Notes 1 and 8 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2001 the Company adopted the provisions of the
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and, as also
described in Note 1, in 1999 the Company adopted the provisions
of Statement of Position No. 97-3, “Accounting by Insurance and
Other Enterprises for Insurance-Related Assessments.”

KPMG LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
January 23, 2002

Management’s Responsibility 
for Financial Statements

Scope of Responsibility — Management prepares the accompany-
ing financial statements and related information and is responsible
for their integrity and objectivity. The statements were prepared in
conformity with United States generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. These financial statements include amounts that are based
on management’s estimates and judgments, particularly our
reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses. We believe that
these statements present fairly the company’s financial position
and results of operations and that the other information contained
in the annual report is consistent with the financial statements. 

Internal Controls — We maintain and rely on systems of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly authorized
and recorded. We continually monitor these internal accounting
controls, modifying and improving them as business conditions and
operations change. Our internal audit department also independ-
ently reviews and evaluates these controls. We recognize the
inherent limitations in all internal control systems and believe that
our systems provide an appropriate balance between the costs and
benefits desired. We believe our systems of internal accounting con-
trols provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that
would be material to the financial statements are prevented or
detected in the normal course of business. 

Independent Auditors — Our independent auditors, KPMG LLP, have
audited the consolidated financial statements. Their audit was con-
ducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which includes the consideration
of our internal controls to the extent necessary to form an inde-
pendent opinion on the consolidated financial statements prepared
by management. 

Audit Committee — The audit committee of the board of directors,
composed solely of outside directors, assists the board of directors
in overseeing management’s discharge of its financial reporting
responsibilities. The committee meets with management, our direc-
tor of internal audit and representatives of KPMG LLP to discuss
significant changes to financial reporting principles and policies and
internal controls and procedures proposed or contemplated by
management, our internal auditors or KPMG LLP. Additionally, the
committee assists the board of directors in the selection, evalua-
tion and, if applicable, replacement of our independent auditors;
and in the evaluation of the independence of the independent audi-
tors. Both internal audit and KPMG LLP have access to the audit
committee without management’s presence. 

Code of Conduct — We recognize our responsibility for maintaining
a strong ethical climate. This responsibility is addressed in the com-
pany’s written code of conduct.

Jay S. Fishman Thomas A. Bradley
Chairman, President and Chief Financial Officer
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
the st. paul companies

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999
(In millions, except per share data)

revenues

Premiums earned $ 7,296 $ 5,592 $ 5,103
Net investment income 1,217 1,262 1,259
Asset management 359 356 340
Realized investment gains (losses) (94) 632 286
Other 165 130 161

Total revenues 8,943 7,972 7,149

expenses

Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses 7,479 3,913 3,720
Policy acquisition expenses 1,589 1,396 1,321
Operating and administrative expenses 1,306 1,262 1,157

Total expenses 10,374 6,571 6,198
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (1,431) 1,401 951

Income tax expense (benefit) (422) 431 219
Income (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect 

of accounting change (1,009) 970 732
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes — — (27)

Income (loss) from continuing operations (1,009) 970 705
Discontinued operations:

Operating income, net of taxes 19 43 35
Gain (loss) on disposal, net of taxes (98) (20) 94

Gain (loss) from discontinued operations (79) 23 129
Net Income (Loss) $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834

basic earnings (loss) per common share

Income (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect $ (4.84) $ 4.39 $ 3.16
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes — — (0.12)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (0.38) 0.11 0.57

Net Income (Loss) $ (5.22) $ 4.50 $ 3.61

diluted earnings (loss) per common share

Income (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect $ (4.84) $ 4.14 $ 3.00
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes — — (0.11)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (0.38) 0.10 0.52

Net Income (Loss) $ (5.22) $ 4.24 $ 3.41

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
the st. paul companies

December 31 2001 2000
(In millions)

assets

Investments:
Fixed maturities $ 15,911 $ 14,730
Equities 1,410 1,466
Real estate and mortgage loans 972 1,025
Venture capital 859 1,064
Securities on loan 775 1,207
Short-term investments 2,153 2,331
Other investments 98 229

Total investments 22,178 22,052
Cash 151 52
Reinsurance recoverables:

Unpaid losses 6,848 4,651
Paid losses 351 324

Ceded unearned premiums 667 814
Receivables:

Underwriting premiums 3,123 2,937
Interest and dividends 260 277
Other 247 181

Deferred policy acquisition costs 628 576
Deferred income taxes 1,248 930
Office properties and equipment 486 492
Goodwill and intangible assets 690 510
Other assets 1,444 1,706

Total Assets $ 38,321 $ 35,502

liabilities

Insurance reserves:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 22,101 $ 18,196
Unearned premiums 3,957 3,648

Total insurance reserves 26,058 21,844
Debt 2,130 1,647
Payables:

Reinsurance premiums 943 1,060
Income taxes — 170
Accrued expenses and other 1,036 1,031

Securities lending collateral 790 1,231
Other liabilities 1,357 955

Total Liabilities 32,314 27,938
Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of trusts holding 

solely subordinated debentures of the company 893 337

shareholders’ equity

Preferred:
SOP convertible preferred stock 111 117
Guaranteed obligation – SOP (53) (68)

Total Preferred Shareholders’ Equity 58 49
Common:

Common stock 2,192 2,238
Retained earnings 2,500 4,243
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes:

Unrealized appreciation on investments 442 765
Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation (76) (68)
Unrealized loss on derivatives (2) —

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 364 697
Total Common Shareholders’ Equity 5,056 7,178
Total Shareholders’ Equity 5,114 7,227
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Securities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 38,321 $ 35,502

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
the st. paul companies

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)

preferred shareholders’ equity

SOP convertible preferred stock:
Beginning of year $ 117 $ 129 $ 134
Redemptions during the year (6) (12) (5)

End of year 111 117 129
Guaranteed obligation – SOP:

Beginning of year (68) (105) (119)
Principal payments 15 37 14

End of year (53) (68) (105)
Total Preferred Shareholders’ Equity 58 49 24

common shareholders’ equity

Common stock:
Beginning of year 2,238 2,079 2,128
Stock issued:

Stock incentive plans 67 95 37
Preferred shares redeemed 13 23 9
Conversion of company-obligated preferred securities — 207 —

Reacquired common shares (135) (170) (102)
Other 9 4 7

End of year 2,192 2,238 2,079
Retained earnings:

Beginning of year 4,243 3,827 3,480
Net income (loss) (1,088) 993 834
Dividends declared on common stock (235) (232) (235)
Dividends declared on preferred stock, net of taxes (9) (8) (8)
Reacquired common shares (454) (366) (254)
Other changes 43 29 10

End of year 2,500 4,243 3,827
Unrealized appreciation on investments, net of taxes:

Beginning of year 765 568 1,027
Change for the year (323) 197 (459)

End of year 442 765 568
Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation, net of taxes:

Beginning of year (68) (26) (14)
Currency translation adjustments (8) (42) (12)

End of year (76) (68) (26)
Unrealized loss on derivatives, net of taxes:

Beginning of year — — —
Change during the period (2) — —

End of year (2) — —
Total Common Shareholders’ Equity 5,056 7,178 6,448
Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 5,114 $ 7,227 $ 6,472

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
the st. paul companies

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)

Net income (loss) $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Change in unrealized appreciation on investments (323) 197 (459)
Change in unrealized loss on foreign currency translation (8) (42) (12)
Change in unrealized loss on derivatives (2) — —
Other comprehensive income (loss) (333) 155 (471)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (1,421) $ 1,148 $ 363

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
the st. paul companies

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)

operating activities

Net income (loss) $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834
Adjustments:

Loss (income) from discontinued operations 79 (23) (129)
Change in property-liability insurance reserves 4,399 (34) (82)
Change in reinsurance balances (2,109) (807) (502)
Realized investment losses (gains) 94 (632) (286)
Change in deferred acquisition costs (53) (45) 123
Change in insurance premiums receivable (198) (450) (290)
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses (87) 29 145
Change in income taxes payable/refundable (212) (3) 26
Provision for federal deferred tax expense (benefit) (81) 372 102
Depreciation, amortization and goodwill writeoff 180 105 118
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — 30
Other (40) (93) 58

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Continuing Operations 884 (588) 147
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Discontinued Operations 103 25 (197)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 987 (563) (50)

investing activities

Purchases of investments (7,033) (5,154) (4,578)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 6,281 6,290 5,472
Sales (purchases) of short-term investments (256) 199 (466)
Net proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 362 201 251
Change in open security transactions 177 7 (47)
Venture capital partnership distributions 52 57 63
Purchase of office property and equipment (70) (88) (153)
Sales of office property and equipment 9 10 70
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (218) (212) —
Other (15) 4 (19)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Continuing Operations (711) 1,314 593
Net Cash Used by Discontinued Operations (583) (632) (894)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (1,294) 682 (301)

financing activities

Dividends paid on common and preferred stock (245) (241) (246)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 650 498 250
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable preferred securities 575 — —
Repayment of debt (196) (363) (52)
Repurchase of common shares (589) (536) (356)
Subsidiary’s repurchase of common shares (172) (51) (36)
Retirement of preferred securities (40) — (79)
Stock options exercised and other 84 73 7

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Continuing Operations 67 (620) (512)
Net Cash Provided by Discontinued Operations 343 448 873
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities 410 (172) 361

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (4) — —
Increase (Decrease) in Cash 99 (53) 10

Cash at beginning of year 52 105 95
Cash at End of Year $ 151 $ 52 $ 105

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Principles – We prepare our financial statements in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). We follow the accounting standards established
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

Consolidation — We combine our financial statements with those
of our subsidiaries and present them on a consolidated basis. The
consolidated financial statements do not include the results of
material transactions between us and our subsidiaries or among
our subsidiaries. Certain of our foreign underwriting operations’
results are recorded on a one-month to one-quarter lag due to time
constraints in obtaining and analyzing such results for inclusion in
our consolidated financial statements on a current basis. In the
event that significant events occur in these operations during the
lag period, the impact is included in the current period results.

During 2001, we eliminated the one-quarter reporting lag for certain
of our primary underwriting operations in foreign countries. The
effect of reporting these operations on a current basis was a
$31 million increase to our pretax loss on continuing operations.

Related Party Transactions — The following summarizes our related
party transactions.

Indebtedness of Management — We have made loans to certain
executive officers for their purchase of our common stock in 
the open market. These are full-recourse loans, further secured 
by a pledge of the stock purchased with the proceeds. The loans
accrue interest at the applicable federal rate for loans of such
maturity. The total amount receivable under this program, included
in “Other Assets” was $10 million at Dec. 31, 2001 and $13 million
at Dec. 31, 2000. 

Indebtedness of Venture Capital Management — We have made
loans to certain members of management of our Venture Capital
investment operation. The loans are secured by each individual’s
ownership interest in the Venture Capital LLCs, and accrue interest
at the applicable federal rate for loans of such maturity. The total
amount receivable under this program, included in “Other Assets”
at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, was $6 million and $3 million, respectively.

Discontinued Operations — In 2001, we sold our life insurance
operations; in 2000, we sold our nonstandard auto business; and
in 1999, we sold our standard personal insurance business.
Accordingly, the results of operations for all years presented reflect
the results for these businesses as discontinued operations. 
At Dec. 31, 2000, our consolidated balance sheet reflected the
$587 million in net assets of our life insurance operations in 
“Other Assets.” 

Reclassifications — We reclassified certain amounts in our 2000
and 1999 financial statements and notes to conform with the 2001
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on net income,
or common or preferred shareholders’ equity, as previously reported
for those years. 

Use of Estimates — We make estimates and assumptions that have
an effect on the amounts that we report in our financial statements.
Our most significant estimates are those relating to our reserves for
property-liability losses and loss adjustment expenses. We
continually review our estimates and make adjustments as
necessary, but actual results could turn out to be significantly
different from what we expected when we made these estimates. 

accounting for our property-liability

underwriting operations 

Premiums Earned — Premiums on insurance policies are our largest
source of revenue. We recognize the premiums as revenues evenly
over the policy terms using the daily pro rata method or, in the case
of our Lloyd’s business, the one-eighths method. Lloyd’s premiums
are compiled from quarterly reports. To “earn” these written
premiums we assume that they are written at the middle of each
quarter, which results in eight earning periods in each year.

We record the premiums that we have not yet recognized as 
revenues as unearned premiums on our balance sheet. Assumed
reinsurance premiums are recognized as revenues proportionately
over the contract period. Premiums earned are recorded in our
statement of operations, net of our cost to purchase reinsurance.

Insurance Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses — Losses
represent the amounts we paid or expect to pay to claimants for
events that have occurred. The costs of investigating, resolving and
processing these claims are known as loss adjustment expenses
(“LAE”). We record these items on our statement of operations net
of reinsurance, meaning that we reduce our gross losses and loss
adjustment expenses incurred by the amounts we have recovered
or expect to recover under reinsurance contracts. 

Reinsurance — Written premiums, earned premiums and incurred
insurance losses and LAE all reflect the net effects of assumed and
ceded reinsurance transactions. Assumed reinsurance refers to our
acceptance of certain insurance risks that other insurance compa-
nies have underwritten. Ceded reinsurance means other insurance
companies have agreed to share certain risks with us. Reinsurance
accounting is followed for assumed and ceded transactions when
risk transfer requirements have been met. These requirements
involve significant assumptions being made related to the amount
and timing of expected cash flows, as well as the interpretation of
underlying contract terms.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
the st. paul companies
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Insurance Reserves — We establish reserves for the estimated total
unpaid cost of losses and LAE, which cover events that occurred in
2001 and prior years. These reserves reflect our estimates of the
total cost of claims that were reported to us, but not yet paid, and
the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported to us (“IBNR”). We
reduce our loss reserves for estimated amounts of salvage and sub-
rogation recoveries. Estimated amounts recoverable from reinsurers
on unpaid losses and LAE are reflected as assets.

For reported losses, we establish reserves on a “case” basis within
the parameters of coverage provided in the insurance policy or
reinsurance agreement. For IBNR losses, we estimate reserves using
established actuarial methods. Our case and IBNR reserve estimates
consider such variables as past loss experience, changes in
legislative conditions, changes in judicial interpretation of legal
liability and policy coverages, and inflation. We consider not only
monetary increases in the cost of what we insure, but also changes
in societal factors that influence jury verdicts and case law and, in
turn, claim costs.

Because many of the coverages we offer involve claims that may
not ultimately be settled for many years after they are incurred,
subjective judgments as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an
integral and necessary component of our loss reserving process.
We record our reserves by considering a range of estimates bounded
by a high and low point. Within that range, we record our best
estimate. We continually review our reserves, using a variety of
statistical and actuarial techniques to analyze current claim costs,
frequency and severity data, and prevailing economic, social and
legal factors. We adjust reserves established in prior years as loss
experience develops and new information becomes available.
Adjustments to previously estimated reserves are reflected in our
financial results in the periods in which they are made. 

While our reported reserves make a reasonable provision for our
unpaid loss and LAE obligations, it should be noted that the process
of estimating required reserves does, by its very nature, involve
uncertainty. The level of uncertainty can be influenced by factors
such as the existence of coverage with long duration payment pat-
terns and changes in claim handling practices, as well as the factors
noted above. Ultimate actual payments for claims and LAE could
turn out to be significantly different from our estimates. 

Our liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE related to tabular workers’
compensation and certain assumed reinsurance coverage are
discounted to the present value of estimated future payments. Prior
to discounting, these liabilities totaled $948 million and $890 million
at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The total discounted liability
reflected on our balance sheet was $768 million and $681 million
at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The liability for workers’
compensation was discounted using rates of up to 3.5%, based on
state-prescribed rates. The liability for certain assumed reinsurance
coverage was discounted using rates up to 7.5%, based on our

return on invested assets or, in many cases, on yields contractually
guaranteed to us on funds held by the ceding company, as permitted
by the state of domicile.

Lloyd’s — We participate in Lloyd’s as an investor in underwriting
syndicates and as the owner of a managing agency. We record our
pro rata share of syndicate assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, after making adjustments to convert Lloyd’s accounting
to U.S. GAAP. The most significant U.S. GAAP adjustments relate to
income recognition. Lloyd’s syndicates determine underwriting
results by year of account at the end of three years. We record
adjustments to recognize underwriting results as incurred, including
the expected ultimate cost of losses incurred. These adjustments
to losses are based on actuarial analysis of syndicate accounts,
including forecasts of expected ultimate losses provided by the
syndicates. The results of our operations at Lloyd’s are recorded on
a one-quarter lag due to time constraints in obtaining and analyzing
such results for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements
on a current basis.

Policy Acquisition Expenses — The costs directly related to writing
an insurance policy are referred to as policy acquisition expenses
and consist of commissions, state premium taxes and other direct
underwriting expenses. Although these expenses are incurred when
we issue a policy, we defer and amortize them over the same period
as the corresponding premiums are recorded as revenues. 

On a regular basis, we perform a recoverability analysis of the
deferred policy acquisition costs in relation to the expected
recognition of revenues, including anticipated investment income,
and reflect adjustments, if any, as period costs. Should the 
analysis indicate that the acquisition costs are unrecoverable, 
further analyses are performed to determine if a reserve is 
required to provide for losses which may exceed the related
unearned premiums.

Guarantee Fund and Other Insurance-Related Assessments —
Effective Jan. 1, 1999, we adopted the provisions of the AICPA
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-3, “Accounting by Insurance and
Other Enterprises for Insurance-Related Assessments.” As a result,
we established an accrual related to estimated future guarantee
fund payments based on a three-year average of paid assessments.
We also accrue for specific known events and insolvencies. An asset
is recorded related to future premium tax offsets for those states in
which we are able to take a premium tax credit. We recorded in
income from continuing operations a pretax expense of $41 million
($27 million after-tax) in the first quarter of 1999 representing the
cumulative effect of adopting the provisions of this SOP related to
our property-liability insurance business. The accrual is expected
to be disbursed as assessed during a period of up to 30 years.
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accounting for our asset management operations 

The results of The John Nuveen Company (“Nuveen”) are reflected
as our asset management segment. We held a 77% and 78% 
interest in Nuveen on Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Nuveen
sponsors and markets open-end and closed-end (exchange-traded)
managed funds, defined portfolios (unit investment trusts) and
individual managed accounts. Nuveen’s core businesses are asset
management, and the development, marketing and distribution 
of investment products and services for advisors to the affluent,
high net worth and institutional market segments. Nuveen
distributes its retail investment products and services, including
mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, defined portfolios and
individual managed accounts, to the affluent and high net worth
market segments through unaffiliated intermediary firms including
broker-dealers, commercial banks, affiliates of insurance providers,
financial planners, accountants, consultants and investment
advisors. Nuveen provides investment products and services directly
to the institutional market.

In July 2001, Nuveen acquired Symphony Asset Management, LLC
(“Symphony”), an institutional money manager, with approximately
$4 billion in assets under management. As a result of the
acquisition, Nuveen’s product offerings were expanded to include
managed accounts and funds designed to reduce risk through
market-neutral and other strategies in several equity and fixed-
income asset classes for institutional investors.

Nuveen regularly purchases and holds for resale municipal securities
and defined portfolio units. The level of inventory maintained by
Nuveen will fluctuate daily and is dependent upon the need to
support on-going sales. These inventory securities are carried at
market value. Prior to the sale of its investment banking operation
in the third quarter of 1999, Nuveen also underwrote and traded
municipal bonds and maintained inventories of such securities in
connection with that business. 

Nuveen’s principal sources of revenue are investment advisory fees,
revenues from the distribution of defined portfolio and mutual fund
products, and fees earned on certain institutional accounts based
on their performance.

We consolidate 100% of Nuveen’s assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, with reductions on the balance sheet and statement of
operations for the minority shareholders’ proportionate interest in
Nuveen’s equity and earnings. Minority interest of $93 million and
$88 million was recorded in other liabilities at the end of 2001 and
2000, respectively. 

Nuveen repurchased and retired 4.1 million and 1.2 million of its
common shares from minority shareholders in 2001 and 2000,
respectively, for a total cost of $172 million in 2001 and $51 million in
2000. No shares were repurchased from The St. Paul in those years;
however our percentage ownership fell from 78% at Dec. 31, 2000,
to 77% at Dec. 31, 2001, due to Nuveen’s issuance of additional

shares under various stock option and incentive plans and the
issuance of common shares upon the conversion of a portion of its
preferred stock. During 2001, Nuveen completed a 3-for-2 stock split
of its common stock, effected as a dividend to shareholders of record
as of Sept. 20, 2001.

accounting for our investments 

Fixed Maturities — Our fixed maturity portfolio is composed
primarily of high-quality, intermediate-term taxable U.S. government,
corporate and mortgage-backed bonds, and tax-exempt U.S.
municipal bonds. Our entire fixed maturity investment portfolio is
classified as available-for-sale. Accordingly, we carry that portfolio
on our balance sheet at estimated fair value. Fair values are based
on quoted market prices, where available, from a third-party pricing
service. If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
estimated using values obtained from independent pricing services
or a cash flow estimate is used.

Equities — Our equity securities are also classified as available-for-
sale and carried at estimated fair value, which is based on quoted
market prices obtained from a third-party pricing service. 

Real Estate and Mortgage Loans — Our real estate investments
include warehouses and office buildings and other commercial land
and properties that we own directly or in which we have a partial
interest through joint ventures with other investors. Our mortgage
loan investments consist of fixed-rate loans collateralized by
apartment, warehouse and office properties. 

For direct real estate investments, we carry land at cost and
buildings at cost less accumulated depreciation and valuation
adjustments. We depreciate real estate assets on a straight-line
basis over 40 years. Tenant improvements are amortized over the
term of the corresponding lease. The accumulated depreciation of
our real estate investments was $153 million and $133 million at
Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 

We use the equity method of accounting for our real estate joint
ventures, which means we carry these investments at cost, adjusted
for our share of earnings or losses, and reduced by cash
distributions from the joint ventures and valuation adjustments.
Due to time constraints in obtaining financial results, the results of
these operations are recorded on a one-month lag. If events occur
during the lag period which are significant to our consolidated
results, the impact is included in the current period results.  

We carry our mortgage loans at the unpaid principal balances less
any valuation adjustments, which approximates fair value. Valuation
allowances are recognized for loans with deterioration in collateral
performance that is deemed other than temporary. The estimated
fair value of mortgage loans was $134 million and $185 million at
Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000 respectively.
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Venture Capital — Our venture capital investments represent
ownership interests in small- to medium-sized companies. These
investments are made through limited partnerships or direct
ownership. The limited partnerships are carried at our equity in the
estimated market value of the investments held by these limited
partnerships. The investments we own directly are carried at
estimated fair value. Fair values are based on quoted market prices
obtained from third-party pricing services for publicly traded stock,
or an estimate of value as determined by an internal management
committee for privately-held securities. Certain publicly traded
securities may be carried at a discount of 10-35% of the quoted
market price, due to the impact of various restrictions which limit
our ability to sell the stock. Due to time constraints in obtaining
financial results, the operations of the limited partnerships are
recorded on a one-quarter lag. If security-specific events occur
during the lag period that are significant to our consolidated results,
the impact is included in the current period results. 

Securities on Loan — We participate in a securities lending program
whereby certain securities from our portfolio are loaned to other
institutions for short periods of time. We receive a fee from the
borrower in return. Our policy is to require collateral equal to 
102 percent of the fair value of the loaned securities. We maintain
full ownership rights to the securities loaned, and continue to earn
interest on them. In addition, we have the ability to sell the securities
while they are on loan. We have an indemnification agreement with
the lending agents in the event a borrower becomes insolvent or
fails to return securities. We record securities lending collateral as
a liability. The proceeds from the collateral are invested in short-term
investments and are reported on the balance sheet. We share a
portion of the interest earned on these short-term investments with
the borrower. The fair value of the securities on loan is reclassified
as a securities lending asset. 

Realized Investment Gains and Losses — We record the cost of each
individual investment so that when we sell an investment, we are
able to identify and record that transaction’s gain or loss on our
statement of operations. 

We monitor the difference between the cost and estimated fair value
of our investments. If any of our investments experience a decline
in value that we believe is other than temporary, we write down the
asset for the decline and record a realized loss on the statement 
of operations. 

Unrealized Appreciation or Depreciation on Investments — For
investments we carry at estimated fair value, including those related
to discontinued operations at Dec. 31, 2000, we record the difference
between cost and fair value, net of deferred taxes, as a part of
common shareholders’ equity. This difference is referred to as
unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investments. The change
in unrealized appreciation or depreciation during the year is a
component of other comprehensive income.

derivative financial instruments

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” which establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities. This
statement required all derivatives to be recorded at fair value on
the balance sheet and established new accounting rules for hedging.
In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — Deferral of the
Effective Date of SFAS No. 133,” which amended SFAS No. 133 to
make it effective for all quarters of fiscal years beginning after June
15, 2000. In June 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 138, “Accounting
for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,”
as an additional amendment to SFAS No. 133, to address a limited
number of issues causing implementation difficulties. Effective Jan. 1,
2001, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended. See
Note 8 for further information regarding the impact of the adoption
on our financial statements.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, our policy as of January 1, 2001 is
to record all derivatives on our balance sheet at fair value. The
accounting for the gain or loss due to changes in the fair value of
these instruments is dependent on whether the derivative qualifies
as a hedge. If the derivative does not qualify as a hedge, the gains
or losses are reported in earnings when they occur. If the derivative
does qualify as a hedge, the accounting varies based on the type
of risk being hedged. Generally, however, the portion of the hedge
deemed effective is recorded on the balance sheet, and the portion
deemed ineffective is recorded in the statement of operations. 

Fair value for our derivatives is based on quoted market rates
obtained from third party pricing services or, in the case of an
embedded collar, on a Black Scholes valuation.

Prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 133 in 2001, related to our use of
forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency exposure to our net
investment in our foreign operations, we reflected the movements
of foreign currency exchange rates as unrealized gains or losses,
net of tax, as part of our common shareholders’ equity. If unrealized
gains or losses on the foreign currency hedge exceeded the
offsetting currency translation gain or loss on the investments in
the foreign operations, they were included in the statement of
operations. Prior to 2001, our interest rate swap agreements were
not recorded on our balance sheet.

cash restrictions

Lloyd’s solvency requirements call for certain of our funds to be 
held in trust in amounts sufficient to meet claims. These funds
amounted to $76 million and $102 million at Dec. 31, 2001 and 
2000, respectively. 
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goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is the excess of the amount we paid to acquire a company
over the fair value of its net assets, reduced by amortization and
any subsequent valuation adjustments. Intangible assets arise from
the purchase from another entity of contractual or other legal rights,
or an asset capable of being separated and sold. We amortize
goodwill and intangible assets over periods of up to 40 years,
generally on a straight-line basis. The accumulated amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets was $257 million and $216 million
at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” which established financial accounting and 
reporting standards for business combinations. It required all
business combinations initiated subsequent to June 30, 2001 to be
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. In addition,
this statement required that intangible assets that can be identified
and meet certain criteria be recognized as assets apart from
goodwill. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 via Nuveen’s
2001 acquisition of Symphony. Nuveen recorded an intangible asset
estimated to be in the amount of $53 million related to the purchase,
which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average of ten
years, and goodwill estimated to be in the amount of $151 million,
which will not be amortized, but will be evaluated for possible
impairment on an annual basis. (Goodwill acquired in a business
combination completed after the adoption of SFAS No. 141, but
before the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” is not amortized.)

impairments of long-lived assets and intangibles

We monitor the recoverability of the value of our long-lived assets
to be held and used based on our estimate of the future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to result from
the use of the asset and its eventual disposition considering any
events or changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying
value of an asset may not be recoverable. We monitor the value 
of our goodwill based on our estimates of discounted future
earnings. If either estimate is less than the carrying amount of 
the asset, we reduce the carrying value to fair value with a
corresponding charge to expenses. We monitor the value of our
long-lived assets, and certain identifiable intangibles, to be disposed
of and report them at the lower of carrying value or fair value less
our estimated cost to sell.

office properties and equipment 

We carry office properties and equipment at depreciated cost. We
depreciate these assets on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The accumulated depreciation for office
properties and equipment was $483 million and $452 million at the
end of 2001 and 2000, respectively. 

internally developed software costs

We capitalize certain internally developed software costs incurred
during the application development stage of a project. These costs
include external direct costs associated with the project and payroll
and related costs for employees who devote time to the project. We
begin to amortize costs once the software is ready for its intended
use, and amortize them over the software’s expected useful life,
generally five years.

At Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, we had $50 million and
$42 million of unamortized internally developed computer software
costs and recorded $7 million and $3 million of amortization
expense during 2001 and 2000, respectively.

foreign currency translation 

We assign functional currencies to our foreign operations, which
are generally the currencies of the local operating environment.
Foreign currency amounts are remeasured to the functional currency,
and the resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are reflected in
the statement of operations. Functional currency amounts are then
translated into U.S. dollars. The unrealized gain or loss from this
translation, net of tax, is recorded as a part of common shareholders’
equity. The change in unrealized foreign currency translation gain
or loss during the year, net of tax, is a component of comprehensive
income. Both the remeasurement and translation are calculated
using current exchange rates for the balance sheets and average
exchange rates for the statements of operations. 

supplemental cash flow information

Interest and Income Taxes Paid — We paid interest on debt and
distributions on redeemable preferred securities of trusts of
$133 million in 2001, $134 million in 2000 and $128 million in 
1999. We received net federal income tax refunds of $54 million in
2001, and paid federal income taxes of $161 million in 2000 and
$73 million in 1999.

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities — In September 2001,
related to the sale of our life insurance subsidiary to Old Mutual plc,
we received approximately 190 million shares of Old Mutual common
stock as partial consideration. The shares were valued at $300 million
at the time of closing. In August 2000, we issued 7,006,954 common
shares in connection with the conversion of over 99% of the
$207 million of 6% Convertible Monthly Income Preferred Securities
issued by St. Paul Capital LLC (our wholly-owned subsidiary).
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September 11, 2001 Terrorist Attack 

On September 11, 2001, terrorists hijacked four commercial
passenger jets in the United States. Two of the jets were flown into
the World Trade Center towers in New York, N.Y., causing their
collapse. The third jet was flown into the Pentagon building in
Washington, D.C., causing severe damage, and the fourth jet crashed
in rural Pennsylvania. This terrorist attack caused significant loss of
life and resulted in unprecedented losses for the property-liability
insurance industry.

Our estimated gross pretax losses and loss adjustment expenses
incurred as a result of the terrorist attack totaled $2.3 billion. The
estimated net pretax operating loss of $941 million from that event
included an estimated benefit of $1.2 billion from cessions made
under various reinsurance agreements, a $47 million provision for
uncollectible reinsurance, a net $83 million benefit from additional
and reinstatement premiums, and a $91 million reduction in
contingent commission expenses in our Reinsurance segment.

Our estimated losses were based on a variety of actuarial
techniques, coverage interpretation and claims estimation
methodologies, and included an estimate of losses incurred but not
reported, as well as estimated costs related to the settlement of
claims. Our estimate of losses is also based on our belief that
property-liability insurance losses from the terrorist attack will total
between $30 billion and $35 billion for the insurance industry. Our
estimate of industry losses is subject to significant uncertainties
and may change over time as additional information becomes
available. A material increase in our estimate of industry losses
would likely cause us to make a corresponding material increase to
our provision for losses related to the attack. 

Our estimated after-tax loss of $612 million ($941 million pretax) is
recorded in our 2001 statement of operations in the following line
items. The tax benefit has been calculated at the statutory rate of 35%.

(In millions)

Premiums earned $ 83
Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses (1,115)
Operating and administrative expenses 91

Loss from continuing operations, before income taxes (941)
Income tax benefit 329

Loss from continuing operations $ (612)

The estimated net pretax loss of $941 million was distributed among
our property-liability business segments as follows.

(In millions)

Specialty Commercial $ 89
Commercial Lines Group 108
Surety & Construction 2
Health Care 5
Lloyd’s & Other 181

Total Primary Insurance 385
Reinsurance 556

Total Property-Liability Insurance $ 941

3

December 2001 Strategic Review 

In October 2001, we announced that we were undertaking a
thorough review of each of our business operations under the
direction of our new chief executive officer. On completion of that
review in December 2001, we announced a series of actions
designed to improve our profitability, summarized as follows.

• We will exit, on a global basis, all business underwritten in our
Health Care segment through ceasing to write new business and
the non-renewal of business upon policy expiration, in
accordance with regulatory requirements. 

• We will narrow the product offerings and geographic presence of
our reinsurance operation. We will no longer underwrite aviation
or bond and credit reinsurance, or offer certain financial risk and
capital markets reinsurance products. We will also substantially
reduce the North American business we underwrite in London.
Our reinsurance operation will focus on several areas, including
property catastrophe reinsurance, excess-of-loss casualty
reinsurance, and marine and traditional finite reinsurance. 

• At Lloyd’s, we will exit most of our casualty insurance and
reinsurance business, in addition to U.S. surplus lines and certain
non-marine reinsurance lines. We will continue to underwrite
aviation, marine, financial and professional services, property
insurance, kidnap and ransom, accident and health, creditor and
other personal specialty products. 

• We will also exit those countries where we are not likely to
achieve competitive scale, and are pursuing the sale of certain
of these international operations. We will continue to underwrite
business through our offices in Canada, the United Kingdom and
Ireland, and we will continue to underwrite surety business in
Mexico through our subsidiary, Afianzadora Insurgentes.

• We will reduce corporate overhead expenses, primarily through
staff reductions. 

The following table presents the premiums earned and underwriting
results for 2001, 2000 and 1999 for the businesses to be exited
under these actions. 

2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Premiums earned $ 1,609 $ 1,277 $ 857

Underwriting results (1,515) (433) (241)

In connection with these actions, we wrote off $73 million of
goodwill related to businesses to be exited, of which $56 million
related to our Health Care segment and $10 million related to our
operations at Lloyd’s. The remaining goodwill written off was related
to our operations in Spain and Australia. In addition, we recorded
a $62 million pretax restructuring charge related to the termination
of employees and other costs to exit these businesses. See Note 16
for a discussion of this charge.
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Acquisitions 

Fireman’s Fund Surety Business — In December 2001, we purchased
the right to seek to renew surety bond business previously
underwritten by Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company (“Fireman’s
Fund”). We paid Fireman’s Fund $10 million in 2001 for this right,
which was recorded as an intangible asset and is expected to be
amortized over ten years. Based on the volume of business renewed,
we may be obligated to make an additional payment to Fireman’s
Fund in early 2003 (see Note 15). 

Penco — In January 2001, we acquired the right to seek to renew a
book of municipality insurance business from Penco, a program
administrator for Willis North America Inc., for total consideration
of $3.5 million. We recorded that amount as an intangible asset and
expect to amortize it over five years.

MMI — In April 2000, we closed on our acquisition of MMI
Companies, Inc. (“MMI”), a Deerfield, IL-based provider of medical
services-related insurance products and consulting services. The
transaction was accounted for as a purchase, with a total purchase
price of approximately $206 million, in addition to the assumption
of $165 million in preferred securities and debt. The final purchase
price adjustments resulted in an excess of purchase price over net
tangible assets acquired of approximately $85 million, which we
expected to amortize on a straight-line basis over 15 years. 

Prior to the acquisition, MMI recorded a $93 million provision to
strengthen their loss reserves, with $77 million reflected in their
domestic operations and $16 million reflected in Unionamerica, their
U.K.-based international operations.

As part of the strategic review discussed in Note 3, we decided to
exit the Health Care liability insurance business, including that
obtained through the MMI acquisition. Accordingly, in December
2001, we wrote off $56 million in goodwill associated with the
underwriting operations of MMI. As of Dec. 31, 2001, the remaining
$8 million of unamortized goodwill related to the consulting
business obtained in the purchase. 

Pacific Select — In February 2000, we closed on our acquisition of
Pacific Select Insurance Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiary Pacific Select Property Insurance Co. (together, “Pacific
Select”), a California insurer that sells earthquake coverage to
California homeowners. The transaction was accounted for as a
purchase, at a cost of approximately $37 million. We recorded
goodwill of approximately $11 million, which we are amortizing on
a straight-line basis over ten years. Pacific Select’s results of
operations from the date of purchase are included in our 2000
consolidated results.

5

Earnings Per Common Share 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

earnings

Basic

Net income (loss), as reported $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834

Preferred stock dividends, net of taxes (9) (8) (8)

Premium on preferred shares 

redeemed (8) (11) (4)

Net income (loss) available to 

common shareholders $ (1,105) $ 974 $ 822

Diluted

Net income (loss) available to 

common shareholders $ (1,105) $ 974 $ 822

Effect of dilutive securities:

Convertible preferred stock — 6 6

Zero coupon convertible notes — 3 3

Convertible monthly income 

preferred securities — 5 8

Net income (loss) available to 

common shareholders $ (1,105) $ 988 $ 839

common shares

Basic

Weighted average common shares 

outstanding 212 217 228

Diluted

Weighted average common shares 

outstanding 212 217 228

Weighted average effects of 

dilutive securities:

Stock options — 3 2

Convertible preferred stock — 7 7

Zero coupon convertible notes — 2 2

Convertible monthly income 

preferred securities — 4 7

Total 212 233 246

earnings (loss) per common share

Basic $ (5.22) $ 4.50 $ 3.61

Diluted $ (5.22) $ 4.24 $ 3.41

The assumed conversion of preferred stock and zero coupon notes
are each anti-dilutive to our net loss per share for the year ended
Dec. 31, 2001, and therefore not included in the EPS calculation. The
convertible monthly income preferred securities were fully converted
or redeemed during 2000. 
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Statutory Deposits — At Dec. 31, 2001, our property-liability
operation had investments in fixed maturities with an estimated fair
value of $852 million on deposit with regulatory authorities as
required by law. 

Restricted Investments — Our subsidiaries Unionamerica and
St. Paul Re-U.K. are required, as accredited U.S. reinsurers, to hold
certain investments in trust in the United States. These trust funds
had a fair value of $514 million at Dec. 31, 2001. Additionally,
Unionamerica has funds deposited with third parties to be used as
collateral to secure various liabilities on behalf of insureds, cedants
and other creditors. These funds had a fair value of $53 million at
Dec. 31, 2001. 

Fixed Maturities by Maturity Date — The following table presents
the breakdown of our fixed maturities by years to stated maturity.
Actual maturities may differ from those stated as a result of calls
and prepayments. 

Amortized Estimated
December 31, 2001 Cost Fair Value

(In millions)

One year or less $ 971 $ 986
Over one year through five years 4,586 4,801
Over five years through 10 years 3,457 3,567
Over 10 years 3,725 3,889
Asset-backed securities with 

various maturities 115 116
Mortgage-backed securities with 

various maturities 2,493 2,552

Total $ 15,347 $ 15,911

6

Investments

Valuation of Investments — The following presents the cost, gross unrealized appreciation and depreciation, and estimated fair value of
our investments in fixed maturities, equities, venture capital and securities on loan. 

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 2001 Cost Appreciation Depreciation Fair Value

(In millions)

Fixed maturities:

U.S. government $ 1,197 $ 74 $ (1) $ 1,270

State and political subdivisions 4,720 231 (3) 4,948

Foreign governments 1,168 44 (11) 1,201

Corporate securities 5,654 220 (50) 5,824

Asset-backed securities 115 4 (3) 116

Mortgage-backed securities 2,493 65 (6) 2,552

Total fixed maturities 15,347 638 (74) 15,911

Equities 1,415 107 (112) 1,410

Venture capital 766 210 (117) 859

Securities on loan 739 40 (4) 775

Total $18,267 $ 995 $ (307) $18,955

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 2000 Cost Appreciation Depreciation Fair Value

(In millions)

Fixed maturities:

U.S. government $ 818 $ 35 $ (1) $ 852

State and political subdivisions 5,089 258 (1) 5,346

Foreign governments 999 37 (7) 1,029

Corporate securities 5,021 113 (74) 5,060

Asset-backed securities 117 2 (9) 110

Mortgage-backed securities 2,309 38 (14) 2,333

Total fixed maturities 14,353 483 (106) 14,730

Equities 1,124 418 (76) 1,466

Venture capital 657 438 (31) 1,064

Securities on loan 1,157 65 (15) 1,207

Total $ 17,291 $ 1,404 $ (228) $18,467
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Investment Transactions

Investment Activity — Following is a summary of our investment
purchases, sales and maturities. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

purchases

Fixed maturities $ 4,959 $ 2,489 $ 2,818

Equities 1,737 2,168 1,403

Real estate and mortgage loans 27 3 130

Venture capital 287 446 218

Other investments 23 48 9

Total purchases 7,033 5,154 4,578

proceeds from sales and maturities

Fixed maturities:

Sales 2,035 1,739 1,726

Maturities and redemptions 2,200 1,406 1,858

Equities 1,732 2,183 1,438

Real estate and mortgage loans 100 265 133

Venture capital 50 663 283

Other investments 164 34 34

Total sales and maturities 6,281 6,290 5,472

Net purchases (sales) $ 752 $ (1,136) $ (894)

Net Investment Income — Following is a summary of our net
investment income.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Fixed maturities $ 1,069 $ 1,090 $ 1,104

Equities 16 16 17

Real estate and mortgage loans 115 91 86

Venture capital (4) (1) (1)

Securities on loan 2 2 2

Other investments 3 4 10

Short-term investments 55 83 66

Total 1,256 1,285 1,284

Investment expenses (39) (23) (25)

Net investment income $ 1,217 $ 1,262 $ 1,259

Realized and Unrealized Investment Gains (Losses) — The following
summarizes our pretax realized investment gains and losses, and
the change in unrealized appreciation of investments recorded in
common shareholders’ equity and in comprehensive income. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

pretax realized investments 

gains (losses)

Fixed maturities:

Gross realized gains $ 28 $ 29 $ 10

Gross realized losses (105) (58) (29)

Total fixed maturities (77) (29) (19)

Equities:

Gross realized gains 276 296 224

Gross realized losses (280) (201) (97)

Total equities (4) 95 127

Real estate and mortgage loans 12 4 18

Venture capital (43) 554 158

Other investments 18 8 2

Total pretax realized 

investment gains (losses) $ (94) $ 632 $ 286

change in unrealized appreciation

Fixed maturities $ 187 $ 457 $ (997)

Equities (347) (199) 223

Venture capital net of minority interest (314) (61) 286

Other (80) 47 (44)

Total change in pretax unrealized 

appreciation on continuing 

operations (554) 244 (532)

Change in deferred taxes 214 (88) 185

Total change in unrealized 

appreciation on continuing 

operations, net of taxes (340) 156 (347)

Change in pretax unrealized 

appreciation on discontinued 

operations 26 63 (173)

Change in deferred taxes (9) (22) 61

Total change in unrealized 

appreciation on discontinued 

operations, net of taxes 17 41 (112)

Total change in unrealized 

appreciation, net of taxes $ (323) $ 197 $ (459)
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Derivative Financial Instruments 

Derivative financial instruments include futures, forward, swap and
option contracts and other financial instruments with similar
characteristics. We have had limited involvement with these
instruments, primarily for purposes of hedging against fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and movement in
the price of a particular investment. All investments, including
derivative instruments, have some degree of market and credit risk
associated with them. However, the market risk on our derivatives
substantially offsets the market risk associated with fluctuations in
interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and market prices.
We seek to reduce our credit risk exposure by conducting derivative
transactions only with reputable, investment-grade counterparties.

Effective Jan. 1, 2001, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended (“SFAS No. 133”). The statement requires the recognition
of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet,
carried at fair value. In accordance with the statement, derivatives
are specifically designated into one of three categories based on
their intended use, and the applicable category dictates the
accounting for each derivative. We have held the following
derivatives, by category.

Fair Value Hedges — We have several pay-floating, receive-fixed
interest rate swaps, totaling $230 million notional amount, that are
designated as fair value hedges of a portion of our medium-term
and senior notes, that we have entered into for the purpose of
managing the effect of interest rate fluctuations on this debt. The
terms of the swaps match those of the debt instruments, and the
swaps are therefore considered 100% effective. The transitional
impact of adopting SFAS No. 133 for the fair value of the hedges was
$15 million, which was recorded in “Other Assets” on the balance
sheet with an equivalent liability recorded in debt. The related
statement of operations impacts were offsetting; as a result, there

was no transitional statement of operations impact of adopting SFAS
No. 133 for fair value hedges. The impact related to the 2001
movement in interest rates was an $8 million increase in the fair
value of the swaps and the related debt on the balance sheet, with
the statement of operations impacts again offsetting.

Cash Flow Hedges — We have purchased foreign currency forward
contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges. They are utilized
to minimize our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency values
that result from forecasted foreign currency payments, as well as
from foreign currency payables and receivables. The transitional
impact of adopting SFAS No. 133 for cash flow hedges was a gain
of less than $1 million, which was included in Other Comprehensive
Income (“OCI”). During 2001, we recognized a $2 million loss on the
cash flow hedges, which is also included in OCI. The amounts
included in OCI will be reclassified into earnings concurrent with the
timing of the hedged cash flows, which is not expected to occur
within the next twelve months. During 2001 we recognized a loss in
the statement of operations of less than $1 million representing the
portion of the forward contracts deemed ineffective.

Non-Hedge Derivatives — We have entered into a variety of other
financial instruments that are considered to be derivatives, but
which are not designated as hedges, that we utilize to minimize the
potential impact of market movements in certain investment
portfolios. These include our investment in an embedded collar on
Old Mutual common stock received as partial consideration from
the sale of our life insurance business (see Note 15), foreign currency
put options on British Pounds Sterling to hedge currency risk
associated with our position in Old Mutual stock and stock warrants
in our venture capital business. There was no transition adjustment
related to the adoption of SFAS No. 133, and we recorded $3 million
of income in continuing operations during 2001 relating to the
change in the market value of these derivatives during the period.
For the same period we also recorded $17 million of income in
discontinued operations relating to non-hedge derivatives associated
with the sale of our life insurance business.

Derivative-type Instruments Accounted for Under EITF 99-2 — We
have also offered insurance products that are accounted for as
weather derivatives. These derivatives are accounted for under
EITF 99-2, “Accounting for Weather Derivatives,” which provides 
for accounting similar to that for SFAS No. 133 derivatives. The net
impact to our statement of operations of these insurance products
in 2001 was a $2 million loss, with no impact in 2000. At Dec. 31,
2001, we had two contracts outstanding, with total maximum
exposure of $15 million. As part of our December 2001 strategic
review, we determined that we would no longer issue this type 
of product.
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Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Reconciliation of Loss Reserves — The following table represents a
reconciliation of beginning and ending consolidated property-liability
insurance loss and loss adjustment expense (“LAE”) reserves for
each of the last three years.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Loss and LAE reserves at beginning 
of year, as reported $18,196 $17,720 $ 18,012

Less reinsurance recoverables on 
unpaid losses at beginning of year (4,651) (3,678) (3,199)

Net loss and LAE reserves at 
beginning of year 13,545 14,042 14,813

Activity on reserves of discontinued 
operations:
Losses incurred 17 (4) 279
Losses paid (131) (141) (473)

Net activity (114) (145) (194)

Net reserves of acquired companies — 984 —

Provision for losses and LAE for claims 
incurred on continuing operations:
Current year 6,902 4,178 3,928
Prior years 577 (265) (208)

Total incurred 7,479 3,913 3,720

Losses and LAE payments for claims 
incurred on continuing operations:
Current year (1,125) (970) (959)
Prior years (4,443) (4,138) (3,411)

Total paid (5,568) (5,108) (4,370)

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) (89) (141) 73

Net loss and LAE reserves at
end of year 15,253 13,545 14,042

Plus reinsurance recoverables on 
unpaid losses at end of year 6,848 4,651 3,678

Loss and LAE reserves at end of year, 
as reported $ 22,101 $ 18,196 $17,720

During 2001, we recorded significant prior-year loss provisions for
our Health Care segment. In 2000, loss trends in this segment had
indicated an increase in the severity of claims incurred in the 1995
through 1997 accident years; accordingly, we recorded a provision
for prior-year losses. In 2001, loss activity continued to increase not
only for the years 1995 through 1997, but also 1998, and early activity
on claims incurred in 1999 through 2001 indicated an increase in
severity for those years. Those developments led us to a much
different view of loss development in this segment which in turn
caused us to record provisions for prior year losses totaling $735
million in this segment in 2001. Excluding this specific increase, the
change in prior-year provision was a reduction of $158 million. At
the end of the year, we announced our intention to exit, on a global
basis, all business underwritten in our Health Care segment through
ceasing to write new business and the non-renewal of business
upon policy expiration, in accordance with regulatory requirements.

A reduction in prior-year losses was recorded in 2000 and 1999. In
2000, the favorable prior-year loss development was widespread
across all lines of business with the exception of the Health Care
segment. In 1999, favorable prior-year loss development in several
lines of business, including workers compensation and assumed
reinsurance, was partially offset by adverse development in our
Ocean Marine operation and certain commercial business centers. 

The “activity on reserves of discontinued operations” represents
certain activity related to the 1999 sale of our standard personal
insurance business. The reserve balances associated with certain
portions of the business sold are included in our total reserves, but
the related incurred losses are excluded from continuing operations
in our statements of operations for all periods presented, and
included in discontinued operations. See Note 15 for a discussion
of reserve guarantees we made related to this sale.

In 1996, we acquired Northbrook Holdings, Inc. and its three
insurance subsidiaries (“Northbrook”) from Allstate Insurance
Company. In the Northbrook purchase agreement, we agreed to 
pay Allstate additional consideration of up to $50 million in the
event a redundancy developed on the acquired Northbrook 
reserves between the purchase date and July 31, 2000. During 2000,
we made a payment to Allstate in the amount of $50 million under
this agreement. 

Environmental and Asbestos Reserves — Our underwriting
operations continue to receive claims under policies written many
years ago alleging injury or damage from environmental pollution
or seeking payment for the cost to clean up polluted sites. We have
also received asbestos injury claims tendered under general
liability policies.

The following table summarizes the environmental and asbestos
reserves reflected in our consolidated balance sheet at Dec. 31, 2001
and 2000. Amounts in the “net” column are reduced by reinsurance.

2001 2000
December 31 Gross Net Gross Net

(In millions)

Environmental $ 582 $ 507 $ 665 $ 563

Asbestos 478 367 397 299

Total environmental and 

asbestos reserves $ 1,060 $ 874 $ 1,062 $ 862



The St. Paul Companies 2001 Annual Report56

10

Income Taxes 

Method for Computing Income Tax Expense (Benefit) — We compute
our income tax expense under the liability method. This means
deferred income taxes reflect what we estimate we will pay or
receive in future years. A current tax liability, or asset, is recognized
for the estimated taxes payable, or recoverable, for the current year. 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) — Income tax expense or benefits are
recorded in various places in our financial statements. A summary
of the amounts and places follows. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

statements of operations

Expense (benefit) on continuing 

operations $ (422) $ 431 $ 219

Benefit on operating loss 

of discontinued operations — 10 15

Expense (benefit) on gain or loss on 

disposal of discontinued operations 37 (6) 90

Total income tax expense (benefit) 

included in statements of operations (385) 435 324

common shareholders’ equity

Expense (benefit) relating to stock-

based compensation and the 

change in unrealized appreciation 

and unrealized foreign exchange (218) 86 (253)

Total income tax expense (benefit) 

included in financial statements $ (603) $ 521 $ 71

Components of Income Tax Expense (Benefit) — The components of
income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations are as follows.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Federal current tax expense (benefit) $ (303) $ 19 $ 104

Federal deferred tax expense (benefit) (81) 372 102

Total federal income tax 

expense (benefit) (384) 391 206

Foreign income tax expense (benefit) (48) 26 2

State income tax expense 10 14 11

Total income tax expense (benefit) 

on continuing operations $ (422) $ 431 $ 219

Our Tax Rate is Different from the Statutory Rate — Our total income
tax expense on income from continuing operations differs from the
statutory rate of 35% of income from continuing operations before
income taxes as shown in the following table.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Federal income tax expense (benefit) 

at statutory rate $ (501) $ 490 $ 333

Increase (decrease) attributable to:

Nontaxable investment income (85) (95) (103)

Valuation allowance 74 — 2

Foreign underwriting operations 44 18 4

Goodwill 30 4 5

Other 16 14 (22)

Total income tax expense (benefit) 

on continuing operations $ (422) $ 431 $ 219

Effective tax rate on continuing 

operations 29.5% 30.7% 23.0%

Major Components of Deferred Income Taxes on Our Balance Sheet —
Differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in
taxable or deductible amounts in future years are called temporary
differences. The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise
to the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented
in the following table. 

December 31 2001 2000

(In millions)

deferred tax assets

Loss reserves $ 792 $ 800

Unearned premium reserves 193 160

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 124 265

Net operating loss carryforwards 496 136

Deferred compensation 113 121

Other 612 549

Total gross deferred tax assets 2,330 2,031

Less valuation allowance (106) (32)

Net deferred tax assets 2,224 1,999

deferred tax liabilities

Unrealized appreciation of investments 218 426

Deferred acquisition costs 218 183

Real estate 132 123

Prepaid compensation 92 88

Other 316 249

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 976 1,069

Deferred income taxes $ 1,248 $ 930
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If we believe that all of our deferred tax assets will not result in
future tax benefits, we must establish a valuation allowance for the
portion of these assets that we think will not be realized. The net
change in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was an
increase of $74 million in 2001, and an increase of $24 million in
2000, both relating to our foreign underwriting operations. The
increase in 2000 was related to our purchase of MMI. Based pre-
dominantly upon a review of our anticipated future earnings, but
also including all other available evidence, both positive and neg-
ative, we have concluded it is “more likely than not” that our net
deferred tax assets will be realized. 

Net Operating Loss (“NOL”) and Foreign Tax Credit (“FTC”)
Carryforwards — For tax return purposes, as of Dec. 31, 2001, we
had NOL carryforwards that expire, if unused, in 2005-2021 and FTC
carryforwards that expire, if unused, in 2005-2006. The amount and
timing of realizing the benefits of NOL and FTC carryforwards
depends on future taxable income and limitations imposed by tax
laws. The approximate amounts of those NOLs on a regular tax basis
and an alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) basis were $1.4 billion and
$366 million, respectively. The approximate amounts of the FTCs
both on a regular tax basis and an AMT basis were $11 million. The
benefits of the NOL and FTC carryforwards have been recognized in
our financial statements. 

Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries — U.S. income taxes have
not been provided on $72 million of our foreign operations’
undistributed earnings as of Dec. 31, 2001, as such earnings are
intended to be permanently reinvested in those operations.
Furthermore, any taxes paid to foreign governments on these
earnings may be used as credits against the U.S. tax on any dividend
distributions from such earnings. 

We have not provided taxes on approximately $336 million of
undistributed earnings related to our majority ownership of The
John Nuveen Company as of Dec. 31, 2001, because we currently do
not expect those earnings to become taxable to us.

IRS Examinations — During 1998, The St. Paul merged with USF&G
Corporation (“USF&G”). The IRS is currently examining USF&G’s
pre-merger consolidated returns for the years 1992 through 1997.
The IRS has examined The St. Paul’s pre-merger consolidated returns
through 1997 and is currently examining the years 1998 through
2000. We believe that any additional taxes assessed as a result of
these examinations would not materially affect our overall financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

11

Capital Structure

The following summarizes our capital structure, including debt,
preferred securities, and equity instruments.

December 31 2001 2000

(In millions)

Debt $ 2,130 $ 1,647

Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable 

preferred securities of trusts holding solely 

subordinated debentures of the Company 893 337

Preferred shareholders’ equity 58 49

Common shareholders’ equity 5,056 7,178

Total capital $ 8,137 $ 9,211

Ratio of debt to total capital 26% 18%

debt

Debt consists of the following.

2001 2000
Book Fair Book Fair

December 31 Value Value Value Value

(In millions)

Commercial paper $ 606 $ 606 $ 138 $ 138

Medium-term notes 571 596 617 619

7 7⁄8% senior notes 249 269 249 261

8 1⁄8% senior notes 249 275 249 267

Nuveen line of credit borrowings 183 183 — —

Zero coupon convertible notes 103 106 98 95

7 1⁄8% senior notes 80 84 80 82

Variable rate borrowings 64 64 64 64

Real estate mortgages 2 2 2 2

8 3⁄8% senior notes — — 150 151

Total debt obligations $ 2,107 $ 2,185 $ 1,647 $ 1,679

Fair value of interest rate

swap agreements $ 23 $ 23

Total debt reported on

balance sheet $ 2,130 $ 2,208

Compliance — We were in compliance with all provisions of our debt
covenants as of Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000.

Fair Value of Debt Obligations — The fair values of our commercial
paper and a portion of Nuveen’s line of credit borrowings
approximated their book values because of their short-term nature.
The fair value of our variable rate borrowings approximated their
book values due to the floating interest rates of these instruments.
For our other debt, which has longer terms and fixed interest rates,
our fair value estimate was based on current interest rates available
on debt securities in the market that have terms similar to ours. 

Medium-Term Notes — The medium-term notes bear interest rates
ranging from 5.9% to 8.4%, with a weighted average rate of 6.8%.
Maturities range from five to 15 years after the issuance dates. 
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77⁄8% Senior Notes — In April 2000, we issued $250 million of senior
notes due April 15, 2005. Proceeds were used to repay commercial
paper debt and for general corporate purposes.

81⁄8% Senior Notes — Also in April 2000, we issued $250 million of
senior notes due April 15, 2010. Proceeds were used to repay
commercial paper debt and for general corporate purposes.

Nuveen Line of Credit Borrowings — In 2001, our asset management
subsidiary, The John Nuveen Company, entered into a $250 million
revolving line of credit that extends through August 2003. The line
is divided into two equal facilities, one of which has a three year
term, the other is renewable in 364 days. At Dec. 31, 2001, Nuveen
had two borrowings under this facility, including $125 million under
the three-year facility and $58 million under the 364-day facility.
The majority of the amount outstanding was used to finance a
portion of Nuveen’s acquisition of Symphony Asset Management
LLC. At Dec. 31, 2001, the weighted average interest rate under these
facilities was approximately 3.1%.

Commercial Paper — Our commercial paper is supported by a
$400 million credit agreement that expires in 2002 and by a
$200 million portfolio of high quality, highly liquid fixed maturity
securities. 

Interest rates on commercial paper issued in 2001 ranged from 1.1%
to 6.7%; in 2000 the range was 5.5% to 6.7%; and in 1999 the range
was 4.6% to 6.6%. 

Zero Coupon Convertible Notes — The zero coupon convertible
notes mature in 2009, but were redeemable beginning in 1999 for
an amount equal to the original issue price plus accreted original
issue discount. In addition, on March 3, 1999 and March 3, 2004,
the holders of the zero coupon convertible notes had/have the right
to require us to purchase their notes for the price of $640.82 and
$800.51, respectively, per $1,000 of principal amount due at
maturity. In March 1999, we repurchased approximately $34 million
face amount of the zero coupon convertible notes, for a total cash
consideration of $21 million. 

7 1⁄8% Senior Notes — The 7 1⁄8% senior notes mature in 2005. 

Variable Rate Borrowings — A number of our real estate entities are
parties to variable rate loan agreements aggregating $64 million.
The borrowings mature in the year 2030, with principal paydowns
starting in the year 2006. The interest rate is set weekly by a third
party, and was 2.7% at Dec. 31, 2001.

Real Estate Mortgage — The real estate mortgage represents a
portion of the purchase price of one of our investments. The
mortgage bears a fixed rate of 8.1% and matures in February 2002.
During 2000, we repaid $13 million of mortgage debt associated
with two of our real estate investments. 

Interest Rate Swap Agreements — At Dec. 31, 2001, we were party
to a number of interest rate swap agreements related to several of
our debt securities outstanding. The net effect of the swaps was a
$7 million reduction in our 2001 interest expense. The notional
amount of these swaps totaled $230 million, and their aggregate
fair value at Dec. 31, 2001 was an asset of $23 million. Prior to our
adoption of SFAS No. 133, as amended, on Jan. 1, 2001, the fair value
of these swap agreements was not recorded on our balance sheet.
Upon adoption, we reflected the fair value of these swap agreements 
as an increase to other assets and a corresponding increase to 
debt on our balance sheet, with the statement of operations 
impacts of recording the swaps offsetting. 

83⁄8% Senior Notes — In June 2001, our $150 million of 83⁄8% senior
notes matured. The repayment of these notes was funded through
a combination of internally generated funds and the issuance of
commercial paper.

Interest Expense — Our interest expense on debt was $110 million
in 2001, $115 million in 2000 and $96 million in 1999. 

Maturities — The amount of debt obligations, other than commercial
paper, that become due in each of the next five years is as follows:
2002, $108 million; 2003, $67 million; 2004, $180 million; 2005,
$428 million; and 2006, $59 million.

company-obligated mandatorily redeemable

preferred securities of trusts holding solely

subordinated debentures of the company

In November 2001, St. Paul Capital Trust I issued 23,000,000 Trust
Preferred Securities, generating gross proceeds of $575 million.
St. Paul Capital Trust I had been formed for the sole purpose of
issuing these securities. The proceeds were used to buy The St. Paul’s
junior subordinated debentures. The Trust Preferred Securities pay
a quarterly distribution at an annual rate of 7.6% of each security’s
liquidation amount of $25. The St. Paul’s debentures have a
mandatory redemption date of Oct. 15, 2050, but we can redeem
them on or after Nov. 13, 2006. The proceeds of such redemptions
will be used to redeem a like amount of Trust Preferred Securities. 

In 1995, we issued, through St. Paul Capital LLC (SPCLLC), 4,140,000
company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities,
generating gross proceeds of $207 million. These securities were
also known as convertible monthly income preferred securities
(“MIPS”). The MIPS paid a monthly distribution at an annual rate
of 6% of the liquidation preference of $50 per security. During 2000,
SPCLLC provided notice to the holders of the MIPS that it was
exercising its right to cause the conversion rights of the owners of
the MIPS to expire. The MIPS were convertible into 1.6950 shares
of our common stock (equivalent to a conversion price of $29.50
per share). Prior to the expiration date, holders of over 99% of the
MIPS exercised their conversion rights and, in August 2000, we
issued 7,006,954 common shares in connection with the conversion.
The remaining MIPS were redeemed for cash at $50 per security,
plus accumulated preferred distributions.
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In connection with our purchase of MMI in April 2000, we assumed
all obligations under their preferred securities. In December 1997,
MMI issued $125 million of 30-year mandatorily redeemable
preferred securities through MMI Capital Trust I, formed for the sole
purpose of issuing the securities. The preferred securities pay a
preferred distribution of 7 5⁄8% semi-annually in arrears, and have
a mandatory redemption date of Dec. 15, 2027. 

In 1997 and 1996, USF&G issued three series of preferred securities.
After consummation of the merger with USF&G in 1998, The St. Paul
assumed all obligations relating to these preferred securities. These
Series A, Series B and Series C Capital Securities were issued
through separate wholly-owned business trusts (“USF&G Capital I,”
“USF&G Capital II,” and “USF&G Capital III,” respectively) formed
for the sole purpose of issuing the securities. We have effectively
fully and unconditionally guaranteed all obligations of the three
business trusts.

In December 1996, USF&G Capital I issued 100,000 shares of 8.5%
Series A Capital Securities, generating gross proceeds of $100
million. The proceeds were used to purchase $100 million of USF&G
Corporation 8.5% Series A subordinated debentures, which mature
on Dec. 15, 2045. The debentures are redeemable under certain
circumstances related to tax events at a price of $1,000 per
debenture. The proceeds of such redemptions will be used to
redeem a like amount of the Series A Capital Securities.

In January 1997, USF&G Capital II issued 100,000 shares of 8.47%
Series B Capital Securities, generating gross proceeds of $100
million. The proceeds were used to purchase $100 million of USF&G
Corporation 8.47% Series B subordinated debentures, which mature
on Jan. 10, 2027. The debentures are redeemable at our option at
any time beginning in January 2007 at scheduled redemption prices
ranging from $1,042 to $1,000 per debenture. The debentures are
also redeemable prior to January 2007 under certain circumstances
related to tax and other special events. The proceeds of such
redemptions will be used to redeem a like amount of the Series B
Capital Securities. 

In July 1997, USF&G Capital III issued 100,000 shares of 8.312%
Series C Capital Securities, generating gross proceeds of $100
million. The proceeds were used to purchase $100 million of USF&G
Corporation 8.312% Series C subordinated debentures, which
mature on July 1, 2046. The debentures are redeemable under
certain circumstances related to tax events at a price of $1,000 per
debenture. The proceeds of such redemptions will be used to
redeem a like amount of the Series C Capital Securities. 

Under certain circumstances related to tax events, we have the 
right to shorten the maturity dates of the Series A, Series B and
Series C debentures to no earlier than June 24, 2016, July 10, 2016
and April 8, 2012, respectively, in which case the stated maturities
of the related Capital Securities will likewise be shortened. 

In 2001, we repurchased and retired $20 million of USF&G Capital I
securities. In 1999, we repurchased and retired a total of $79 million
of USF&G Capital I, II and III securities. Purchases in both years were
done in open market transactions. The amount retired in 1999
included $27 million of 8.5% Capital I, $22 million of 8.47%
Capital II, and $30 million of 8.312% Capital III securities. 

preferred shareholders’ equity 

The preferred shareholders’ equity on our balance sheet represents
the par value of preferred shares outstanding that we issued to our
Stock Ownership Plan (“SOP”) Trust, less the remaining principal
balance on the SOP Trust debt. The SOP Trust borrowed funds from
a U.S. underwriting subsidiary to finance the purchase of the
preferred shares, and we guaranteed the SOP debt. 

The SOP Trust may at any time convert any or all of the preferred
shares into shares of our common stock at a rate of eight shares of
common stock for each preferred share. Our board of directors has
reserved a sufficient number of our authorized common shares to
satisfy the conversion of all preferred shares issued to the SOP Trust
and the redemption of preferred shares to meet employee
distribution requirements. Upon the redemption of preferred shares,
we will issue shares of our common stock to the trust to fulfill the
redemption obligations. 

common shareholders’ equity 

Common Stock and Reacquired Shares — We are governed by the
Minnesota Business Corporation Act. All authorized shares of voting
common stock have no par value. Shares of common stock
reacquired are considered unissued shares. The number of
authorized shares of the company is 480 million. 

We reacquired some of our common shares in 2001, 2000 and 1999
for total costs of $589 million, $536 million and $356 million,
respectively. We reduced our capital stock account and retained
earnings for the cost of these repurchases. 

A summary of our common stock activity for the last three years is
as follows.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(Shares)

Outstanding at beginning 
of year 218,308,016 224,830,894 233,749,778

Shares issued:
Stock incentive plans 

and other 2,012,533 3,686,827 1,896,229
Conversion of 

preferred stock 287,442 661,523 287,951
Conversion of MIPS — 7,006,954 —
Acquisition — — 27,936

Reacquired shares (12,983,616) (17,878,182) (11,131,000)

Outstanding at end 
of year 207,624,375 218,308,016 224,830,894

Undesignated Shares — Our articles of incorporation allow us to
issue five million undesignated shares. The board of directors may
designate the type of shares and set the terms thereof. The board
designated 1,450,000 shares as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
in connection with the formation of our Stock Ownership Plan.
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Dividend Restrictions — We primarily depend on dividends from our
subsidiaries to pay dividends to our shareholders, service our debt
and pay expenses. Various state laws and regulations limit the
amount of dividends we may receive from our U.S. property-liability
underwriting subsidiaries. Although $414 million will be available
for dividends in 2002, business and regulatory considerations may
impact the amount of dividends actually paid. We do not anticipate
the receipt of any dividends from our domestic underwriting
subsidiaries in 2002. We have sufficient resources available at the
parent company to fund common and preferred shareholder
dividends, interest payments and distributions on debt and preferred
securities, respectively, and other administrative expenses. During
2001, we received dividends in the form of cash and securities of
$827 million from our U.S. underwriting subsidiaries. 

12

Retirement Plans 

During 2000, employees hired prior to May 2000 were given the
choice of remaining subject to our traditional pension formula and
traditional postretirement health care benefits plan, or switching to
a new cash balance pension formula and/or cash balance retiree
health formula. Employees choosing to switch to the cash balance
formula(s) were credited with opening balances effective Jan. 1,
2001. Employees hired after Dec. 31, 2000 are automatically subject
to the cash balance formulas. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plans — We maintain funded defined
benefit pension plans for most of our employees. For those
employees who have elected to remain subject to the traditional
pension formula, benefits are based on years of service and the
employee’s compensation while employed by the company. Pension
benefits generally vest after five years of service.

For those employees covered under the cash balance pension
formula, we maintain a cash balance pension account to measure
the amount of benefits payable to an employee. For each plan year
an employee is an active participant, the cash balance pension
account is increased for pay credits and interest credits. Pay credits
are calculated based on age, vesting service and actual pensionable
earnings, and added to the account on the first day of the next plan
year. Interest credits are added at the end of each calendar quarter. 

These benefits vest after five years of service. If an employee is
vested under the cash balance formula when their employment with
us ends, they are eligible to receive the formula amount in their cash
balance pension account. 

Our pension plans are noncontributory. This means that employees
do not pay anything into the plans. Our funding policy is to
contribute amounts sufficient to meet the minimum funding
requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and
any additional amounts that may be necessary. This may result in
no contribution being made in a particular year.

Plan assets are invested primarily in equities and fixed maturities, and
included 804,035 shares of our common stock with a market value of
$35 million and $44 million at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We maintain noncontributory, unfunded pension plans to provide
certain company employees with pension benefits in excess of limits
imposed by federal tax law.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pension — We provide certain
health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees (and
their eligible dependents), who have elected to remain subject to
the traditional formula. We currently anticipate that most covered
employees will become eligible for these benefits if they retire while
working for us. The cost of these benefits is shared with the retiree.
The benefits are generally provided through our employee benefits
trust, to which periodic contributions are made to cover benefits
paid during the year. We accrue postretirement benefits expense
during the period of the employee’s service. 

A health care inflation rate of 10.00% was assumed to change to
9.00% in 2002; decrease one percentage point annually to 5.00%
in 2006; and then remain at that level. A one-percentage-point
change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the
following effects.

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decrease

(In millions)

Effect on total of service and 
interest cost components $ 2 $ (2)

Effect on postretirement 
benefit obligation 27 (22)

For those employees covered under the cash balance retiree health
formula, we maintain a cash balance retiree health account (“health
account”) to measure the amount of benefits payable to an
employee. For each plan year an employee is an active participant,
the health account is increased for pay credits and interest credits.
Pay credits are calculated based on pensionable earnings up to the
taxable wage base for the plan year and added to the health account
on the first day of the next plan year. Interest credits are added at
the end of each calendar quarter. 

These benefits vest after five years of service. If an employee is
vested under the cash balance formula when their employment with
us ends, they are eligible to receive the amount in their health
account. Our obligations under this plan are accounted for under,
and included in the 2001 results of, the defined benefit pension plan.
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All Plans — The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets over the
two-year period ended Dec. 31, 2001, and a statement of the funded status as of Dec. 31, of 2001 and 2000. 

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2001 2000 2001 2000

(In millions)

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 961 $ 777 $ 221 $ 189

Service cost 34 27 4 5

Interest cost 65 61 15 14

Plan amendment 3 — — —

Actuarial (gain) loss (45) 129 11 27

Foreign currency exchange rate change — (1) — —

Acquisition — 14 — —

Benefits paid (63) (46) (16) (14)

Curtailment loss (gain) 24 — (24) —

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 979 $ 961 $ 211 $ 221

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 1,206 $ 1,226 $ 23 $ 20

Actual return on plan assets (124) 8 1 3

Foreign currency exchange rate change — (2) — —

Acquisition — 19 — —

Employer contribution 1 1 16 14

Benefits paid (63) (46) (16) (14)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 1,020 $ 1,206 $ 24 $ 23

Funded status $ 41 $ 245 $ (187) $ (198)

Unrecognized transition asset — (2) — —

Unrecognized prior service cost 1 (4) 2 9

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 241 36 16 4

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 283 $ 275 $ (169) $ (185)

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2001 2000 2001 2000

Weighted average assumptions as of December 31:

Discount rate 7.00% 6.75% 7.00% 7.25%

Expected return on plan assets 10.00% 10.00% 7.00% 7.00%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

The following table provides the components of our net periodic benefit cost for the years 2001, 2000 and 1999. For the year ended Dec. 31,
1999, the plans’ benefit cost include the impact of curtailment gains related to employee terminations under the third quarter 1999 cost
reduction action and the sale of standard personal insurance. 

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service cost $ 34 $ 27 $ 38 $ 4 $ 5 $ 8

Interest cost 65 61 60 15 14 14

Expected return on plan assets (119) (123) (114) (2) (2) (2)

Amortization of transition asset (1) (2) (1) — — —

Amortization of prior service cost (3) (3) (4) — 1 1

Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) — (2) — — — —

Net periodic pension cost (income) (24) (42) (21) 17 18 21

Curtailment loss (gain) 17 — (32) (17) — (15)

Net periodic benefit cost (income) 

after curtailment $ (7) $ (42) $ (53) $ — $ 18 $ 6
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stock ownership plan 

As of Jan. 1, 1998, our Preferred Stock Ownership Plan (“PSOP”) and
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) were merged into
The St. Paul Companies, Inc. Stock Ownership Plan (“SOP”). The
plan allocates preferred shares semiannually to those employees
participating in our Savings Plus Plan. Under the SOP, we match
100% of employees’ contributions up to a maximum of 4% of their
salary. We also allocate preferred shares equal to the value of
dividends on previously allocated shares. Additionally, this plan now
provides an opportunity for an annual allocation to qualified U.S.
employees based on company performance.

To finance the preferred stock purchase for future allocation to
qualified employees, the SOP (formerly the PSOP) borrowed
$150 million at 9.4% from our primary U.S. underwriting subsidiary.
As the principal and interest of the trust’s loan is paid, a pro rata
amount of our preferred stock is released for allocation to
participating employees. Each share of preferred stock pays a
dividend of $11.72 annually and is currently convertible into eight
shares of our common stock. Preferred stock dividends on all shares
held by the trust are used to pay a portion of this SOP obligation.
In addition to dividends paid to the trust, we make additional cash
contributions to the SOP as necessary in order to meet the SOP’s
debt obligation.

The SOP (formerly the ESOP) borrowed funds to finance the
purchase of common stock for future allocation to qualified
participating U.S. employees. The final principal payment on the
trust’s loan was made in 1998. As the principal of the trust loan 
was paid, a pro rata amount of our common stock was released 
for allocation to eligible participants. Common stock dividends 
on shares allocated under the former ESOP are paid directly 
to participants. 

All common shares and the common stock equivalent of all preferred
shares held by the SOP are considered outstanding for diluted EPS
computations and dividends paid on all shares are charged to
retained earnings.

We follow the provisions of Statement of Position 76-3, “Accounting
Practices for Certain Employee Stock Ownership Plans,” and related
interpretations in accounting for this plan. We recorded expense of
$.5 million, $14 million and $26 million for the years 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively.

The following table details the shares held in the SOP.

2001 2000
December 31 Common Preferred Common Preferred

(Shares)

Allocated 5,144,640 492,252 5,546,251 448,819
Committed to be released — 25,885 — 49,646
Unallocated — 254,085 — 309,663

Total 5,144,640 772,222 5,546,251 808,128

The SOP allocated 55,578 preferred shares in 2001, 83,585 
preferred shares in 2000 and 183,884 preferred shares in 1999.
Unallocated preferred shares had a fair market value of $90 million
and $135 million at Dec. 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
remaining unallocated preferred shares at Dec. 31, 2001, will be
released for allocation annually through Jan. 31, 2005.

13

Stock Incentive Plans 

We have made fixed stock option grants to certain U.S.-based
employees, certain employees of our non-U.S. operations, and
outside directors. These were considered “fixed” grants because
the measurement date for determining compensation costs was
fixed on the date of grant. We have also made variable stock option
grants to certain company executives. These were considered
“variable” grants because the measurement date was contingent
upon future increases in the market price of our common stock. 

We follow the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” FASB
Interpretation 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving
Stock Compensation (an interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25),”
and other related interpretations in accounting for our stock option
plans. We also follow the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” for our option plans.
SFAS No. 123 requires pro forma net income and earnings per share
information, which is calculated assuming we had accounted for
our stock option plans under the “fair value” method described in
that Statement. 

Since the exercise price of our fixed options equals the market 
price of our stock on the day the options are granted, there generally
is no related compensation expense for financial reporting purposes.
However, during 2001, certain executives’ outstanding options
became subject to accelerated vesting and an extended life, 
under the terms of the Senior Executive Severance Policy or 
other employment agreements, and we recorded $16 million of
compensation cost in 2001. We have also recorded compensation
cost/(income) associated with our variable options, restricted 
stock awards and the former USF&G’s Long-Term Incentive 
Program, of $(8) million, $28 million and $8 million in 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively. 

fixed option grants 

U.S.-Based Plans — Our fixed option grants for certain U.S.-based
employees and outside directors give these individuals the right to
buy our stock at the market price on the day the options were
granted. Fixed stock options granted under the stock incentive plan
adopted by our shareholders in May 1994 (as subsequently
amended) become exercisable no less than one year after the date
of grant and may be exercised up to ten years after grant date.
Options granted under our option plan in effect prior to May 1994
may be exercised at any time up to ten years after the grant date.
At the end of 2001, approximately 14,300,000 shares remained
available for grant under our stock incentive plan.
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Non-U.S. Plans — We also have separate stock option plans for
certain employees of our non-U.S. operations. The options granted
under these plans were priced at the market price of our common
stock on the grant date. Generally, they can be exercised from three
to 10 years after the grant date. Approximately 250,000 option
shares were available at Dec. 31, 2001 for future grants under our
non-U.S. plans. 

Global Stock Option Plan (“GSOP”) — We have a separate fixed
stock option plan for employees who are not eligible to participate
in the U.S. and non-U.S. plans previously described. Options granted
to eligible employees under the GSOP are contingent upon the
company achieving threshold levels of profitability, and the number
of options granted is determined by the level of profitability
achieved. Generally, options granted under this plan can be
exercised from three to 10 years after the grant date. At Dec. 31,
2001, approximately 1,300,000 option shares were available for
future grants under the GSOP. 

The following table summarizes the activity for our fixed option plans
for the last three years. All grants were made at the market price on
the date of grant.

Weighted
Average

Option Exercise
Shares Price

Outstanding Jan. 1, 1999 11,143,892 $ 30.78

Granted 3,531,418 30.16

Exercised (1,578,903) 22.63

Canceled (1,033,435) 39.07

Outstanding Dec. 31, 1999 12,062,972 30.96

Granted 6,539,436 33.94

Exercised (3,372,916) 26.42

Canceled (919,110) 36.41

Outstanding Dec. 31, 2000 14,310,382 33.04

Granted 7,333,445 47.29

Exercised (1,545,214) 31.22

Canceled (1,824,580) 38.56

Outstanding Dec. 31, 2001 18,274,033 $ 38.36

The following table summarizes the options exercisable at the end
of the last three years and the weighted average fair value of options
granted during those years. The fair value of options is estimated
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively: dividend yield of 3.0%, 3.0%
and 2.8%; expected volatility of 46.3%, 41.0% and 23.8%; risk-free
interest rates of 5.0%, 6.5% and 5.3%; and an expected life of 
6.8 years, 6.5 years and 6.5 years.

2001 2000 1999

Options exercisable 

at year-end 5,982,799 5,751,780 7,940,793

Weighted average fair 

value of options granted 

during the year $ 19.00 $ 12.96 $ 7.59

The following tables summarize the status of fixed stock options
outstanding and exercisable at Dec. 31, 2001.

Options Outstanding

Weighted
Average Weighted

Remaining Average
Range of Number of Contractual Exercise
Exercise Prices Options Life Price

$ 13.29 – 29.31 3,051,475 5.0 years $ 26.35

29.63 – 35.00 2,742,399 6.8 years 31.02

35.25 3,648,221 8.3 years 35.25

35.31 – 45.10 2,897,707 7.2 years 42.78

45.67 – 48.04 2,038,650 9.7 years 46.17

48.39 – 50.44 3,895,581 9.1 years 48.46

$ 13.29 – 50.44 18,274,033 7.7 years $ 38.36

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average

Range of Number of Exercise
Exercise Prices Options Price

$ 13.29 – 29.31 2,096,892 $ 25.01

29.63 – 35.00 1,510,667 31.52

35.25 487,266 35.25

35.31 – 45.10 1,868,599 43.02

45.67 – 48.04 — —

48.39 – 50.44 19,375 50.44

$ 13.29 – 50.44 5,982,799 $ 33.20

variable stock option grant 

In 1999, we made a variable option grant of 375,000 shares from
our 1994 stock incentive plan to one of our key executives. This was
in addition to 1,966,800 variable option shares granted to executives
prior to 1999. The exercise price of each option was equal to the
market price of our stock on the grant date. One-half of the options
vested when the market price of our stock reached a 20-consecutive-
trading-day average of $50 per share, which occurred in November
2000. The remaining options were to vest when our stock price
reached a 20-consecutive-trading-day average of $55 per share,
which did not occur. Any of these options not exercised prior to
Dec. 1, 2001 expired on that date.

The following table summarizes the activity for our variable option
grants for the last three years.

Weighted
Average

Option Exercise
Shares Price

Outstanding Jan. 1, 1999 1,498,200 $ 30.26

Granted 375,000 29.63

Canceled (152,400) 29.38

Outstanding Dec. 31, 1999 1,720,800 30.20

Exercised (290,975) 30.41

Canceled (437,850) 29.59

Outstanding Dec. 31, 2000 991,975 30.15

Exercised (290,500) 29.74

Canceled (701,475) 30.32

Outstanding Dec. 31, 2001 — —
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14

Discontinued Operations

Life Insurance — On September 28, 2001, our subsidiary, St. Paul
Fire and Marine Insurance Company (“Fire and Marine”), closed on
the sale of its life insurance subsidiary, Fidelity and Guaranty Life
Insurance Company (“F&G Life”) to Old Mutual plc (“Old Mutual”)
for $335 million in cash and $300 million in shares of Old Mutual
stock. In accordance with the sale agreement, the sale proceeds
were reduced by $11.7 million, on a pretax basis, related to a
decrease in the market value of certain securities within F&G Life’s
investment portfolio between March 31, 2001 and the closing date. 

Pursuant to the sale agreement, we are required to hold the Old Mutual
stock received for one year after the closing of the transaction. The
consideration received is subject to possible additional adjustment
based on the market price of Old Mutual’s stock at the end of that
one-year period, as described in greater detail in Note 15.

When the sale was announced in April 2001, we expected to realize
a modest gain on the sale of F&G Life, when proceeds were
combined with F&G Life’s operating results through the disposal
date. However, a decline in the market value of certain of F&G Life’s
investments subsequent to April, coupled with a change in the
anticipated tax treatment of the sale, resulted in an after-tax loss of
$73 million on the sale proceeds. That loss is combined with
F&G Life’s results of operations for a year-to-date after-tax loss of
$54 million and is included in the reported loss from discontinued
operations for the year ended Dec. 31, 2001. 

Also in September 2001, we sold American Continental Life
Insurance Company, a small life insurance company we had acquired
as part of our MMI purchase, to CNA Financial Corporation. We
received cash proceeds of $21 million, and recorded a net after-tax
loss on the sale of $1 million.

Standard Personal Insurance Business — In June 1999, we made a
decision to sell our standard personal insurance business and, on
July 12, 1999, reached an agreement to sell this business to
Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Company
(“Metropolitan”). On Sept. 30, 1999, we completed the sale of 
this business to Metropolitan. As a result, the standard personal
insurance operations through June 1999 have been accounted for
as discontinued operations for all periods presented herein, and
the results of operations subsequent to that period have been
included in the gain on sale of discontinued operations. 

Metropolitan purchased Economy Fire & Casualty Company and its
subsidiaries (“Economy”), as well as the rights and interests in those
non-Economy policies constituting our remaining standard personal
insurance operations. Those rights and interests were transferred
to Metropolitan by way of a reinsurance and facility agreement
(“Reinsurance Agreement”).

The Reinsurance Agreement relates solely to the non-Economy
standard personal insurance policies, and was entered into solely
as a means of accommodating Metropolitan through a transition
period. The Reinsurance Agreement allows Metropolitan to write
non-Economy business on our policy forms while Metropolitan
obtains the regulatory license, form and rate approvals necessary

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 1999 was
$2.66 per option. The fair value of the variable options was
estimated on the date of grant using a variable option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions: dividend yield
of 2.8%; expected volatility of 22.9%; risk-free interest rate of 4.7%;
and an expected life of 2.8 years.

restricted stock and deferred stock awards 

Up to 20% of the 33.4 million shares authorized under our 1994
stock incentive plan may be granted as restricted stock awards. The
stock for this type of award is restricted because recipients receive
the stock only upon completing a specified objective or period of
employment, generally one to five years. The shares are considered
issued when awarded, but the recipient does not own and cannot
sell the shares during the restriction period. During the restriction
period, the recipient receives compensation in an amount equivalent
to the dividends paid on such shares. Up to 5,600,000 shares were
available for restricted stock awards at Dec. 31, 2001. 

We also have a Deferred Stock Award Plan for stock awards to non-
U.S. employees. Deferred stock awards are the same as restricted
stock awards, except that shares granted under the deferred plan
are not issued until the vesting conditions specified in the award
are fulfilled. Up to 21,000 shares were available for deferred stock
awards at Dec. 31, 2001. 

pro forma information 

Had we calculated compensation expense on a combined basis for
our stock option grants based on the “fair value” method described
in SFAS No. 123, our net income and earnings per share would have
been reduced to the pro forma amounts as indicated. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions, except per share data)

net income

As reported $ (1,088) $ 993 $ 834

Pro forma (1,123) 986 825

basic earnings per share

As reported (5.22) 4.50 3.61

Pro forma (5.44) 4.46 3.57

diluted earnings per share

As reported (5.22) 4.24 3.41

Pro forma (5.44) 4.23 3.38
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to write non-Economy business through their own insurance
subsidiaries. Any business written on our policy forms during this
transition period is then fully ceded to Metropolitan under the
Reinsurance Agreement. We recognized no gain or loss on the
inception of the Reinsurance Agreement and will not incur any net
revenues or expenses related to the Reinsurance Agreement. All
economic risk of post-sale activities related to the Reinsurance
Agreement has been transferred to Metropolitan. We anticipate that
Metropolitan will pay all claims incurred related to this Reinsurance
Agreement. In the event that Metropolitan is unable to honor their
obligations to us, we will pay these amounts.

As part of the sale to Metropolitan, we guaranteed the adequacy of
Economy’s loss and loss expense reserves. Under that guarantee,
we will pay for any deficiencies in those reserves and will share in
any redundancies that develop by Sept. 30, 2002. We remain liable
for claims on non-Economy policies that result from losses occurring
prior to closing. By agreement, Metropolitan will adjust those claims
and share in redundancies in related reserves that may develop. As
of Dec. 31, 2001, we have estimated that we will owe Metropolitan
$7 million on these guarantees, and have included that amount in
discontinued operations. We have no other contingent liabilities
related to the sale.

As a result of the sale, approximately 1,600 standard personal
insurance employees of The St. Paul effectively transferred to
Metropolitan on Oct. 1, 1999. 

We received gross proceeds on the sale of $597 million, less the
payment of the reinsurance premium of $325 million, for net
proceeds of $272 million. We recognized, in discontinued operations,

a pretax gain on disposal of $130 million, after adjusting for a
$26 million pension and postretirement curtailment gain and
disposition costs of $32 million. The gain on disposal combined with
a $128 million pretax gain on discontinued operations (subsequent
to our decision to sell), resulting in a total pretax gain of
$258 million. Included in the pretax gain on discontinued operations
was a $145 million reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves. In the third quarter of 1999, based on favorable trends
noted in the standard personal insurance reserve analysis, and
considering the pending sale and its economic consequences, we
concluded that this reserve reduction was appropriate. 

The $26 million pretax curtailment gain represented the impact of
a reduced number of employees in the pension and post-retirement
plans due to the sale of the standard personal insurance business. 

The $32 million pretax disposition costs netted against the gain
represented costs directly associated with the decision to dispose
of the standard personal insurance segment and included $14 million
of employee-related costs, $8 million of occupancy-related costs,
$7 million of transaction costs, $2 million of record separation costs
and $1 million of equipment charges. The employee-related costs
related to the expected termination of 385 employees due to the
sale of the personal insurance segment. Approximately 350
employees were terminated related to this action. In 2000, we
reduced the employee-related reserve by $3 million due to a number
of voluntary terminations, which reduced the expected severance
to be paid. In 2001, we reduced the occupancy-related reserve by
$2 million due to a lease buyout.

The following presents a rollforward of 2001 activity related to this charge.

Reserve Reserve
Pretax at Dec. 31, at Dec. 31,

Charge 2000 Payments Adjustments 2001

(In millions)

Charges to earnings:

Employee-related $ 14 $ — $ — $ — $ —

Occupancy-related 8 7 (3) (2) 2

Transaction costs 7 — — — —

Record separation costs 2 — — — —

Equipment charges 1 — — — —

Total $ 32 $ 7 $ (3) $ (2) $ 2

Nonstandard Auto Business — In December 1999, we decided to
sell our nonstandard auto business marketed under the Victoria
Financial and Titan Auto brands. On Jan. 4, 2000, we announced an
agreement to sell this business to The Prudential Insurance
Company of America (“Prudential”) for $200 million in cash, subject
to certain adjustments based on the balance sheet as of the closing
date. As a result, the nonstandard auto business results of
operations were accounted for as discontinued operations for the
year ended Dec. 31, 1999. Included in “Discontinued operations —
gain (loss) on disposal, net of tax” in our 1999 statement of
operations was an estimated loss on the sale of approximately
$83 million, which included the estimated results of operations

through the disposal date. All prior period results of nonstandard
auto have been reclassified to discontinued operations.

On May 1, 2000, we closed on the sale of our nonstandard auto
business to Prudential, receiving total cash consideration of
approximately $175 million (net of a $25 million dividend paid to
our property-liability operations prior to closing).

The following table summarizes our discontinued operations,
including our life insurance business, our standard personal
insurance business, our nonstandard auto business and our
insurance brokerage business, Minet (sold in 1997), for the three-
year period ended Dec. 31, 2001.
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Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Operating income, before income taxes $ 19 $ 53 $ 48

Income tax expense — 10 13

Operating income, net of taxes 19 43 35

Gain (loss) on disposal, before 

income taxes (61) (25) 184

Income tax expense (benefit) 37 (5) 90

Gain (loss) on disposal, 

net of taxes (98) (20) 94

Gain (loss) from discontinued 

operations $ (79) $ 23 $ 129

The following table summarizes our total gain (loss) from
discontinued operations, for each operation sold, for the three-year
period ended Dec. 31, 2001.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Life insurance $ (55) $ 43 $ 44

Standard personal insurance (13) (11) 155

Nonstandard auto insurance (5) (9) (70)

Insurance brokerage (6) — —

Gain/(loss) from discontinued 

operations $ (79) $ 23 $ 129

15

Commitments and Contingencies

Investment Commitments — We have long-term commitments to
fund venture capital investments totaling $1.2 billion as of Dec. 31,
2001, estimated to be paid as follows: $302 million in 2002; $290
million in 2003; $299 million in 2004; $275 million in 2005; and
$9 million thereafter. 

Financial Guarantees — We are contingently liable for a financial
guarantee issued by our reinsurance operation in the form of a credit
enhancement, with total exposure of approximately $15 million as
of Dec. 31, 2001. 

In the normal course of business, we enter into letters of credit as
collateral, as required in certain of our operations. As of Dec. 31, 2001,
we had entered into letters of credit with an aggregate amount of
$984 million.

Lease Commitments — A portion of our business activities is
conducted in rented premises. We also enter into leases for
equipment, such as office machines and computers. Our total 
rental expense was $83 million in 2001, $83 million in 2000 and
$82 million in 1999. 

Certain leases are noncancelable, and we would remain responsible
for payment even if we stopped using the space or equipment. 
On Dec. 31, 2001, the minimum rents for which we are liable under

these types of leases were as follows: $137 million in 2002,
$126 million in 2003, $88 million in 2004, $71 million in 2005,
$60 million in 2006 and $203 million thereafter. 

We are also the lessor under various subleases on our office
facilities. The minimum rentals to be received under noncancelable
subleases are as follows: $22 million in 2002, $20 million in 2003,
$17 million in 2004, $16 million in 2005, $15 million in 2006 and
$37 million thereafter.

Reserve Guarantees — As part of the sale of our standard personal
insurance business to Metropolitan (see Note 14), we guaranteed
the adequacy of Economy’s loss and loss expense reserves. Under
that guarantee, we will pay for any deficiencies in those reserves
and will share in any redundancies that develop by Sept. 30, 2002.
We remain liable for claims on non-Economy policies that result
from losses occurring prior to closing. By agreement, Metropolitan
will adjust those claims and share in redundancies in related
reserves that may develop. As of Dec. 31, 2001, we estimated that
we will owe Metropolitan $7 million on these guarantees, and
recorded that amount in discontinued operations. 

Contingent Liabilities — Most of the contracts relating to the various
acquisitions and sales of subsidiaries that we have made in recent
years include indemnifications and other provisions that could
require us to make payments to the other parties to the contracts
in certain circumstances, and in some cases we have contingent
liabilities related to businesses we have sold. Except as specifically
noted, we do not expect there to be a reasonable likelihood that we
will be required to make material payments related to those
provisions. The following summarizes our contingent liabilities.

Sale of F&G Life — On Sept. 28, 2001, we closed on the sale of
F&G Life to Old Mutual (see Note 14). Under the terms of the 
agreement, we received Old Mutual common shares valued at
$300 million, which we are required to hold for one year following
the closing. The proceeds from the sale of F&G Life are subject 
to possible adjustment, by means of a collar embedded in the 
sale agreement, based on the movement of the market price of 
Old Mutual’s stock at the end of the one-year period. If the market
value of the Old Mutual stock exceeds $330 million at the end of
the one-year period, we are required to remit to Old Mutual either 
cash or Old Mutual shares in the amount representing the excess
over $330 million. If the market value of the Old Mutual shares 
is less than $300 million at the end of the one-year period, we 
will receive either cash or Old Mutual shares in the amount
representing the deficit below $300 million, up to $40 million. 
At Dec. 31, 2001, the market value of the Old Mutual shares was
$242 million. The $58 million decline in market value was recorded
as a component of unrealized appreciation of investments, net 
of tax, in shareholders’ equity. The impact of this unrealized 
loss has been mitigated by the collar, which was estimated to have
a fair value of $17 million at Dec. 31, 2001, which is recorded in our
statement of operations in discontinued operations.

Sale of Minet — In May 1997, we completed the sale of our
insurance brokerage operation, Minet, to Aon Corporation. We
agreed to indemnify Aon against any future claims for professional
liability and other specified events that occurred or existed prior to
the sale. We monitor our exposure under these claims on a regular
basis. We believe reserves for reported claims are adequate, but
we do not have information on unreported claims to estimate a
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range of additional liability. We purchased insurance to cover a
portion of our exposure to such claims. 

Under the sale agreement, we also committed to pay Aon
commissions representing a minimum level of annual reinsurance
brokerage business through 2012. We also have commitments under
lease agreements through 2015 for vacated space (included in our
lease commitment totals above), as well as a commitment to make
payments to a former Minet executive.

Acquisitions — We may be required to make an additional payment
of up to $20 million related to our purchase of the right to seek 
to renew Fireman’s Fund surety business, based on the volume 
of business renewed within one year of purchase. Our asset
management subsidiary, Nuveen, may be required to make
additional payments of up to $180 million related to their acquisition
of Symphony, based on reaching specified performance and 
growth targets.

Joint Ventures — Our subsidiary, Fire and Marine, is a party to five
separate joint ventures, in each of which Fire and Marine is a 50%
owner of various real estate holdings and does not exercise control
over the joint ventures, financed by non-recourse mortgage notes.
Because we own only 50% of the holdings, we do not consolidate
these entities and the joint venture debt does not appear on our
balance sheet. Our maximum exposure under each of these joint
ventures, in the event of foreclosure of a property, is represented
by our carrying value in the joint venture, ranging individually from
$7 million to $31 million, and cumulatively totaling $65 million at
Dec. 31, 2001.

Municipal Trusts — We have purchased interests in certain
unconsolidated trusts holding highly rated municipal securities that
were formed for the purpose of executing corporate tax strategies.
Related to our interests, we are contingently liable for a portion of
the interest rate risk of the municipal securities we sold to the trust.
As of Dec. 31, 2001, our contingent liability was less than $1 million. 

Legal Matters — In the ordinary course of conducting business, we,
and some of our subsidiaries, have been named as defendants in
various lawsuits. Some of these lawsuits attempt to establish
liability under insurance contracts issued by our underwriting
operations. Plaintiffs in these lawsuits are asking for money
damages or to have the court direct the activities of our operations
in certain ways. 

It is possible that the settlement of these lawsuits may be material
to our results of operations and liquidity in the period in which they
occur. However, we believe the total amounts that we, and our
subsidiaries, will ultimately have to pay in these matters will have
no material effect on our overall financial position. 
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Restructuring and Other Charges

Fourth-Quarter 2001 Strategic Review — In December 2001, we
announced the results of a strategic review of all of our operations,
which included a decision to exit a number of businesses and
countries, as discussed in Note 3. Related to this strategic review, we
recorded a pretax charge of $62 million, including $46 million of

employee-related costs, $9 million of occupancy-related costs,
$4 million of equipment charges and $3 million of legal costs. The
charge was included in “Operating and administrative expenses” in
the 2001 statement of operations; with $42 million included in
“Property-liability insurance — other” and $20 million included in
“Parent company, other operations and consolidating eliminations”
in the table titled “Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Before
Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change” in Note 19.

The employee-related costs represent severance and related
benefits such as outplacement services to be paid to, or incurred
on behalf of, employees to be terminated by the end of 2002. 
We estimated that a total of approximately 1,200 employee 
positions would ultimately be terminated under this action, with
approximately 800 expected to be terminated by the end of 2002.
The remaining 400 employees were not included in the restructuring
charge since they will either be terminated after 2002 or are part 
of one of the operations that may be sold. Of the total,
approximately 650 work in offices outside the U.S. (many of which
are closing), approximately 300 are in our Health Care business
(which is being exited), and the remaining 250 are spread
throughout our domestic operations. 

The occupancy-related cost represents excess space created by the
terminations, calculated by determining the anticipated excess
space, by location, as a result of the terminations. The percentage
of excess space in relation to the total leased space was then
applied to the current lease costs over the remaining lease period.
The amounts payable under the existing leases were not discounted,
and sublease income was included in the calculation only for those
locations where sublease agreements were in place. The equipment
costs represent the net book value of computer and other equipment
that will no longer be used following the termination of employees
and closing of offices. The legal costs represent our estimate of fees
to be paid to outside legal counsel to obtain regulatory approval to
exit certain states or countries.

No payments were made in 2001 related to this action.

MMI Acquisition — Related to our April 2000 purchase of MMI (see
Note 4), we recorded a charge of $28 million, including $4 million
of employee-related costs and $24 million of occupancy-related
costs. The employee-related costs represented severance and
related benefits such as outplacement counseling to be paid to, or
incurred on behalf of, terminated employees. We estimated that
approximately 130 employee positions would be eliminated, at all
levels throughout MMI, and 119 employees were terminated. The
occupancy-related cost represented excess space created by the
terminations, calculated by determining the percentage of
anticipated excess space, by location, and the current lease costs
over the remaining lease period. The amounts payable under the
existing leases were not discounted, and sublease income was
included in the calculation only for those locations where sublease
agreements were in place. 

The charge was included in “Operating and administrative
expenses” in the 2000 statement of operations and in “Property-
liability insurance — other” in the table titled “Income (Loss) from
Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect
of Accounting Change” in Note 19. 
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During 2001, we reduced the occupancy-related reserve by a net
amount of $7 million. We entered into a lease buyout related to a
portion of the space, and reduced the reserve by $8 million of lease
payments we were no longer obligated to make. This amount was
offset by a $1 million adjustment related to sublease recoveries.

Other Restructuring Charges — Since 1997, we have recorded in
continuing operations three other restructuring charges related to
actions taken to improve our operations. (Also see Note 14 for a
discussion of the charge related to the sale of our standard personal
insurance business, which was included in discontinued operations
in 1999.)

In August 1999, we announced a cost reduction program designed
to enhance our efficiency and effectiveness in a highly competitive
environment. In the third quarter of 1999, we recorded a pretax
charge of $60 million related to this program, including $25 million
in employee-related charges related to the termination of
approximately 590 employees, $33 million in occupancy-related
charges and $2 million in equipment charges. The charge was
included in “Operating and administrative expenses” in the 1999
statement of operations and in “Property-liability insurance —
other” in the table titled “Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations
Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change”
in Note 19. 

Late in the fourth quarter of 1998, we recorded a pretax restructuring
charge of $34 million. The majority of the charge, $26 million, related
to the termination of approximately 500 employees, primarily in our
commercial insurance operations. The remaining charge of $8 million
related to costs to be incurred to exit lease obligations. 

In connection with our merger with USF&G, in the second quarter
of 1998 we recorded a pretax charge to net income of $292 million,
primarily consisting of severance and other employee-related costs
related to the termination of approximately 2,200 positions, facilities
exit costs, asset impairments and transaction costs. 

All actions have been taken and all obligations have been met
regarding these three charges, with the exception of certain
remaining lease commitments. The lease commitment charges
related to excess space created by the cost reduction actions. The
charge was calculated by determining the percentage of anticipated
excess space, by location, and the current lease costs over the
remaining lease period. The amounts payable under the existing
leases were not discounted, and sublease income was included in
the calculation only for those locations where sublease agreements
were in place.

During 2001, we reduced the remaining reserve by $1 million related
to sublease and buyout activity, which reduced our estimated
remaining lease commitments. We expect to be obligated under
certain lease commitments for at least seven years.

The following presents a rollforward of 2001 activity related to these commitments.

Reserve Reserve
Pretax at Dec. 31, 2001 2001 at Dec. 31,

Charge 2000 Payments Adjustments 2001

(In millions)

Lease commitments previously charged to earnings $ 75 $ 43 $ (11) $ (1) $ 31

The following presents a rollforward of 2001 activity related to this charge. 

Reserve Reserve
Pretax at Dec. 31, 2001 2001 at Dec. 31,

Charge 2000 Payments Adjustments 2001

(In millions)

Charges to earnings:

Employee-related $ 4 $ 1 $ (1) $ — $ —

Occupancy-related 24 23 (8) (7) 8

Total $ 28 $ 24 $ (9) $ (7) $ 8
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Reinsurance

The primary purpose of our ceded reinsurance program, including
the aggregate excess-of-loss coverages discussed below, is to
protect us from potential losses in excess of what we are prepared
to accept. We expect the companies to which we have ceded
reinsurance to honor their obligations. In the event these companies
are unable to honor their obligations to us, we will pay these
amounts. We have established allowances for possible nonpayment
of amounts due to us. As described in Note 2, we increased our
provision for uncollectible reinsurance by $47 million after the 2001
terrorist attack. 

We report balances pertaining to reinsurance transactions “gross”
on the balance sheet, meaning that reinsurance recoverables on
unpaid losses and ceded unearned premiums are not deducted from
insurance reserves but are recorded as assets.

The largest concentration of our total reinsurance recoverables and
ceded unearned premiums at Dec. 31, 2001 was with General
Reinsurance Corporation (“Gen Re”). Gen Re (with approximately
22% of our recoverables) is rated “A+ +” by A.M. Best, “Aaa” by
Moody’s and “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s for its financial strength.

During each of the years 2001, 2000 and 1999, we entered into two
aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance treaties. One of these treaties
in each year was corporate-wide, with coverage triggered when our
insurance losses and LAE across all lines of business reached a
certain level, as prescribed by terms of the treaty (the “corporate
program”). Additionally, our Reinsurance segment benefited from
cessions made under a separate treaty in each year unrelated to the
corporate treaty. The combined impact of these treaties (together,
the “reinsurance treaties”) is included in the table that follows.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Corporate program:
Ceded written premiums $ 9 $ 419 $ 211
Ceded losses and loss 

adjustment expenses (25) 709 384
Ceded earned premiums 9 419 211

Net pretax benefit (detriment) (34) 290 173
Reinsurance segment treaty:

Ceded written premiums 119 55 62
Ceded losses and loss 

adjustment expenses 278 122 150
Ceded earned premiums 119 55 62

Net pretax benefit 159 67 88
Combined total:

Ceded written premiums 128 474 273
Ceded losses and loss 

adjustment expenses 253 831 534
Ceded earned premiums 128 474 273

Net pretax benefit $ 125 $ 357 $ 261

Under the 1999 and 2000 corporate treaties, we ceded losses to the
reinsurer when our corporate-wide incurred insurance losses and
LAE exceeded accident year attachment loss ratios specified in the
contract. We paid the ceded earned premiums shortly after the
coverage under the treaties was invoked. We will recover the ceded
losses and LAE from our reinsurer as we settle the related claims,
which may occur over several years. For the separate Reinsurance
segment treaties, for all three years, we remit the premiums ceded
(plus accrued interest) to our counterparty when the related losses
and LAE are settled.

During 2001, we did not cede losses to the corporate treaty. The
$9 million written and earned premiums ceded in 2001 represented
the initial premium paid to our reinsurer. Our primary purpose in
entering into the corporate reinsurance treaty was to reduce the
volatility in our reported earnings over time. Because of the
magnitude of losses associated with the Sept. 11 terrorist attack,
that purpose could not be fulfilled had the treaty been invoked to
its full capacity in 2001. In addition, our actuarial analysis concluded
that there would be little, if any, economic value to us in ceding 
any losses under the treaty. As a result, in early 2002, we mutually
agreed with our reinsurer to commute the 2001 corporate treaty 
for consideration to the reinsurer equaling the $9 million initial
premium paid.

The $25 million change in our estimate of ceded losses and LAE in
2001 in the table above represented an adjustment for losses ceded
under our 2000 corporate treaty. Deterioration in our 2000 accident
year loss experience in 2001 caused our expectations of the payout
patterns of our reinsurer to change and resulted in our conclusion
that losses originally ceded in 2000 would exceed an economic limit
prescribed in the 2000 treaty. 

The effect of assumed and ceded reinsurance on premiums 
written, premiums earned and insurance losses and loss 
adjustment expenses is as follows (including the impact of the
reinsurance treaties).

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

premiums written

Direct $ 7,135 $ 6,219 $ 4,622

Assumed 2,700 2,064 1,645

Ceded (2,072) (2,399) (1,155)

Net premiums written $ 7,763 $ 5,884 $ 5,112

premiums earned

Direct $ 6,656 $ 5,819 $ 4,621

Assumed 2,685 2,019 1,537

Ceded (2,045) (2,246) (1,055)

Total premiums earned $ 7,296 $ 5,592 $ 5,103

insurance losses and 

loss adjustment expenses

Direct $ 6,876 $ 4,068 $ 3,532

Assumed 3,952 1,798 1,124

Ceded (3,349) (1,953) (936)

Total net insurance losses and

loss adjustment expenses $ 7,479 $ 3,913 $ 3,720
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Statutory Accounting Practices

Our underwriting operations are required to file financial statements
with state and foreign regulatory authorities. The accounting
principles used to prepare these statutory financial statements
follow prescribed or permitted accounting principles, which differ
from GAAP. Prescribed statutory accounting practices include state
laws, regulations and general administrative rules issued by the
state of domicile as well as a variety of publications and manuals
of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”).
Permitted statutory accounting practices encompass all accounting
practices not so prescribed, but allowed by the state of domicile.
During 2001, Fire and Marine was granted a permitted practice
regarding the valuation of certain investments in affiliated limited
liability companies, allowing it to value these investments at their
audited GAAP equity. Since these investments were not required to
be valued on a statutory basis, Fire and Marine is not able to
determine the impact on statutory surplus. 

On a statutory accounting basis, our property-liability underwriting
operations reported a net loss of $873 million in 2001, and net
income of $1.2 billion in 2000 and $945 million in 1999. Statutory
surplus (shareholder’s equity) of our property-liability underwriting
operations was $4.5 billion and $6.3 billion as of Dec. 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. 

The NAIC published revised statutory accounting practices in
connection with its codification project, which became effective
Jan. 1, 2001. The cumulative effect to our property-liability insurance
operations of the adoption of these practices was to increase
statutory surplus by $165 million, primarily related to the treatment
of deferred taxes.
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Segment Information

We have seven reportable segments in our insurance operations,
which consist of Specialty Commercial, Commercial Lines Group,
Health Care, Surety and Construction, Lloyd’s and Other,
Reinsurance, and Property-Liability Investment Operations. The
insurance operations are managed separately because each targets
different customers and requires different marketing strategies. We
also have an Asset Management segment, consisting of our majority
ownership in The John Nuveen Company.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting policies. We
evaluate performance based on underwriting results for our
property-liability insurance segments, investment income and
realized gains for our investment operations, and on pretax
operating results for the asset management segment. Property-
liability underwriting assets are reviewed in total by management
for purposes of decision-making. We do not allocate assets to these
specific underwriting segments. Assets are specifically identified
for our asset management segment.

Geographic Areas — The following summary presents financial data
of our continuing operations based on their location.

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

revenues

U.S. $ 7,161 $ 6,792 $ 6,342

Non-U.S. 1,782 1,180 807

Total revenues $ 8,943 $ 7,972 $ 7,149

Segment Information — In the fourth quarter of 2001, we
implemented a new segment reporting structure for our property-
liability insurance business following the completion of a strategic
review of all of our businesses (see Note 3). At the same time, we
further defined what we consider to be “specialty” business. We
determined that for a business center to be considered a specialty,
it must possess dedicated underwriting, claims and risk control
services that require specialized expertise and focus exclusively on
the customers served by that business center. 

Under our new segment structure, our Specialty Commercial
segment includes Financial & Professional Services, Technology,
Public Sector Services, Umbrella/Excess & Surplus Lines, Ocean
Marine, Discover Re, National Programs, Oil & Gas, Transportation,
and Catastrophe Risk, as well as our International Specialties. We
have aggregated these business centers because they meet our
specialty definition, as well as the aggregation criteria for external
segment reporting.

Our Commercial Lines Group segment includes Small Commercial,
Middle Market Commercial and Large Accounts, which have common
underwriting, claim and risk control functions. Commercial Lines
Group also includes our participation in voluntary and involuntary
pools, referred to as Pools and Other. 

Our Surety and Construction operations, under common leadership,
have been combined into one reporting segment due to the
significance of their shared customer base. Due to its size and
specialized nature, our Health Care business will continue to be
reported as a separate segment, although we are exiting that
business (see Note 3). Our Lloyd’s and Other segment includes our
operations at Lloyd’s, our participation in the insuring of Lloyd’s
Central Fund, and Unionamerica, MMI’s international subsidiary.
Although we ceased new business activity at Unionamerica late in
2000, we are contractually obligated to continue underwriting
business in certain Unionamerica syndicates at Lloyd’s through
2004. The foregoing segments are all included in our Primary
Insurance Operations. Our Reinsurance segment includes all
reinsurance business written by our reinsurance subsidiary, out of
New York and London. All periods presented have been revised to
reflect these reclassifications. 

In 2001, we sold our life insurance operations; in 2000, we sold our
nonstandard auto business; and in 1999, we sold our standard
personal insurance business. These operations have been accounted
for as discontinued operations for all periods presented and are not
included in our segment data. 
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The summary below presents revenues and pretax income from continuing operations for our reportable segments. The revenues of our
asset management segment include investment income and realized investment gains. The table also presents identifiable assets for our
property-liability underwriting operation in total, and our asset management segment. 

Year ended December 31 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

revenues from continuing operations

Underwriting:
Specialty Commercial $ 1,924 $ 1,338 $ 1,274
Commercial Lines Group 1,470 1,368 1,363
Surety and Construction 940 791 789
Health Care 791 624 645
Lloyd’s and Other 574 347 154

Total primary insurance operations 5,699 4,468 4,225
Reinsurance 1,597 1,124 878

Total underwriting 7,296 5,592 5,103
Investment operations:

Net investment income 1,199 1,247 1,256
Realized investment gains (losses) (126) 624 274

Total investment operations 1,073 1,871 1,530
Other 143 95 130

Total property-liability insurance 8,512 7,558 6,763
Asset management 378 376 353

Total reportable segments 8,890 7,934 7,116
Parent company, other operations and consolidating eliminations 53 38 33

Total revenues from continuing operations $ 8,943 $ 7,972 $ 7,149

income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 

and cumulative effect of accounting change

Underwriting:
Specialty Commercial $ (181) $ (10) $ (191)
Commercial Lines Group 4 74 (189)
Surety and Construction (33) 68 (27)
Health Care (985) (241) (70)
Lloyd’s and Other (374) (86) (23)

Total primary insurance operations (1,569) (195) (500)
Reinsurance (725) (114) 75

Total underwriting (2,294) (309) (425)
Investment operations:

Net investment income 1,199 1,247 1,256
Realized investment gains (losses) (126) 624 274

Total investment operations 1,073 1,871 1,530

Other (179) (95) (134)

Total property-liability insurance (1,400) 1,467 971
Asset management 142 135 123

Total reportable segments (1,258) 1,602 1,094
Parent company, other operations and consolidating eliminations (173) (201) (143)

Total income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 
and cumulative effect of accounting change $ (1,431) $ 1,401 $ 951
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December 31 2001 2000

(In millions)

identifiable assets

Property-liability insurance $36,490 $33,708

Asset management 855 650

Total reportable segments 37,345 34,358

Parent company, other operations, 

consolidating eliminations

and discontinued operations 976 1,144

Total assets $38,321 $35,502

Note 16, “Restructuring and Other Charges,” describes charges we
recorded during 2001, 2000 and 1999 and where they are included
in the foregoing tables. 
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Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income is defined as any change in our equity
from transactions and other events originating from non-owner
sources. In our case, those changes are comprised of our reported
net income, changes in unrealized appreciation and changes in
unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments. The following
summaries present the components of our other comprehensive
income, other than net income, for the last three years.

Income Tax
Year ended December 31, 2001 Pretax Effect After-Tax

(In millions)

Unrealized depreciation arising 
during period $ (652) $ (248) $ (404)

Less: reclassification adjustment for 
realized losses included in net loss (124) (43) (81)

Net change in unrealized appreciation
on investments (528) (205) (323)

Net change in unrealized loss 
on foreign currency translation (12) (4) (8)

Net change in unrealized loss 
on derivatives (2) — (2)

Total other comprehensive loss $ (542) $ (209) $ (333)

Income Tax
Year ended December 31, 2000 Pretax Effect After-Tax

(In millions)

Unrealized appreciation arising 

during period $ 902 $ 318 $ 584

Less: reclassification adjustment for 

realized gains included in net income 595 208 387

Net change in unrealized appreciation

on investments 307 110 197

Net change in unrealized loss 

on foreign currency translation (41) 1 (42)

Total other comprehensive income $ 266 $ 111 $ 155

Income Tax
Year ended December 31, 1999 Pretax Effect After-Tax

(In millions)

Unrealized depreciation arising 

during period $ (457) $ (159) $ (298)

Less: reclassification adjustment for 

realized gains included in net income 248 87 161

Net change in unrealized appreciation

on investments (705) (246) (459)

Net change in unrealized loss 

on foreign currency translation (10) 2 (12)

Total other comprehensive loss $ (715) $ (244) $ (471)
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited) 

The following is an unaudited summary of our quarterly results for the last two years.

First Second Third Fourth
2001 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In millions, except per share data)

Revenues $ 2,162 $ 2,163 $ 2,230 $ 2,388
Income (loss) from continuing operations 209 96 (595) (719)
Discontinued operations (7) 8 (64) (16)
Net income (loss) 202 104 (659) (735)
Earnings per common share:

Basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations 0.95 0.43 (2.86) (3.49)
Discontinued operations (0.04) 0.04 (0.30) (0.08)

Net income (loss) 0.91 0.47 (3.16) (3.57)
Diluted:

Income (loss) from continuing operations 0.90 0.41 (2.86) (3.49)
Discontinued operations (0.03) 0.04 (0.30) (0.08)

Net income (loss) 0.87 0.45 (3.16) (3.57)

First Second Third Fourth
2000 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In millions, except per share data)

Revenues $ 2,143 $ 1,967 $ 1,861 $ 2,001
Income from continuing operations 349 217 219 185
Discontinued operations 9 (5) 12 7
Net income 358 212 231 192
Earnings per common share:

Basic:
Income from continuing operations 1.56 1.00 0.98 0.83
Discontinued operations 0.04 (0.02) 0.06 0.04

Net income 1.60 0.98 1.04 0.87
Diluted:

Income from continuing operations 1.47 0.94 0.93 0.80
Discontinued operations 0.04 (0.02) 0.05 0.03

Net income 1.51 0.92 0.98 0.83

Included in our fourth-quarter 2001 pretax results were $750 million in provisions to strengthen loss reserves, a $73 million goodwill
writedown (see Note 3), and a $62 million restructuring charge (see Note 16). The reserve strengthening included $600 million related to
our Health Care segment (see Note 9 for a discussion of Health Care reserves), $75 million related to the Sept. 11 terrorist attack (included
in the $941 million total pretax loss discussed in Note 2) and $75 million related to other lines of business. The fourth quarter also included
the impact of eliminating the one-quarter reporting lag for certain of our primary insurance operations in foreign countries, which resulted
in a $31 million increase to our pretax loss from continuing operations. Also impacting the quarter were $71 million of tax benefits we were
not able to recognize related to underwriting losses in international operations. 
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